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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The District Court had jurisdiction of the case that is docketed as pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1331, The District Court had supplemental jurisdiction of the Defendants/Appellants’ State Law
claim(s} pursvant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367,

The United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit has jurisdiction over this
appeal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1291, and in accordance with Fed. R. App. P. 3 and Fed. R. App.
P. 4, because this case involves an appeal from a final judgment issued by the Milwaukee
Wisconsin Trial Court Judge J.P. Stadmueller entered his judgment in this case on July 2, 2020,

The July 2, 2020 Order and Judgment in a Civil Case disposed of all parties’ claims and
constitute a final judgment. Judge I.P. Stadmueller dismissed the Plaintiff/Appeliants’ Second
Corrected Amended Complaint (Appendix 6) with prejudice.

The United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit has jurisdiction over this
appeal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1291, and in accordance with Fed. R. App. P. 3 and Fed. R. App.
P. 4, because this case involves an appeal from a final judgment issued by the district court Judge
J.P Stadmueller,

Plaintiffs’ Complaint organizes six classes of Defendants; Wisconsin State Defendants,
Walworth Defendants, Como Defendants, Como Property Owners, Douglas Defendants, and
Lawvers, Assignees, agents, John Doe | through 10.

PARTIES
Plaintiffs
I. Leo Stoller

2. Michael Stoller
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Defendants

3. Walworth County Defendants: Valerie Etzel, Randy Timms, Williama Norem, Tim
Brelienthin, Paul Yvarra, Charlene Staples, Kathy Ingersoll, David Weber, Daniel Kilkenny,
Susan Pruessing, Kenneth Monroe, and Nancy Russell.

4, Lake Como Wisconsin Defendants: Sanitary District, Gary Duffy, Ron SOjka,
Joe Roberts and Rich Scholze.

5. Donald Crowley, Diana Crowley.

6. Delevvan Lake Assembly Defendanis: Michael Connolly, Steven Schamidt,
Henry Rackiewicz and Bill Winters.

7. State of Wisconsin Defendants: State of Wisconsin and Anthony Steven Evers.

8. Lawyers, Assighees, agents, John Doe 1 through 10.

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs’ claim against the State of Wisconsin is that the law the county followed to sell
the subject properties, Wis. Stat. §75.69, is unconstitutionally vague, arbitrary and capricious .
Section 75.69(1) provides except as provided in sub. (1m): no tax delinquent real estate acquired
by a county may be sold unless the sale and appraised value of such real estate has first been
advertised by publication of a Class Three Notice, under Ch. 985; any county may accept the bid
most advantageous to it but, at the first attempt to sell the property, every bid less than the
appraised value of the property shall be rejected; any county is authorized to sell for any amount
any land previously advertised for sale after advertising the sale of such land by publication of a
Class One Notice, under Ch. 985; except that no property may be sold for an amount that is less

than the property's appraised value unless the county board or a committee designated by the
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county board has reviewed and approved such a sale and no property may be sold for an amount
that is less than the amount of the highest bid unless the county board or a committee designated
by the county board prepares a written statement, available for public inspection, that explains
the reasons for accepting a bid that is less than the highest bid. In this subsection, “appraised
value”" means the value determined, at the discretion of the county board, by the county board, a
committee designated by the county board, or a certified appraiser, as defined in s. 458.01 (7).
Wis. Stat. § 75.69(1) (emphasis added).

In interpreting the language of a statute, this court must examine the language and design
of the statute as a whole; Wells Forgo Bank, New'l Ass'n v. Lake of Torches Econ. Dev. Corp., 658
F.3d 684, 694 (7th Cir.2011) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Appellants can
assert a cognizable fundamental right has been violated by the Wisconsin statuie. The pertinent
inquiry is the Ch. 75, Stats., appears to make no provision whatsoever for distribution of a
surplus upon sale of the land, it does not direct payment of any surplus remaining after the
paymeﬁt of the taxes as such it does not bear a reasonable relation to any proper legislative
purpose. It is not rationally related to a legitimate government end.

Since the Statute Ch. 75 Stats was first issued in 1983 property values in Wisconsin have
more than doubled since the statute was first issued. With the huge appreciation of property
values in Wisconsin over the last thirty-eight years the incentive for Wisconsin counties to seize
property for back taxes in order to sell tax foreclosed properties for market value has escalated.
It is true that where "a statute [is] predicated upon the existence of a particular state of 1983
economic facts" (as the instant statute was) Appellants is challenging it by showing to the court

that those facts have ceased to exist; United States v Carolene Products Co., 304 U.S, 144, 153-
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54, 58 S.Ct, 7I78, 82 L.Ed. 1234 (1938).

There can be no dispuie that this evidence undermines some of the assumptions on which
the Ch. 75 Stats originally was based. Today, there is no question that Ch. 75 Stats has become
unconstitutional because it provides no regulatory mechanism for county to conform to any
standards ih making true and accurate appraisals of tax delinquent properties upon which they
are sold.

The pertinent inquiry is whether the statute in question Ch. 75, Stats “bears a reasonable
relation to any proper legislative purpose.” Id at 555-56. It is not the task of this court to discern
the specific intent of the Wisconsin legislature, but to determine if any proper legislative purpose
is served by Wisconsin's law. There is none.

The record shows that Wisconsin law violates the Plaintiff-Appellants' right to equal
protection. Congress specifically did reserve to the states the power to write and enforce laws of
this nature, which incentivize counties to seize property from their citizens under the guise of
delinquent real estate taxes in order to sell those same properties at market values over a hundred
times higher than the back taxes due on the subject properties. It is this court province to wrest
this authority, from the state of Wisconsin and to declare this statute unconstifutional.

The crux of the Plaintiffs’ claims is that Walworth County Appraisals of Properties per
Wis. Stat, §75.69 is unconsiitutional and it, prevented the Plaintiffs’ from obtaining three
properties upon: which they bid. Plaintiffs’ claims center on the claim that Wis. Stat. §75.69 is
unconstitutionally vague under the Due Process and Takings Clauses of the Constitution, based
on the manner in which the Wisconsin counties are allowed to proceed in foreclosing the tax

lien(s) pursuant to Wis. Stat. 75.69 and creating “sham” appraisals and selling the properties at
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highly inflated prices over the tax liability and in order to retain the entire amount of the sale.

Plaintiffs allege that the appraised values were false and fraudulent, designed to increase
the value of Defendants Walworth County sale of tax delinquent properties. See AC ¥ 51 at 23.
Plaintiffs allege that the Walworth County Defendants associated together to produce the
fraudulent appraisals. See AC § 24 at 22, Wis. Stat. §75.69, is unconstitutional. Section 75.69(1)
provides that Wisconsin counties the incentive to create inflated appraisals of tax delinquent
properties in order to sell those properties at ten to bundred times the tax liability, in order to be
unjustly enriched by retaining the sale proceeds over and above the tax liability.

When a Wisconsin county sells land under Section 75.69(1) for a sum greater than the
amount of the liens and retains such excess, it is obvious that the Wisconsin county benefits
thereby, and it is probable that the Wisconsin county is fully aware of the unconstitutional benefit
thus conferred upon it under Section 75.69.1. It can be said that the Wisconsin county's retention
of such benefits is unconstitutional and inequitable and thus, one of the elements for a successful
action in unjust enrichment is present in the case at bar Ch. 75, Stats is unconstitutionally vague’.

Wisconsin has a history of enacting unconstitutionally vague laws®. Ch. 75, Stats appears
to make no provision whatsoever for distribution of a surplus upon sale of land as to which a
Wisconsin county had obtained a tax deed. Sec. 75.36(8) provides for the proration of the

proceeds of sale "between the remaining non-outiawed municipally owned faxes outstanding on

2 Vague laws offend the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process Clause in two ways. Grayned v City of Rockford,
408 U.S8. 104 (1972). First, they fail to provide people targeted by the law with a “reascnable opportumity to know
what is prohibited, so that {they] may act accordingly.” Id. at 108. Second, by failing to provide explicit standards,
vague faws “impermissibly delegate hasic policy matters to policemen, judges and juries for resolution on an ad hec
and subjective basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.” Id. at 108-09. “[TThe
most impottant factor affecting the clarity that the Constitution demands of a law is whether it threatens to inhibit
the exercise of constitutionally protected rights,” Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffiman Estates, Inc., 455
U.S. 489, 499 (1982). If it does, ““a more stringent vagueness test should apply.” id.

> Wisconsin v. Jonas Yoder, 406 U.S, 205

10
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the date the tax deed was taken,” but 1t dees not direct payment of any surplus remaining after
the payvment of the taxes. Ch. 75, Stats allow an uvnconstituiional taking without just
compensation, in viclation of Article 1, Section 13, of the Wisconsin Constitution.

The proper remedy would be to strike down Wis, Stat. §75.69, 1s unconstitutionally
vague. There are no constitutional standards under Wis. Stat. §75.69, by which Wisconsin
counties are required to appraise tax-delinquent properties per the uniform standards of
Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP).

The Plaintiffs assert that the sale by a Wisconsin county of tax-delinquent real estate is
governed by Wis. Stat. §75.69, is unconstifutionally vague, arbitrary and capricious, because it
does not require that Wisconsin counties follow and acceptable appraisals nor the standards of
the USPAP and makes no provision for it directing payment of any surplus remaining after the
paymernt of the taxes.

The proper remedy would be to strike down Wis. Stat. §75.69, is unconstitutionally
vague.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE*

Plaintiffs, Michael and Christopher Stoller, first filed a pro se Complaint on October 2,
2017, alleging that the Defendants Walworth County and various public officials in that county,
engaged in a “devious scheme” to “unlawfully sell tax delinquent real estate” for a profit.

Specifically, the Plaintiffs alleged that Walworth County and the named county officials
engaged 1n a practice whereby they sold tax-delinquent property based on “sham” appraisals, as

opposed to “legitimate” appraisals that meet the standards of the Uniform Standards of

' Quoting from the Trial Court’s May 23, 2018 Order ; (Doc 16} Appendix 3)

i1
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Professional Appraisal Practice, in order to “recover inflated market values, in direct competition
with private real estate sellers.” Id at 4. Far exceeding the tax delinquency, for which the
properties were seized. The Plaintiffs’ were damaged by the conduct of the Defendants.

The Plaintiffs in their first Complaint {Doci sought to bring several claims: (1) Violation
of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-1968 (“RICO”),
(2) Conspiracy to violate RICO; (3) Unfair Competition; (4) Unjust Enrichment; (5) Committing
a Violation Against Elderly and Disabled Persons in violation of Wis. Stat. § 100.264; (6)
Making Fraudulent Representations in Violation of Wis. Stat. § 100.18; (7) Breach of Fiduciary
Duty; and (8) Conspiracy, Aiding and Abetting.” /d. at 19-39. In the first complaint (Doc 1) Oct
17,2017

The Milwaukee Wisconsin District Court Judge Stadmueller, without every conducting
any in person hearing, issued erroneously an Order(s) on March 30, 2018 (Doc 7), incorrectly
dismissing this action (Appendix 2). The Plaintiffs filed their first appeal (Doc 9).

Judge Stadmueller, without every conducting any in person hearing, issued a second
erroneous Order on May 23, 2018 (Doc 16} Appendix 3) which incorrectly certified that
Plaintiff’s Appeal (Doc¢ 9) was not taken in good faith denying the Pro Se Plaintiff his request to
proceed without paying the filing fee (Appendix 3).

Justices Michael S. Kanne, Amy C. Barrett and Michael B, Brennan of the Seventh
Circuit Court of Appeals issued an Order on May 30, 2019 (Doc 17} Appendix 4), vacating the
judgmcnts and remanding with instructions to allow Stoller to file an Amended Complaint (Doc

36 {Appendix 3).

5 This court found Milwaukee Wisconsin District Court Judge Stadmueller was wrong on dismissing the plaintiff’s
case the first time (Doc 7). This court’s order filed 6-21-19 (Doc 17), which now, U.S. Supreme Court Justice, Amy

12
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On November 12, 2019, Plaintiffs Christopher Stoller, Michael Stoller filed an Amended
Complaint (Doc 36){Appendix 5) Leo Stoller who has a property interest in the Stoller home,
was added as a necessary party plaintiff as a necessary party, filed a corrected Second Amended
(Dac 36). Complaint (Appendix 5) which was accepted by all parties, as the operative Amended
Complaint,

The Plaintiffs Amended Complaint {Doc 36), which also named Leo Stoller, as a new
necessary party Plaintiff, in their first Amended Complaint (Doc 36)(Appendix 5) sought to bring
several news claims, against six groups of Defendants, in the Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint
(Doc 36). Defendant(s) Douglass Lake Assembly, Walworth County Defendants®, the Crowley’s
(Donald J. Crowley and Diana S. Crowley, Lake Como Wisconsin Sanitary District, The State of
Wisconsin and the Governor Steven Evers and Lawyers, Assignees, agents, John Doe 1 through
10.

CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES TO BE DISPOSITIVE

C. Barrett, participated, is instructive as to why Judge Stadmueller was wrong when he first
dismissing the plaintiff’s case (Doc 7) the first time, and why Milwaukee Wisconsin District
Court Judge Stadmueller continues to be wrong, and has clearly again abused his discretion in
dismissing the plaintiff’s case a second time (Doc 143) (Appendix 1) , without every conducting
any in person hearing and without giving the Plaintiff an opportunity to file its responses to the
Defendant’s Motions to Dismiss, because the Plaintiff had alleged that the Opposing counsel’s
had clear conflicts of interest and were unqualified to represent their defendants issued eironeous
Order(s) on March 30, 2018 (Doc 7), erroneously dismissing this action (Appendix 2) the first
fime..

% The Walworth County Defendants include Walworth County, Valerie Etzel ("Etzel"), Randy
Timms, William Norem, Tim Brellenthin, Paul Yvarra, Charlene Staples, Kathy Ingersoli, David
Weber, Daniel Kilkenny, Susan Pruessing, Kenneth Monroe, and Nancy Russell. Etzel is the
Treasurer of Walworth County and she held that position during the time period relevant to this
case. The other individuals were members of the Walworth County Board of Supervisors (the
"Board of Supervisors™) in 2017. At that time, Nancy Russell, Daniel Kilkenny, Kathy Ingersoll,
Paul Yvarra, and William Norem were also a part of the Walworth County Finance Commitice
{the "Finance Comumittee").

i3
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Whether the Stollers are entitled to relief under the Due Process and Takings Clauses of
the Constitution based on the unconstitutional Wis. Stat. §75.69, which permits the Walworth
Coun’{j to have proceeded in foreclosing the tax lien and selling the three properties upon which
the Stollers’ bid’.

Whether it is unconstitutional under the Due Process and Takings Clauses of the
Constitution to deprive a land owner to the amount by which the fair market value of a tract on
the date of the foreclosure decree exceeds the tax liabilities then reflected in the tax title account
or to the amount by which the proceeds of the sale after foreclosure exceed the aggregate of such
liabilities and a sum in lieu of what the intervening taxes would have been.

Whether the Wisconsin land owners are entitled to relief under the Due Process and
Takings Clauses of the Constitution based on the manner in which the Wisconsin counties
proceed in foreclosing the tax lien and selling the property under Wis. Stat. §75.69 .

Whether the Wis. Stat. §75.69 is unconstitutional vague because it does not prove for
standards by which Wisconsin counties are required to appraise tax-delinquent properties.

Whether the court should strike down Wis. Stat. §75.69 as unconstitutional vague.

Whether the court should strike down Wis. Stat, §75.69 as unconstitutional under the Due
Process and Takings Clauses of the Constitution

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
Whether is constitutional for all counties in Wisconsin to lawfully seize property from its

residents for back taxes, pursuant to Wisconsin State Law (Chapter 9475.69, Land Sold for

? The doctrine is used to determine cansation and assess damages in cases where the claimant has lost the
opporfunity to pursue a course of action, which they contend would have been pursued and had a “chance” of
achieving some (usuatly monetary) benefit. But for the over appraisals of the three properties that the Plaintif bid on
the Plaintiff would have been able to acquire the three properties that they bid on.

14
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Taxes®), mandate that all properties seized by the state, must be sold for (inflated) market values,
which are determined by “manipulated or inflated appraisals”, created by the Counties of the
State of Wisconsin, without regard to their accuracy pursuant to Wis. Statute 75.69.

Whether it is constitutional for the Wisconsin counties, according to policies and
procedures developed and established by their State Legisiators, Directors, Supervisors,
executives, to systematically and uniformly produce under the color of law, false “appraisals” of
properties, in connection with their sale of tax delinquent properties, pursuant to Wisconsin State
Statute Chapter 75.69, Land Sold for Taxes.

Whether is constitutional for all counties in Wisconsin, to systematically and uniformly
produce, under the color of law, phony, manipulated or inflated “appraisals” of properties, which
were performed with indifference towards the appraisals’ accuracy, current market value, in
connection with the advertising and sale of it tax delinquent properties, at inflated market values
were it is lawful, by the Wisconsin Statute Chapter §75.69, Land Sold for Taxes.

Whether the Wisconsin District Court Judge Stadmueller abused his discretion by
dismissing the complaint and not giving new Plaintiff Leo Stoller the right to amend the
complaint for the first time.

Whether the Wisconsin District Court Judge Stadmueller abused his discretion by
dismissing Defendants’ State of Wisconsin and the Governor of Wisconsin for faiture to propetly

serve without giving the Plaintiff at least one opportunity to cure the defect in the service.

*Plaintiffs argue that the Wisc. Statue Chapter §75.69, Land Sold for Taxes is an

unauthorized use of the police power and a violation of due process.
15
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Whether Wisconsin District Court Judge Stadmueller abused his discretion by dismissing
the Plaintiff’s case (Doc 143)without giving the Plaintiff’s the opportunity to respond to the
Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss.

Whether Wisconsin District Court Judge Stadmueller abused his discretion without
hearing Plaintiffs Motion(s) to disqualify opposing attorneys.

Whether Wisconsin District Court Judge Stadmueller abused his discretion by summarily
denying the following Motions of the Plaintiff without giving the Plaintiff a fair hearing and
impartial hearing,

Whether Wisconsin District Court Judge Stadmueller abused his discretion by summarily
denying the sufficiency of Defendants’ responses.

Whether Wisconsin District Court Judge Stadmueller abused his discretion by dismissing
the case with prejudice with giving Leo Stoller, a new Plaintiff the right to amend the complaint.

Whether defense atforneys, practicing before the court, who are engaged, while
representing their clients in serious professional misconduct, fraud on the court, criminal
contempt, obstruction of justice, should avoid prosecution, if the defense lawyers are
successful, in getting the judge to dismiss all the claims against their clients,

BRIEF SUMMARY OF FACTUAL BACKGROUND AS
ALLEGED BY PLAINTIFFS AS TO THE OTHER COUNTS

The Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint {Doc 36)(Appendix 5) also alleges the following
facts, in 2017, Plaintiffs Christopher, Leo, and Michael Stoller built a home on the property
located at W3786 Woodland Dr. Lake Geneva, Wisconsin. Ray Seitz, District Manager for the
Lake Como Sanitary District (“LCS™), told Plaintiffs LCS would bring the sewer and water for
the Plaintiffs’ residence up to the property line. See AC § 127 at 47. Plaintiffs allege that LCS has

16
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refused to bring the sewer and water line up to the property line. See AC § 131at 47. On August
4, 2017, Plainiiffs received a letter from the Walworth County Treasurer. See AC 4 43 at 21. The
letter informed Plaintiffs that Walworth County took possession of another property that borders
Plaintiffs and “may be of interest” to them. Said property allegedly had delinquent real estate
taxes for about $2,700 but was listed for a price of $11,400. See AC § 45 at 21. At the invitation
of Walworth County Defendants, Plaintiffs made a bid for the property for $2500. See AC § 46 at
22. Walwarth County Defendants tejected Plaintiffs bid because it was below the $11,400
appraised value. See AC §47 at 22.

Plaintiffs’ Complaint (Doc 36)(Appendix 5) alleges that Defendants corrupted the
appraisal process intending to sell the property in excess of the property taxes owed. See AC §
147 at 22. Plaintiffs allege that the appraised values were false and fraudulent, designed to
market Defendants sale of tax delinquent properties hat highly inflated prices. See AC § 51 at 23,
Plaintiffs allege that the Walworth County Defendants conspired together to produce the
fraudulent appraisals. See AC ¥ 24 at 22,

DECISION APPEALED

On July 2, 2020 (Doc 143)(Appendix 1), the Milwaukee Wisconsin District Court Judge
I.P. Stadmueller granted (Appendix 1) the Douglass Lake Assembly Defendants’ 12(b)(b)
Motion to Dismiss, granted Defendants Donald J. Crowley and Diana S. Crowley’s 12(b)(b)
Motion to Dismiss and granted, Lake Como Wisconsin Sanitary District Defendants’ 12(b)(6)
Motion to Dismiss without affording the Plaintiff the opportunity to respond. Plaintiff had three

pending Motions to Disqualify the Opposing Attorneys.”

"4 6 Page 27 of 29 the court issued an erroneous Order “Because the court dismissed all of the Plaintiffs’ claims
against all defendants in this case, the Court will summarily deny the following motions by Plaintiffs as moot:
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Milwaukee’s District Court Judge Stadmueller dismissed sua sponte. The State of
Wisconsin and Governor Steven Evers, at Page 16 of 29 (Doc 144)(Appendix 1) asserting that
he was not served properly. Judge Stadmueller committed error by dismissing the State of
Wisconsin and the Governor Steven Evers' by not first allowing the pro se Plaintiffs a
reasonable time to cure its failure to serve under FRCP Rule 4, Summens and Motion to Dismiss
Plaintiff’s Amended Complaini under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b) (6), and entered
judgment for all Defendant(s}(Doc 44) (Appendix 1).

On July 07, 2020, Plaintiffs Leo Stoller and Michael Stoller filed their timely Notice of
Appeal (Doc 146) (Appendix 1). This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291 because
this is an appeal from a final decision of the district court that disposed of all claims in the
district court. No motion for a new trial or alteration of the judgment or any other motion that
would have tolled the time to appeal was filed. This is not an appeal from a decision of a
magistrate judge.

STANDARD OF REVIEW IS DE NOVA

On July 2, 2020 (Doc 143} Appendix 1), the District Court granted Defendants’ Motion(s)

to Dismiss the Complaint under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b}(6), and entered a

corresponding judgment (Doc 144)(Appendix 1).

Docket 88, 90, 92, 94, 95, 96, 104, 111, 113, 130, 131, & 136 which contained serious
allegations of misconduct against the Opposing counsel which the Plaintiff was entitled to have
rulings on despite the fact that the court erroneously dismissed all of the Plaintiffs’ claims against
all defendant” which on its face would not o extinguish the guilt incurred by the Opposing
counsel(s) from their well-documented claims of ongoing fraud, “conflicis of interest” and
Porofessional misconduct.
See Order dated July 02, 2020 (Appendix 1) Page 16 of 29.
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Rule 12(b)6) permits a District Court to dismiss a complaint for failure to state a claim
on which relief can be granted. To survive a Rule 12{b)}(6) Motion, the complaint must (1)
describe the claim in sufficient detail to give the defendant fair notice of the claim and grounds
on which it rests, and (2) plausibly suggest that the plaintiff has a right to relief, raising that
possibility above the speculative level;, Equal Emplymt. Oppor. Comm'n v. Concentra Health
Sves., Inc., 496 F.3d 773, 776 (7th Cir. 2007) (citing Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S.
544, 555 {2007)).

A claim has factual plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the
court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.
Asheroft v. Igbal, 556 1U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

A District Court must accept as true all well-pleaded facts in the Plaintiff's Complaint
and draw all reasonable inferences for the Plaintiff; Tamayo v. Blagojevich, 526 ¥.3d 1074, 1081
(7th Cir. 2008). This Court reviews de novo of the District Court granting of a Rule 12(b)(6)
Motion(s) to Dismiss. fd

This court reviews the District Court’s dismissal of this case under 28 U.S.C. §
1915(e)(2)(B)(ii) under the same standards the court applies to Federal Rule of Case, 18-1770
Document: 00713439672 Filed: 06/21/2019, Pages: 4 (2 of 7) Case 2:17-cv-01349-JPS Filed
06/21/19 Page 2 of 7 Document 17 No. 18-1770 Page 3 Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) dismissals—de
novo review. Luevano v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 722 F.3d 1014, 1027 (7th Cir. 2013},

SECOND CORRECTED AMENDED COMPLAINT (DOC 36)
Plaintiffs Christopher, Leo and Michael Stoller in their Amended Complaint (Doc

36( Appendix 5) sought to bring several claims; see Page 2 and 3, reproduced from the Amended
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Complaint (Doc 35(Appendix §) below:

This is an aciion to declare the Wisconsin Statute Chapter 75, land sold for taxes,
Paragraph 75, sales of tax delinquent real estate UNCONSTITUTIONAL for it violates the First
Amendment, Fifth Amendment the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and
Article I, Section 2 of the Constitution of the United States.

1. This action is brought against the Defendants for declaratory and injunctive relief
to declare the Wisconsin Statute Chapter 75 Land sold for Taxes Paragraph 75.69 Sales of tax
delinquent real estate unconstitutional violate the First Amendment, Fifth Amendment the Equal
Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment , and Article I, Section 2 of the Constitution of
the United States. This action is brought against the Defendants for declaratory and injunctive
relief and damages from racketeering, conspiracy to engage in a pattern of racketeering activity
and related claims, violation of the U.8. Constitution, conspiracy, aiding and abetting, infliction
of emotional distress, fraud, willful and wanton misconduct, negligence, retaliation, deceptive
trade practices, abuse of process, negligent hiring and supervision, frandulent
misrepresentation/concealment, torturous interference with Plaintiffs’ contractual rights,
conversion, and participation in a RICO Act Statute enterprise through a pattern of racketeering
activity.

2. Plaintiffs seeks declarations that: 1) the Wisconsin Statute, Chapter 75, land sold
for taxes Paragraph 75.69 sales of tax delinquent real estate is arbitrary, capricious, unreasonable,
and bore no reasonable relation to the public health, safety, morals, or welfare; 2) the Wisconsin

Statute, Chapter 75, land sold for taxes Paragraph 75.69 Sales of tax delinguent real estate’' is

YA copy the Wisconsin Statute Chapter 75 Land sold for Taxes Paragraph 75.69 Sales of tax delinquent real estate
is attached to the complaint and incorporated herein by reference (Exhibit D)
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illegal, unconstitutional, void, vague'? and in violation of the due process'® and equal protection
clauses of the Wisconsin and United States Constitutions,

3. Plaintiffs themselves within the class as to whom the Wisconsin Statute, Chapter
75 land sold for taxes Paragraph 75.69 is unconstitutional. The vagueness pervade the Wisconsin
Statute, Chapter 75, Land sold for Taxes Paragraph 75.69 Sales of tax delinquent real estate to
make the entire ordinance invalid.

4, Plaintiffs assert that the Wisconsin Statute, Chapter 75, land sold for taxes
Paragraph 75.69, sales of tax delinquent real estate ordinance is an unauthorized delegation of
legislative authority to the executive branch because: (1) the Wisconsin Statute Chapter 75, land
sold for taxes Paragraph 75.69 Sales of tax delinquent real estate gives to Wisconsin County
officials the authority to determine on a case-by-case basis what to sell delinquent real estate
without any standard; (2) County officials are to conduct unregulated appraisals of tax delinquent
real estate and to sell the said properties for market values, established by the county officials
after seizing the tax delinquent properties from their owners for as litile as $100. 413, 196 NLE.
485 (opinion/3416542/vallat-v-radium-dial-co/), which held that if a statute leaves it to a

ministerial officer to define the thing to which the statute was to be applied and if the definition

2 A criminal statute is unconstitutionally vague if it fails to give adequate notice as to what
conduct it prohibits or if ifs terms are so ill-defined that the ultimate decision as to its meaning
rests on the opinions and whims of the trier of fact rather than on any objective criteria.
> Due process is denied if people of ordinary intelligence must necessarily guess at an act's
meaning and if they differ as to its application.
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was not commonly known, the statute is invalid because it creates an unwarranted and void
delegation of legislative power'*at Page 2 and 3 (Doc 5)(Appendix 5).

5. Plaintiffs’ claims are violations of the racketeering influenced and corrupt
organization act as to the Walworth County Defendants. Violation of racketeering influenced and
corrupt organizations act, Conspiracy to violate Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(c) as
to Walworth County Defendants. Violation of unfair competition law as to the Walworth County
Defendants. Unjust enrichment as to the Walworth County Defendants. Violations against
elderly or disabled persons as to Walworth County Defendants. Wis. 100.18(1) It generally
provides that no person or entity intending to sell, distribute, increase the consumption of, or in
any way~ dispose of any real estate, merchandise, securities, employment, or service or intending
to induce the public to enter into any contract relating thereto, may make any untrue, deceptive,
or misleading advertisements, announcements, statements, or representations in conjunction with
such transaction as to Walworth County Defendants. Breach of fiduciary duties as to Walworth
County Defendants. Conspiracy'’, aiding and abetting'® as to Walworth County Defendants.
Ninth claim for relief is to declare the Wisconsin Statute, Chapter 75 land sold for taxes
Paragraph 75.69 Sales of tax delinquent real estate unconstitutional as to the State of Wisconsin

Defendants. Specific performance as only to the Como Defendants and quiet title claim.

' Plaintiffs can attack provision as an invalid delegation of authority because they were directly
aggrieved by it and because they are within the class as to whom the law was allegedly
unconstitutional
* In Wisconsin civil conspiracy has been defined as a combination of two or more persons by some concerted action
to accomplish some unfawfu}l purpose or to accomplish by unfawful means some purpose not in itself unlawful.
Mendelson v. Blaiz Brewing Co. (19603, © Wis, 2d 487, 490, 101 N.W.2d 8035 "For two or more persons to conspire
to do an act to the injury of another which one persen acting alone might lawfully do constitutes in this state a legal
wrong," Judevine v. Benzies-Montanye Fuel & Wholesale Co. (1936), 222 Wis. 512, 524, 269 N, W, 295,
' Winslow v. Brown 125 Wis. 2d 327 (1985), 371 N.W.2d 417 In State v. Asfoor, 75 Wis. 2d 411, 428-29, 249
N.W.2d 529, 536-37 (1977), Wisconsin supreme court stated that one may aid and abet an intentional act that is not
intended to injure but that creates a foreseeable risk of injury. The same reasoning applies in a civil action for
damages
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6. All Defendants, including the State of Wisconsin and the Governor of Wisconsin'/

were properly served with Summons and Complaints. All Defendants including the State of
Wisconsin and the Governor of Wisconsin had actual and constructive notice of the Complaint.

7. The Walworth County Defendants filed their answer (Doc 30) to the Plaintiffs’
Amended Complaint on November 11, 2019.

8. The Como Sanitary District defendants filed their Answer (Doc 32) to Plainiiffs’
Amended Complaint on November 12, 2019.

S, Plaintiffs filed 2 Second Corrected Amended Complaint (Doc 36) adding Leo
Stoller as a necessary party Plaintiff on November 12, 2019, which was accepted by all parties as
the operative Complaint (Appendix 5).

10.  The Lake Como Wisconsin Sanitary District filed their Answer (Doc 38) on
November 18, 2019 to the Plaintiffs’ Second Corrected Amended Complaint.

11.  Defendant Douglass Genigam filed an answer to the Plaintiffs’ Complaint on
December 20, 2019."*

12. November 24, 2019 the Governor and the State of Wisconsin never filed an
Answer to the Complaint and were in default.

13,  Defendants’ Lake Como County Sanitary District filed a Motion for Judgment on
the pleadings and Motion for Summary Judgment on January 30, 2020 (Doc 46)..

14.  Plaintiff on February 13, 2020, filed a Motion (Doc 53) for an Extension of Time

to Respond to all pleadings.

" The State of Wisconsin and the Governor were served with summons and complaint on October 24, 2019, see
Document 102, Page 9 of 10.
'8 The Plaintiffs settled with Defendant Gonigam.
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15.  Defendants Diana Crowley and Donald Crowley filed a 12(b){(6) Motion to
Dismiss on February 17, 2020.(Doc 56).

16.  District Court Judge Stadmueller granted the Plaintiffs’ Motjon for an Extension
to March 10, 2620 .

17.  Walworth County Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on February
25.2020,(Doc 62) and an Amend/Correct Motion for Summary Judgment on February 25, 2020
(Doc 66)..

18.  Douglass Lake Assembly filed a Motion to Dismiss on March 3, 2020.{Doc 80).

19. On March 17, 2020, Plaintiffs filed- a Joint Motion to Disqualify (Doc
(89X Appendix 6) Attorneys Amy J. Doyle, Marcella Poto and the law firm of Crivetllo Carlson
and for an Evidentiary Hearing and Motion for Direct Criminal Contempt, request to deny their
Summary Judgment.

20.  On March 23, 2020 Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Disqualify(Doc 92) (Appendix 8)
Attorney’s Brett A, Ekes, Richard Scholze and the Law Firm of Wanask Scholze Ludwig Ekes &
Gorn SC and to Strike their Motion for Summary Judgment.

21.  On March 24, 2020 Plaintiffs’ filed a Joint Motion (Doc 93)(Appendix 7) to
Disqualify Attorney Adam Dassow and the Law Firm of Carney Thorpe, LLC, to dismiss with
prejudice their Motion to Dismiss an for an Extension of Time for all trial dates due to the
Corona Virus Pandemic.

22.  On March 24, 2020 Plaintiffs’ filed a Joint Motion (Doc 94)(Appendix 9) to

Disqualify Attorney’s Thomas G, Gardner and the Law firm of Gardonmer Koch Weisherb &
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Wrona, Attorney and Richard W. Tornorst and the Law Firm of Richard W. Tornorst to Dismiss
with prejudice their Motion to Dismiss (Doc 56)

23, On March 27, 2020, Lake Como Wisconsin Sanitary District Defendants filed a
Motion to Amend/Correct Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and Motion for Summary
Tudgment (Doc 99},

24.  On March 31, 2020 Plaintiffs’ filed a Motion for Entry of Defanlt against
Anthony Steven Evers Governor of Wisconsin. (Doc 102)(Appendix 10).

25.  On April 03, 2020 Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Sanctions against Marcellas Spoto.
(Doc 104) (Appendix 11)

26. On April 7, 2020 (Doc 111)(Appendix 12) Plaintiff filed a Notice of Filing
Motion and Request for Hearing before a Different Judge on Direct Civil Contempt against
Marcella Spoto.

27. On April 8, 2020, Plaintiff filed a Notice of Filing Corrected Motion (Doc
113(Appendix 13) and Request for Hearing before a Different Judge on Obstruction of Justice,
Direct Civil Contempt against Marcella Spoto.

28. On May 05, 2020 Plaintiffs filed a Joint Reply (Doc 125)(Appendix 14) fo
Defendants’ Waiworth Court Brief in Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Sanctions and for
Hearing before Different Judge.

29.  Plaintiffs’ filed on May 035, 2020, a Notice of Joint Plaintiffs” Reply(126)
(Appendix 16) to Walworth County Opposition Motion to Disqualify Attorney’s Amy J. Doyle

and the Law Firm of Crivello Carlso, and Motion for Direct Criminal Contempt Instanter,
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30.  On May 28, 2020 Plamtiffs filed a Motion for Judgment against Walworth
Defendants and their Attorneys (Doc 130) (Appendix 17) based upon unanswered admissions.

31.  Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Judicial Notice(136) (Appendix 18).

32.  On July 2, 2020 Plaintiffs’ filed a Notice of filing Plaintiff’s Reply(Doc 145)
(Appendix 19) to Defendants Walworth County, Valerie Etze, Randy Timms, William Norem,
Tim Brellenthin, Paul Yvaira, Charlene Staples, Kathy Ingersoll, David Weber, Daniel Kilkenny,
Susan Preuessing, Kenneth Monroe and Nancy Russell’s Brief in Opposition to Plaintiffs’
Motion for Judgment against Walworth County Defendants and Plaintiffs’ Motion for Order to
Determine Sufficiency of Defendants Response to Plaintiff’s Request for Admissions, |

33.  Plaintiffs’ filed on July 2, 2020, a Joini Reply (149} Appendix 20) to Defendants’
Walworth County, Valerie Etze, Randy Timms, William Norem, Tim Brellenthin, Paul Yvarra,
Charlene Staples, Kathy Ingersoll, David Weber, Daniel Kilkenny, Susan Preuessing, Kenneth
Monroe and Nancy Russell’s Brief in Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Judgment against
Walworth County Defendants and Plaintiffs’ Motion for Order to Determine Sufficiency of
Defendants’” Responses to Plaintiff’s Request for Admissions.

34, On July 2, 2021, Judge Stadmueller entered a final erroneous Order (Doc
143} Appendix 1) dismissing the plaintiffs’ complaint with prejudice. See a true and correct

reproduction of the Court Docket sheet below.
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v

(RDER signed by Judge J P Stadiaueller on 77272020, 46 Lake Come Wisonsin
Sanitary Disfrict, Gary Duffy, Ron Sajka, Joz Raberts, and Richard Scholze's Motion for
Summary Judgment is GRANTED; 99 their Amended Motion for Summary Judgment is
DENIED as moot. 56 Donald I, Crowley and Diana 8. Crowley's Motion to Dismiss is
(GRANTED. 80 Delovan Lake Assembly, Michael Connolly, Steven Schamid:, Henry
Rackiewicz, and Bill Winters' Motion to Dismiss is GRANTED, 66 Walworth County,
Vilerte Etze), Randy Timmms, William Nosem, Tim Brellenthin, Pyl Yvarra, Charlene
Staples, Kathy Ingersoll, David Webser, Daniel G. Kilkenny, Susan M. Pruessing, Kenneth

(71622020
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F. Monroe, and Nancy Russell's Amended Metion for Summary Judgment is
GRANTED: 62 their Motion for Summary Judgment is DENIED as moot, 102 Plaintifls’
Motion Jor Defiult against Defendant Governor Antheny Sieven Evers is DENIED,
Plaintifis’ claims against Defendants Govemor Anthony Steven Evers and the State of
Wisconsin are DISMISSED with prejudice. 88 Plaintiffs' Motion to Disqualify Counsel
and for Crintinal Conternpt is DENIED as moot. 90 and 95 Plaintiffs' Motions for
Cerlification and to Stay are DENIED 15 moot, 32, 93 and 94 Plaintifly' Motions to
Disqualify Connsel are DENIED us moot. 96 Plaintiffs' Motion for Extension ef Time
and to File Blectronically is DENIED as moot. 104 PlaintifT¥’ Motion for Sanctions i
DENIED a5 moot. 111 and |13 Plaintiffy’ Motions for Hearing are DENIFD as moot. 130
Phainti fs' Motion for Judgment is DENIED a5 moot. 131 Plawniiffd’ Motion for Order to
Defermine Sufficiency ts DENIED as moot. 136 Plaintiffe’ Motion for Judicial Notice 13
DENTED us moot. 137 Diana 8. Crowley and Donald L Crowl&y s Motion to Withdraw
Motion For Sanctions s GRANTED: 133 Motion for Sanctions is DENIED as moot.
CASE DISMISSED with prejudive. (cc: all counsel, via mail to Christopher Stoller
Michael Stoller, and Leo Staller)(jm)

o
iy

(70212020 JUDGMENT signed by Deputy Clerk and approved as to form by i udge J P Stadimuetler
on 71212620, Case DISMISSED with prejudice. (cc: all counsel, via mail to Christopher

Stotler, Michae! Stoller, and Leo Stolleri{(jm)

35. On July 07, 2020, Plaintiffs Leo Stoller and Michael Stoller filed a Notice of
Appeal (Doc 146)(Appendix 1).
ARGUMENT
Appellants Leo Stoller and Michael Stoller challenge the erroneous judgment (Appendix

1) Judge Stadmueller erroneously granted. Lake Como Wisconsin Sapitary District, Gary Duffy,

Fay
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Ron Soika, Joe Roberts, and Richard Scholze's Motion for Summary Judgment; Donald J.
Crowley and Diana Crowley's Motion to Dismiss, Delevan Lake Assembly, Michael Connolly,
Steven Schmidt, Henry Rackiewicz, and Bill Winters' Motion to Dismiss, (Doc 66) Walworth
County, Valerie Ftzel, Randy Timms, William Norem, Tim Brellenthin, Paul Yvarra, Charlene
Staples, Kathy Ingersoll, David Weber, Daniel G. Kilkenny, Susan M. Pruessing, Kenneth H.
Monroe, and Nancy Russell's Amended Motion for Summary Judgment.

The record on appeal indicates the following facts. On October 2, 2017, the Plaintiffs
filed a pro se complaint (Doc 1) against multiple Defendants in the Judge Stadmueller who
issued an erroneous order disinissing the Plaintiffs’ first Complaint (Doc 1) on March 30, 2018
(Doc¢ 7) (Appendix 2). Plaintiffs filed their appeal on April 9, 2018.

Judge Stadmueller’s order of March 30. 2018(Doc 7) (Appendix 2) was clearly wrong
and this court reversed it on June 21, 2019 (Doc 17) (Appendix 4).

“Falsus in uno, falsus in omuibus” is a Latin term which means false in one thing, false
in everything,

Plaintiffs Leo Stoller and Michael Stoller filed their Amended Complaint(Doc 36)
(Appendix 5) on November 12, 2019, after the remand before Judge Stadmmueller.

On July 02, 2020, Judge Stadmueller again was wrong when he dismissed the
Plaintiff/ Appellants’ Amended Complaint (Doc 143} Appendix 1)

“Falsus in uno, folsus in omnibus” means false in one thing, false in everything. Judge
Stadmueller was wrong on March 30, 2018 when he first dismissed the Plaintiff’s complaint

(Doc 7){(Appendix 2) and Judge Stadmueller the record will show was wrong again when he
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dismissed the Plaintiffs’ amended complaint (Doc 36} Appendix 5) on July 22, 2020 (Doc
144)(Appendix ).

Plaintiff/ Appellants have made a clear record before Judge Stadmueller supporting his
complaint and requesting disqualification of the opposing counsel and filing Motions for
Judgment on the pleadings. Plaintiffs have properly preserved all the key issues for review,
copies of pleading, evidence (Doc 92,93,94, 104, 111, 113, 114, 115, 130, 136, 145 and
149, all of which are contained in the pleadings attached i1n the Appendix which is
contained in the attached Appendix.

A review of the record will reveal that Judge Stadmueller is again clearly wrong in
dismissing the Appellants’ Amended Complaint(Doc 36) (Appendix 5) and granting,
erroncously granting, Lake Como Wisconsin Sanitary District, Gary Duffy, Ron Sojka, Joe
Roberts, and Richard Scholze's Motion for Summary Judgment, Donald J. Crowley and Diana S.
Crowley's Motion to Dismiss, Delevan Lake Assembly, Michael Comnolly, Steven Schmidt,
Henry Rackiewicz, and Bill Winters' Motion to Dismiss, (Doc 66) Walworth County, Valerie
Etzel, Randy Timms, William Norem, Tim Brellenthin, Paul Yvarra, Charlene Staples, Kathy
Ingersoll, David Weber, Daniel G. Kilkenny, Susan M. Pruessing, Kenneth H. Monroe, and
Nancy Russell's Amended Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Court of Appeals will find that Judge Stadmueller discretion has been exercised
erroneously, the facts of the Plaintiffs’ case do not support the court’s decision (Doc

144)(Appendix 1) and the Judge Stadmueller applied the wrong legal standard; J L. Phillips

& Associates, Inc. v. E & H Plastic Corp., 217 Wis.2d 348, 364-365, 577 N.W.2d 13 (1998).
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Pro Se Plaintiffs have plead each element for each and every count against each
defendant, in their Amended Complaint(Doc 36) (Appendix 5). Plaintiffs’ Amended
Complaint stated claims for relief. As a preliminary matter, the pleading standards for pro se
plaintiffs are considerably relaxed, Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 94, 127 §.Ct. 2197, 167
L.Ed.2d 1081 (2007) (per curiam), even in the wake of Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S.
544, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007), and Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 129 S.Ct.
1937, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009). See Arnett v. Webster, 658 F.3d 742, 751 (7th Cir.2011)
(reminding courts to "construe pro se complaints liberally and hold them to a less stringent
standard than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers"); see also Swanson v. Citibank, N.A.,
614 F.3d 400, 404 (7th Cir.2010) (explaining after Igbal that the plaintiff’s need only "give
enough details about the subject-matter [722 F.3d 1028] of the case to present a story that holds
together"); Luevano v. Wal-Mart Stoves Inc., Seventh Circuit 722 F. 3d 1014 (2013).

One of the issue(s) on appeal is whether the Wisconsin District Court Judge
Stadmueller errored in dismissing Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint. Judge J.P. Stadmueller
committed clear error and reversible error when he dismissed Plaintiffs’ cause of action on the
pleadings because it is clearly apparent that there are facts that can be proven which will
entitle Plaintiff to relief (Doc 36){ Appendix 3).

Plaintiffs Leo Stoller and Michael Stoller both live in Cook County, [llinois, but own
property in Walworth County, Wisconsin. The thrust of the Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint (Doc
36)Appendix 5) is that Walworth County and the named Walworth county officials have
engaged in a practice whereby they sell tax-delinquent property based on “sham™ appraisals, as

opposed to “legitimate” appraisals that meet the standards of the Uniform Standards of
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Professional Appraisal Practice, in order to “recover inflated market values, in direct competition
with private real estate sellers.”

PLAINTIFF CHALLENGES ALL OF THE ERRONEQUS
DECISIONS OF THE COURTY BELOW

Judge Stadmueller has abused its discretion when he acted arbitrarily without the
employment of conscientious judgment, his decision (Doc 144)(Appendix 1) exceeded the
bounds of reason and ignored principles of law such that substantial prejudice has resulted he
denied ail of the Plaintiffs” following motions: Motion{s) for Default against Defendant
Governor Anthony Steven Evers is DENIED; Plaintiffs’ claims against Defendants Governor
Anthony Steven Evers and the State of Wisconsin are DISMISSED with prejudice. Plaintiffs
Moticn to Disqualify Counsel and for Criminal Contempt is DENIED as moot. Plaintiffs'
Motions for Certification and to Stay are DENIED as moot. Plaintiffs' Motions to Disqualify
Counsel are DENIED as moot. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Extension of Time and te File
Electronicaily is DENIED as moot. Plaintiffs' Motion for Sanctions is DENIED as moot.
Plaintiffs' Motions for Hearing are DENIED as moot. Plaintiffs' Motion for Judgment is
DENIED as moot. Plaintiffs' Motion for Order to Determine Sufficiency is DENIED as moot.
Plaintiffs' Motion for Judicial Notice is DENIED as moot. Diana S. Crowley and Donald J.
Crowley's Motion to Withdraw Motion for Sanctions is GRANTED; Motion for Sanctions is
DENIED as moot. CASE DISMISSED with prejudice. {cc: all counsel, via mail to Christopher
Stoller, Michael Stolier, and Leo Stoller.

Although the Plaintiffs presented prima facie and irrefutable evidence of serious
professional misconduct, obstruction of justice, perjury (Doc 92,93,94, 104, 111, 113, 114,

115, 130, 136, 145 and 149, all of which are contained in the pleadings attached in

31




Case: 20-2204  Document: 26 Filed: 02/22/2021  Pages: 163

the Appendix that the opposing counsel engaged in.
Judge Stadmueller turned a blind eye to the opposing counse] wrong doing when he
refused to rule on any of the Plaintiffs ‘serious sanction motions " See a true and correct

reproduction of Page 27 (Appendix 1).

6. MISCELLANEOUS MOTIONS
Because the Court dismisses all of Plaintiffs’ claims against all
Defendants in this case, the Court will summarily deny the following

motions by Plaintiffs as moob: Docket 888, £90, #52, 793, #94, 295, #96, #104,

#111, #113, #130, §131, #136.

The question for the reviewing court is not whether it agrees with Judge Stadmueller’s
decisions, rather, the reviewing court must analyze whether the Judge Stadmueller, in the
exercise of his discretion, acted arbitrarily without conscientious judgment or, in view of ali the
circumstances, exceeded the bounds of reason and ignored recognized principles of law so that
substantia! injustice resulted. 1d 2011 IL. App (1st) 092017 No. 1-09-2017.

Plaintiffs’ question to the court is whether Defense Attomneys practicing before the
court, who are engaged, while representing their clients/Defendants, in serious professional
misconduct, fraud on the court, criminal contempt, cbstruction of justice, (Doc 92,93,94,
104, 111, 113, 114, 115, 130, 136, 145 and 149,) all of which are contained in the
pleadings attached in the Appendix should avoid prosecution, if the Defense Lawyers are

successful, succeed in getting the judge to dismiss all the claims against their clients.

¥ Judge Stadmueller’s denial of every one of the Plaintiffs’ Motions reminded Plaintiff Leo Stoller 74 of the Trial of
the Chicago 7 that took place in 1969, in this Federal building,, which Leo Stoller attended, and observed that every
Motion , that the Defendants’ counsel Leonard Winglass and William Kunstler made to Judge Jutius Hoffman was
dented and was later reversed upon appeal,
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Plaintiff has charged opposing counsel serious professional misconduct, fraud on the
court, criminal contempt, obstruction of justice, See Doc 89,92,93,94,104,111,113,125,126,
136,145 & 149 All can be found in the Appendix.

it the Plaintiff/Appellants’ position that the Defendants had unclean hands and
presented that position to Judge Stadmueller in multiple pleadings (Doc 92,93,94, 104, 111,
113, 114, 115, 130, 136, 145 and 149 which are all found in the Appendix, which Judge
Stadmueller chose to ignore.

Judge Stadmueller has abused his discretion. Applied the the wrong standard, acted
arbitrarily without the eémployment of conscientious judgment, His decision in dismissing the
Plaintiffs’ appeal exceeded the bounds of reason and ignores principles of law such that
substantial prejudice has resulted, Marren Builders, Inc., 307 IIl. App. 3d at 941, 719 N.E.2d at
121,

Plaintiffs/Appellants have shown this court that the Ttial Court was wrong and that the
Plaintiff/Appeliants’ appeal is in good faith.

It is clear from the extensive record in this case that Judge Stadmuecller was wrong in his
erroneous decision of July 02, 2018, (Doc 144) Appendix I).

The Judge Stadmueller employed the wrong standard, sited to incorrect legal arguments
that are clearly wrong, in order to deny the Appellants day in court and to deny the Appellant’s
due process.

The thrust of the Plaintiff’s Complaint is that Walworth County and the named county
officials have engaged in a practice whereby they sell tax-delinquent property based on “sham”

appraisals, as opposed to “legitimate” appraisals that meet the standards of the Uniform
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Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, in order to recover inflated market values, in direct
competition with private real estate sellers.

This became relevant to the Plaintiffs in August 2017, when they received a letter from
Defendant Valerie Etzel, the Walworth County Treasurer, informing them that Walworth County
took possession of a tax-delinquent parcel of land bordering the Plaintiffs’ property.

Also Judge Stadmueller was wrong on the facts and the law and committed clear error by
dismissing the Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint without granting leave to Leo Stoller a new
Plaintiff his right to amend once.

The Trial Court should have given the new Plaintiff Leo Stoller the right to amend at
least once. It was absolute reversible error in this case for the Trial Court to have cut the
Appellants’ constitutional legs out from under him, by failing to abide by Fed. R. Civ. P 15.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State of Wisconsin by allow its county’s seize property from its citizens under the
guise of delinguent payment of real estate taxes, and then permit each county by staic law, to
retail the seized properties, for inflated market values, based upon manufactured, inflated real
estate appraisals amounts to a state sponsored federal racketeering scheme,

There is no question that the state of Wisconsin is engaged in a RICO scheme to defraud
its states citizens that is meticulously plead in the Appellant’s Complaint (Appendix 5),

However, Wisconsin District Court Judge Stadmueller has “blind folds™ on his eyes. The
critical element raised in the Appellant’s Complaint {(Doc 36)(Appendix 5), which Judge
Stadmueller clearly bungled in his decision, is that the Plaintiffs/Appellants requested that the

court find the Wisconsin Statue, Chapter 75 land sold for taxes Chapter 975.69, unconstitutional,
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when the court stated, “Under any standard of law this is criminal for a Wisconsin County,
Walworth County to be allowed under the color of law to exploit it’s right to collect late taxes on
its real estate, to allow the said county, to knowingly and willfully foreclosure on tax delinquent
property owners, for back real estate taxes with the intent to retail that seized property for
inflated market values, with phony, sham appraisals, in direct competition with private property
owners who are selling their real estate. This court should, sue sponfe, strike down the
Wisconsin Statue Chapter 75, land sold for taxes Chapter §75.69 that permits this as
unconstitutional.”

There is no question that the Wisconsin Statue Chapter 75, land sold for taxes Chapter
§75.65. It sanctions every county in the State of Wisconsin to engage in a RICO scheme, which
is “state” sanctions.

The Plaintiffs/Appeliants argue that Judge Stadmueller’s first Order and Judgment dated
March 3, 2018, (Doc 7} (Appendix 2) dismissing the Plaintiff’s RICO first Complaint) against
the State of Wisconsin and the Judge Stadmueller’s second Order (Doc 144) (Appendix 1)
represents violations of the Illinois and Federal Constitutions.

These laws prohibit abridging freedom of speech and the ability of citizens to petition the
government, including the courts, for the redress of grievances. II1.Const.1970, art. I, §4, 12; U.S.
Const. Amd. I. Il1.Const.1970, art. I, §4, every person shall find a certain remedy in the laws for
all injuries and wrongs which he receives. He shall obtain justice by law, freely, completely, and
prompily, Id § 12.

The First Amendment, applicable to the States under the Fourteenth Amendment, states

that Congress shall make no law abridging freedom of speech and the right of the people
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peaceably to petition the Government for a redress of grievances. U.S. Const. Amd. I. These are
cognate rights and therefore united in the First Article’s assurance; Arlington His. Nat'l Bank v.
Arlington Hts. Fed Sav. & Loan Assn., 37 111.2d 546, 550, 229 N.E.2d 514 517 (1967), quoting
Thomas v. Collins, 323 U.8. 516, 530, 65 S. Ct. 315, 323, 89 L. Ed. 430, 440,

There is no question that the State of Wisconsin is engaging in a huge RICO scheme by
giving their counties, under the color of law, the right to seize property for back taxes and
mandate that the said seized properties, sold for inflated market values, There is no question that
the Plaintiffs/Appellants have been damaged by Appellee/Defendant’s RICO scheme.

The Appellant/Plaintiff brought a well plead Complaint (Appendix 2). At a minimum,
the Appellant has made a prima facie showing that the District Court made clear error and
reversible error a second time.

CONCLUSION

Judge J.P. Stadmueiler final July 2, 2020 Judgment (Doc 143&144 Y(Appendix 1 is
intellectually threadbare.

The court of appeals will find that Judge J.P. Stadmueller’s discretion has been
exercised erroneously. Judge J.P. Stadmueller failed to apply the correct standard,
failed to exercise its discretion, under the circumstances the facts do not support
the court’s decision.

Judge J.P. Stadmueller applied the wrong legal standard. J.L.. Phillips &
Associates, Inc. v. E & H Plastic Corp., 217 Wis.2d 348, 364-365, 577 N.W.2d 13
(1998).

The record does NOT reflect that Judge J.P. Stadmueller considered the relevant

facts, properly interpreted and applied the law, and reached a reasoned
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determination. Ness, 227 Wis.2d at 600.

The Trial court decision (Doc 142 & 144) were based on erroneous interpretation
of the facts and incorrect application of the law, as it applies to the facts.
Appellants calls upon this court to correct and reverse the frial courts decisions.

. The absolute reason, the bottom line reason, barring all of the other
grounds, that the Appellant is entitled to reversal of Judge I.P. Stadmueller
July 02,, 2020 Order (Doc 143 & 144) (Appendix 1), is that Judge J.P.
Stadmuelier committed, elear error by dismissing Count 9 (Doc
36)(Appendix 5) incorrectly stating at page 19 of 29 (Doc 143) of his
judgment (Plaintiffs) have not met the federal pleading standard in the

slightest , the court dismisses Count 9, sue sponte, against the Wisconsin
State Defendants. See a true and correct reproduction of the Court’s Order

below:

3.3.3. Conclusion
The Court refuses to scour Plaintiffs” complaint any further. Seelng
that they have not met the federal pleading standard in the slightest, the
Court dismisses Count 9, sug sponfe, against the Wisconsin Btate

Defendants.

The court of appeals will find that Judge J.P. Stadmueller discretion
has been exercised erroneously. Judge J.P. Stadmueller fails to apply the
coirect standard, failed to exercise his discretion, the facts do not support
the court’s decision (Doc 143), Judge J.P. Stadmueller applied the wrong
legal standard. J.L. Phillips & Associates, Inc. v. E & H Plastic Corp., 217
Wis.2d 348, 364-365, 577 N.W.2d 13 (1998).
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The pleading standards for pro se plaintiffs are considerably relaxed,
Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89,94, 127 S.Ct. 2197, 167 L.Ed.2d 1081 (2007) (per
curiam), even in the wake of Bell Atiantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 127
S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007), and 4skcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 129 S.Ct.
1937, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009). Sce Arnett v. Webster, 658 F.3d 742, 751 (7th
Cir.2011) (reminding courts to "construe pro se complaints liberally and hold them
to a less stringent standard than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers"); see also
Swanson v. Citibank, N.A., 614 F.3d 400, 404 (7th Cir.2010) (explaining after Igbal
that the plaintiff’s need only "give enough details about the subject-matter [722
F.3d 1028] of the case to present a story that holds together"). Luevano v. Wal-Mart
Stores Inc., Seventh Circuit 722 F. 3d 1014 (2013

There are no disputes about the relevant facts, and the issue is thus a
purely legal one that is appropriate for disposition by in favor of the
Appellant, for this court to reverse ,the trial court’s July 02, 2020 (Doc 143
& 144) Order (Appendix 1) which are the subject of this appeal.

Judge J.P. Stadmueller ., was clearly wrong, he made erroneous,

unjustifiable findings in his first March 30, 2018 Order(s) (Doc 7 &

16))(Appendex2) which this court reversed (Doc 17)(Appendix 4)

sending this case back to Judge J.P. Stadmueller .
Falsus in uno, falsus in omnibus .*

In granting the Defendants Motion to Dismiss Judge J.P. Stadmueller

committed clear error and reversible error by dismissing Plaintiffs’

2% a Latin term which means “false in one thing, false in everything." .
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complaint with prejudice.. It is also obvious from the record (Doc’s
02,93,94, 104, 111, 113, 114, 115, 130, 136, 145 and 149 See Appendix
Index) ) that Judge J.P. Stadmueller ., misunderstood the evidence, that he
made findings which no reasonable judge could, under the circumstances,

would have made.

Judge J.P. Stadmueller did not properly consider and understand the
evidence (Doc 92,93,94, 104, 111, 113, 114, 115, 130, 136, 145 and
149 See Appendix Index), did not reached a “balanced and objective”
conclusion, based upon the actual evidence 92,93,94, 104, 111, 113,
114, 115, 130, 136, 145 and 149 See Appendix Index) any legal
authority, which is evidence by an examination of his order July 2,
2020 Order (Doc 144 & 145) (Appendix 1) in an attempt to thwart
Appeliate Court review..
1. . Even a cursory examination of the said decision July 2, 2020
(Doc 144 & 145) (Appendix 1), reveals that they were not properly
reasoned judgments, which explains to the parties and to any wider
readership, why the Judge J.P. Stadmueller , has reached the decision (Coc
145 & 146) (Appendix 1) he has made, they are completely devoid of any
well-reasoned findings, which is an affront to the Plaintiff and the Seventh
Circuit Court review. Judge J.P. Stadmueller , erroneous decision (Doc 144
& 145) based upon the wrong standard, contain no valid , finding of facts,
conclusions of law and citations to any authority, which is mot sustainable

on appeal..
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1. Clearly Judge J.P. Stadmueller failed to produce any adequate,
sustgainable, reason for reaching his erroneous conclusion that Plaintiff’s case
should be dismissed as against all Defendants, with prejudice, without even giving
leave to Leo Stoller a new party plaintiff the right to amend. It is obvious from the
Record that Judge J.P. Stadmueller failed to provide the Plaintiffs with a “fair and

impartial forum to resolve their differences”.

2. The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has strongly criticized judges
like Judge J.P. Stadmueller .., who failed to use the correct standard and produce
“any adequate reasons” for reaching their conclusions(Doc 144 & 145) (Appendix
1). In the whole of Judge J.P. Stadmueller , judgment (Doc 144 & 145) on the
facts (Appendix 1) there is not one sentence in which Judge I.P. Stadmueller ,
makes any valid, supportable, specific findings of fact or gives the reasons for
doing so based upon the wrong standard that Judge J. P. Stadmueller applied.

3. Clearly., Judge J.P. Stadmueller abused his discretion when he
applied the wrong standard, acted arbitrarily without the employment of
conscientious judgment, and his decision (Doc 144 & 145) (Appendix 1) thus
exceeds the bounds of reason and ignores principles of law on its face, such that
substantial prejudice has resulted.

[Citation.]” (Internal quotation marks omitted.} Dupree, 2011 IL App (4™
100351,

4. - The concern in this case is whether the court showed substantial
justice to both parties and the court clearly did not, and the court’s erroneous order
(Doc 144 & 145) regarding this case (Appendex 1). It is obvious from the record
that Judge J.P. Stadmueller was not familiar with the facts of this case, before he
entered his erroneous reversible order (Doc 144 & 145) (Appendix 1)
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5. Itis obvious from a simple reading of Judge J.P. Stadmueller order
(Doc 1 & 2) (Appendix 1), that he applied the wrong standard, that substantial
justice was not done to the Plaintiffs, and in light of Illinois’s public policy, it is
reasonable to require this matter to be resolved on the merits; Dupree, 2011 IL App
(4th) 100351, § 59 (citing Midwest Builder Distributing, Inc., v. Lord & Essex,
Ine., 383 I1l. App. 3d 5, 665 (2007)) (“Illinois public policy prefers to decide cases
on their merits instead of dismissing them purely on procedural grounds.™').

6. A common ground for the reversal of Judge J.P. Stadmueller
order(Doc 1 & 2) (Appendix 1 is the fact that Judge J.P. Stadmueller , used the
wrong standard, which under the circumstances, resulted in Judge J. P.
Stadmueller’s faulty reasoning, concerning how he reached his decision.,.”? which
is illustrative of why the Roinans coined the legal doctrine, Falsus in uno, falsus
in omnibus which means "false in one thing, faise in everything .

7. The Plaintiff is seecking reversal on the grounds that Judge J.P.
Stadmueller Order (Doc 145 & 144), without providing valid support reasons,
applying the wrong standard, have entirely frustrated review. The Seventh Circuit
Court of Appeal is clearly unable to discern how Judge J.P. Stadmueller reached
his decision (Doc 45 & 145)(Appendix 1), by applying the wrong stand, should
remand for further proceedings.

The record shows, that Judge J.P. Stadmueller decision (Doc 144 & 145)
(Appendix 1) based upon the wrong standard is unwarranted under the
circumstances. |

12014 1L App (1st) 131960-U CALVIN PETTIGREW, JR., Appeal from the Circuit Court of Plaintiff-Appelfant,
Cook County. v. No. 09 M [21971, DAIERN THOMPSON and SHEMIKA SWAN THOMPSON,) Honorable
Thomas V. Lyons, I, Defendants-Appellees.

2 288. See id. (“Because this record does not fuly inform us of the precise nature of the litigation . . . [we] vacate
the judgment below, and remand.”),
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8.  Historically, the purpose of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a)”
which requires that in court cases in Federal Court the judges are directed to make
findings of fact and draw conclusions of law based upon the proper standard.,
Judge J.P. Stadmueller , refused to make findings of fact and draw conclusions of
law using the correct standard, in the courts erroneous decisions(Doc 144 &
145)(Appendix 1) in order to intentionally thwart the Appellate Court review..

9. The purpose of requiring findings of fact based upon the correct
standard, by Judges has been recognized in a significant number of cases, is limited
to enabling review by the appellate court by affording it an explicit explanation, or
at least a record indicating the ground of the court’s decision, which is absent here.
This rule which Judge J.P. Stadmueller violated is the reason-giving
requirement in the judiciary, which Judge J.P. Stadmueller , absolutely failed to
provide in his Order based entirely upon the wrong standard (Doc 1 & 2)
(Appendix 1)

10.  The record does NOT reflect that Judge Judge J.P. Stadmueller .,
considered the relevant facts applied to the correct standard, properly interpreted,
and applied the law, and reached a reasoned determination. (Doc 144 & 145)
(Appendix 1)

11, When judges write opinions based upon the correct standard, they cite
authority. They lace their representations of what the law is and how it applies to a
given situation with references to statutes, regulations, and prior appellate
decisions they believe to be pertinent and supporting. Absolutely none of that
exists in either of this court’s orders (Appendix 1) Because Judge J.P. Stadmueller
applied the wrong standard.

# FED, R. CIV. P. 52(a) (“In an action tried on the facts without a jury . . . the court must find the facts . . . and state
its conclusions of law. The findings and conclusions may be stated on the record . . . [or] may appear in an opinion
or 2 memorandum of decision.”).
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12 Appellant/ Plaintiffs are requesting for the reasons stated that the
Appellate court again reverse the Order of Judge J.P. Stadmueller (Doc 144 &
145)(Appendix 1) and remand for further hearings

WHEREFORE, For the reasons stated herein, Plaintiffs request this court to
reverse the District Court’s Order (Doc 144) (Appendix 1), to return the case to the
District Court for hearings consistent with the courts reversal .ﬁndings and allow
the Plaintiffs’ Amended complaint (Doc 36)( Appendix) to proceed.

To direct Judge Stadmueller to enter rulings on the Plaintiffs” Motions which
he previously denied hearing as moot: Docket #88, #90, #92, #93, #94, #95, #96,
#104, #111, #113, #130, #131, #136.

In the alternative, stay this proceeding and to certify the question for
immediate appeal to the U.S. Supreme Court as to “Whether it is constitutional for
a state to seize property from its citizens, for delinquent taxes, and to mandate that
the said properties be sold for inflated retail values based on non-confirming,

inflated appraisals.

Respectfully's

/s/Leo Stoer
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P.O. Box 60645
Chicago, Illinois
(312) 545-4554
Ldms4@hotmail.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that the foregoing was served upon the following parties via First Class Mail or

email on February 22, 2021.

Amy J. Doyle Richard Scholze Adam J. Dassow
Mareella Spoto Wanasek Scholze Ludwig Ekes & Corn Carney Thorpe LLC
Crivello Carlso SC P.OBox 717 P.O. Box 2000

710 N. Plankinton Ave Burlington, WI53105 : Milwaukee, Wi
53203

Suite 500

Janesville, Wisconsin 53547-2000

Clerk of the Court Gardiner Koch Weisberg Wrona
US Federal District Court 53 W, Jackson Blvd

517 E Wisconsin Ave, Suite 959

Milwaukee, WI 53202 Chicago, Il 60604

Attorney General Wisconsin
P.O. Box 7857
Madison, WI 53707

Governor of Wisconsin
15 E Capitol # 1
Madison, W1 53707

Walworth County
100 W, Walworth
P.O. Box 1001
Elkhorn, W1 53121
s/ Leo Stoller_
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CIRCUIT RULE 30(d) STATEMENT
Pursuant to Circuit Rule 30(d), counsel certifies that all material required by Circuit Rule 30(a)

and (b) are included in the appendix

{s/ Leo Stoller

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE
WITH FED. R. APP. P. 32(a)(7)(c)

The undersigned certifies that this Brief complies with the volume limitations of Federal
Rule of Appellate Procedure 32(a)(7)(c) and Circuit Rule 32 in that it contains 8,949, words and

lines of text as shown by Microsoft Word Program used i

'\ -
/s/Leo Stoller
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APPENDIX 1 Neotice of Appeal (Doc 146)

APPENDIX 2 Ovrder March 03, 2018 (Doc 7)

APPENDIX 3 Order May 23,2018 (Doc 16)

APPENDIX 4 7¢h Circuit Ct of Appeals Decision 6/21/19 Doc 17

APPENDIX 5 SECOND CORRECTED AMENDED
COMPLAINT (Doc 36) The Operative Complaint

APPENDIX SEPARATE BOOK INDEX 1

Appendix 6-13

APPENDIX 6 Plaintiffs’ Joint Motion fo Disqualify Attorneys Amy
J. Doyle, Marcella 5. Spoto and the Law Firm of Crivello Carlson 5¢
and for an Evidentiary Hearing and Motion for Direct Criminal
Contempt

APPENDIX 7 Plaintiffs’ Joint Motion to Disqualify Attorney Adam
J Dassow and the Law Firm of Carney thrope LLC to Dismiss with
Prejudice their Motion to Dismiss (Doc 80) an for an Extension of
Time for ali Trial Dates Due to the Corona Virus Pendemic

APPENDIX 8 Plaintiffs’ Joint Motion to Disqualify Attorney’s
Brett A. Ekes, Richard Scholze the lLaw Firm of Wanasek Scholze
Ludwig Ekes & Gorn SC and te Strike their Motion for Motion for
Summary Judgment (Doc 46)

APPENDIX 9 Plaintiffs’ Joint Motion to Disqualify Attorney’s
Thomas G. Gardner and the Law Firm of Gardner Koch Weisberg
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& Wrona Attorney and Richard W. Tornost and the Law Firm of
Richard W, Tornorst to Dismiss with Prejudice their Motion {o
Dismiss {(Doc 56)

APPENDIX 10 Plaintiffs’ Motion for Entry of Default Against
Anthony Steven Everes (Doc 102)

APPENDIX 11 Plaintiffs’ Motion for Sanctions against Marcellas
Spoto

APPENDIX 12 Plaintiffs’ Motion for hearing before a different
Judge on Direct Civil Contempt against Marcellas Spoto

APPENDIX 13 Plaintiffs’ Corrected Motion z&mﬁ Request for
Hearing Before a Different Judge on Obstruction of Justice, Direct
Civil Contempt against Marcella 5. Spoto

APPENDIX BOOK 11

Appendix 14-20

APPENDIX 14 Plaintiffs joint Reply to Defendants’ Walworth
County’s Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Sanction and
for hearing beore a Different Judge (Doc 126)

APPENDIX 15 See Appendix 14

APPENDIX 16 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Walworth County Opposition
(Doc 107) Motion to Disqualify Attorney’s Amy J. Doyle and ther
Lawe Firm of Crivello Carlso SC and Motion for Direct Criminal
Contempt, Instanter

APPENDIX 17 Plaintiffs’ Motion for Judgment against Walworth
Defendants and their Attorneys based wpon unanswered Admissions
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APPENDIX 18 Plaintiffs’ Motion for Judicial Notice

APPENDIX 19 Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ Walworth County,
Valerie Etzew, Randy Timms, William Norem, Tim Brellenthin,
Paul Yvarra, Charlene Staples, Kathy Ingersoll, David Weber,
Daniel Kilkenny, Susan Preuessing, Keuneth Monore and Nancy
Russell’s Brief in Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Judgment
against Walworth County Defendants (DKT 130) and Plaintiffs’
Motion for Order to Determine Sufficiency of Defendants’
Responses to Plaintiff’s Request for Admissions (DKT 131)

APPENDIX 20 Plaintiffs’ Joint Reply to Defendants’ Walworth
County, Valerie Etzel, Randy timms, William Morem, tim
Brellenthin, Paul Yvarra, Charlene Staples, Kathy Ingersoll, David
Weber, Daniel Kilkenny, Susan Preuessing, Kenneth Monroe and
Nancy Russell’s Brief in Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Metion for
Judgment against Walworth County Defendants (DKT 130) and
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Order to Determine Sufficiency of
Defendants’ Responses to Plaintiff’s Request for Admissions (DKT
131)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT &~

Filed: 02/22/2021
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5. QISTRICT COURT
"‘H}I‘“T?*ﬁf-“

.....

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSEING -1 A 0.

MILWAUKEE DIVISION

Case Mo, 2-17-cv-01349

Michael Stoller, A disable person, Christopher Stoller, ,
A disabled person, Leo Stoller !
Plaintiffs |

V.

Anthony Steven Evers Governor of the State of Wisconsin, in his ‘

official capacity as Governor of the State of Wisconsin.
The State of Wisconsin, a sovereign state ol the Umted States
{Wisconsin State Defendants) ("WSD™)

Walworth County, Valerie Etzel, Walworth County Treasurer,
Randy Tirams, District 1, Walworth County Supervisor, William
Norem, Dhstrict 2, Walworth County Supervisor, Thn Brellenthin,
District 3, Walworth County Supervisor, Paul Yvarra. District 4,
Walworth County Supervisor, Charlene Staples, District 3,
Walworth County Supervisor, Kathy Ingersoll, District 6.
Walworth County Treasurer, David Weber, District 7. Walworth

County Supervisor, Daniel G. Kikkenny. District 8, Walworth

County Supervisor. Susan M. Pruessing, District 9, Walworth
County Supervisor, Kenneth H. Monroe. District 10, Walworth
County Supervisor, and Nancy Russell. District 11, Walworth

County Supervisor, Defendants John Doe 1-X (Walworth |

Defendants)
Lake Como Banmitary District, Gary Dufly, Ron Sicjka, Joe
Roberts, Rich Scholze (Como Defendants)

Douglass Gonigam. Donald J. Crowley. Diama 5. Crowley
{Camo Property owners)

Douglass Lake Assembly. Michael Connolly, Steven Schamdt,
Henry Raczkiewicz. Bill Winters {Doughass Defendants)

Defendants

]

guthy T o
C?., nn. G w. it

Jury Demand

For all counts other
than to declare the
Wisc. Statue Un-

constitutional

COMPLAINT FOR
DECLARATGRY
JUDGMENT AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
INTRODUCTION .
This is an action to
declare
Statute
Chapter 75 Land sold
for Taxes Paragraph
75.69

Sales of tax delinquent
real estate

gneonstitutionak

(Three Judges)

{1} Vielations of the
Racketeer

Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act (I8 US.C.
§ 1962{c));

{2} Violations of the
Racketear

influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act {18 U.S.C.
§ 1962(d}); et al

, Wisconsin

NOTICE OF FILING A NOTICE OF APPEAL

Case 2:17-cv-01349-JPS  Filed 07/07/20 Page 1 of 4 Document 148
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NOTICE OF FILING AN APPEAL

TO:  Atitached Service List

Piease take notice that on July 3, 2020, Plaintiffs Michae!l Stoller and Leo Stoller, , files
their Notice of Appeal of Judge J.P, Stadmueller final judgnient (Doc 143 & 144 dated July 2,
2020 with the Clerk of the Court by First Class Mail see attached, copies of which are attached.

/siieo Stoller E.DI, Pro Se M

fs/Michael Stoller Pra Se Y ”
P.O. Box 60645
Chicago, lHinois 6060
312-545-4554
Ldmsd@hotmail.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
| certify that the foregoing was served upen the following parties via first class mail or email on 07-03-

20:

Amy L. Doyle Richard Scholze Adam . Dassow

Marcelia Spoto Wanasek Scholze Ludwig Ekes & Corn  Carney Thorpe LLC

Crivello Carlso 5C P.O Box 717 P.0. Box 2600

710 N. Plankinton Ave Suite 500 Burlington, Wi 53105 lanesville, Wisconsin 33547-
2000

Milwaukee, Wi 53203

Clerk ofthe Court Gardiner Koch Weisberg Wrona
US Federail District Court 53 W. Jackson Blvd

517 E Wisconsin Ave, Suite 959

Milwaukee, W1 53202 Chicago, Il 60604

Attormey General Wisconsin P.O. Box 7857, Madison Wi 3707
Governor of Wisconsin 15 E Capitol #§  Madison Wi 53707

/s/L. Stoller

1 Executive Ditector of the Americans (or the Enforcement of Attorney Ethics (AEAE) since 1974, An attorney
watch dog group that advocates the strict enforcement of attorney and judiciaf ethics since 1974 www renlamark.net

Case 2:17-cv-01349-JPS  Filed 07/07/20 Page 2 of 4 Document 146
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

MILWAUKEE DIVISION

Case Mo, 2.1 T-cv-31349

Michael Stoller, A disable person, Christopher Stoller,
A disabled person. Leo Stoller
Plaintiffs

V.

Anthony Steven Evers Governor of the State of Wisconsin, in his
official capacity as Governor of the State of Wisconsin.

The State of Wisconsin, a sovercign stale of the United States
{Wisconsin State Defendants) (“WSD™)

Walworth County, Valeric Etzel, Walworth County Treasurer,
Randy Tymms, District I, Walworth County Supervisor, William
Norem, District 2, Walworth County Supervisor. Tini Brellenthin,

District 3, Walworth County Supervisor, Paul Yvarra, District 4,

Walworth County Suvpervisor, Charlene Staples, District 5,
Walworth  County Supervisor, Kathy Ingersoll, District 6,
Walworth County Treasurer, David Weber, District 7, Walworth
County Supervisor, Daniel G. Kilkenny, Disirict 8, Walworth
County Supervisor, Susan M. Prucssing. Distriet 9, Walwoith
County Suvpervisor, Kenneth H. Monroe, District 10, Walworth
County Supervisor, and Nancy Russell. District 11, Walworth
County Supervisor, Defendants fohn Doe 1-X (Walwosth
Defendanis)

Lake Como Sanitary District, Gary Duffy, Ron Stojka, Joe
Roberts, Rich Scholze (Como Defendants)

Douglass Gonigam, Donald |, Crowley, Diama S, Crowley
(Como Property owners)

Douglass Lake Assembly, Michael Connolly, Steven Schamidt,
Henry Raczkiewicz, Bill Winters (Dougtass Defendants)

Defendants

NOTICE OF APPEAL

Jury Demand

For all counts other
than to declare the
Wisc. Statue Un-
constitutional

COMPLAINT FOR
DECLARATORY
JUDGMENT AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
INTRODUCTION .
This is an action to
declare , Wisconsin
Statute

Chapter 75 Land sold
for Taxes Paragraph
715,69

Sales of tax delinguent
real estate

unconstifutional.

(Three Judges)

{1} Violations of the
Racketeer

infleenced and Corrupt
Ceganizations Act {18 U.S.C
§ 1962{c));

(2} Violations of the
Racketeer

infiuenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act {18 U.5.C.
§ 1962{d}); et a!
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NOTICE OF APPEAL

Now comes Plaintiffs. Michael Stolier and Leo Stoller, and file their notice of appeal of Judge 3.P.
Stadmueller s final Judgment (Doc 143 & 144) see attached orders and al] prior orders filed in this case.

{s/Michael Stoller Blaintiff
m/m’/g%@g «

/sfLec Stoller Plaintiff
> _
7 ) M

/sfleo Stoller E.D2. Pro Se
fs/Michael Stsller Pro Se
PO, Box 60643
Chicago, Hlinois 6060
312-5435-4554
Ldms4aphotmail.com

2 Executive Director of the Americans for the Enforcement of Artarney Ethics {AEAE} since 1974, An attomey
watch dog group that advocates the strict enforsement of atiorney and judicial ethics since 1974 www rentamark.net
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UNITED STAYES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

CHRISTOPHER STOLLER, MICHAEL
STOLLER, and LEQ STOLLER,

Plainiiffs,
v, Case No, 17-CV-1349-]75

WALWORTH COUNTY, VALERIE
ETZRL, RANDY TIMMS, WILLIAM
NOREM, TIM BRELLENTHIN, PAUL
YVARRA, CHARLENE STAPLES,

KATHY INGERSOLL, DAVID WEBER,
DANIEL G. KILKENNY, SUSAN M.

PRUESSING, KENNETH H. MONROE,
NANCY RUSSELL, LAKE COMO
WISCONSIN SANITARY DISTRICT, ORDER
GARY DUFFY, RON SOIKA, JOE
ROBERTS, RICH SCHOLZE, DONALD '
]. CROWLEY, DIANA §. CROWLEY,
DELEVAN LAKE ASSEMBLY,
MICHAERL CONNOLLY, STEVEN

- SCHAMIDT, HENRY RACKIEWICZ,
BILL WINTERS, ANTHONY STEVEN
EVERS, STATE OF WISCONSIN, and
JOHN DOES,

Defendants.

1. BACKGROUND
On October 2, 2017, Plaintiffs Christopher Stoller and Michael

Stoller filed a complaint against s group of various defendants who are tied

1On Decembex 23, 2019, the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals issued an
order directing “the clerks of all federal courts in this drenit . | | o retuen unfiled
any papers submitted either directly or indirectly” by Christopher Stoller or on his
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to Walworth County, Wisconsin (collectively, the “Walworth County
Defendants”), {(Docket #1}, The Court dismissed Plaintiffs’ action and only
Christopher Stoller appealed. (Docket #7, #9). The United States Court of
Appeals for the Seventh Circuit vacated this. Court’s judgment and
remarnded this case with instructions to permit Christopher Stoller to file an
amended complaint, (Décket #17); Stoller v, Walworth Cly., 770 F. App'x 762
(7th Cir. 2019). Christopher Stoller and Michael Stoller filed an amended
complaint on August 14, 2019, (Docket §22), This first amended complaint
added a plethora of additional defendants. Id. at 1. Approximately two
weeks later, a “Corrected Amended Complaint” was filed. (Docket 423,
Then, on November 12, 2019, Christopher Stoller and Michael Stoller filed
what has been docketed as the “Proposed Second Corrected Amended
Complaint,”? (Docket #36), which added Leﬁ Stoller as a plaintiff.?

behall, Wilmington Trust, Nut'l Ass'n v. Christopher Stolley, No. 19-2561; Wilminglon
Trust, Nat'l Ass'n v, Christopher Stoller, No. 19-2591; Christopher Stoller v, Altisowrce
Residential L.P., No. 19-2923. Notwithstanding this order, Christapher Stoller filed
several motions in this case, Because the various defendants have spent time,
money, and effort both responding to and filing motions, the Court addyesses the
pending motions and ultimately dismisses this case in its entirety. '

Weither the “Corrected Amended Complaint,” (Docket #23), nor the
“Proposed Second Corrected Amended Complaint” (Docket #36), are
procedurally proper. See Fed, R, Civ, P. 15(a) (“A party may amend its pleading
once as a matter of course . . . . In all other cases, a party may amend its pleading
only with the opposing paity’s written consent oy the coust's leave.”). However,
because the defeadants have responded, in some fashio, to the Proposed Second
Corrected Amended Complaint, for purposes of expeditiously resolving the
motions before the Court, the Court shall treat the Proposed Second Cortected
Amended Complaint a5 the operative complaint in this case.

The Court doubta that sither Michael Stoller or Leo Stoller are proper
plaindfs in this case because it is unlikely that they have standing to sue any of
the defendants. To establish Article I standing, Plaintiffs must allege that the
defendents caused them an injury in fact that can be remedied by the Court. Lujan
v, Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.5. 585, 560-61 (1992). As discussed in Section 2.1, infra,
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The general gist of Plaintiffs’ complaint is that Wisconsin Statutes
section 75,69, “Sale of tax delinquent real estate,” is w}constitutional; and
as a result of this alleged nnconstitutionality, several defendaﬁhs were able
to ”gen&zét{e} the fraudulent and phony appraisals” of real property.
{Docket #36 at 12, 25). Plaintiffs also allege that certain defendants were

obligated, and failed, to provide Chxistopher Stoller with sewer and water
services for a different piece of property that he already owned. Id. at 47-
49, Although Plaintiffs assert that all named defendants are a part of a
criminal enterprise, Plaintiffs seek differert forms of relief from different
defendants. See id. at 24-50. Because there are almost as wmany pending
motions as there are defendants in this case, the Court will expound on the
relevant facts ag it addresses each dispositive motion.
2. THE WALWORTH COUNTY DEFENDANTS

2.1.  Relevank Factst

The Walworth County Defendants include Walworth County,
Valerie Btzel ("Btzel”), Randy Timms, William Norem, Tim Brellenthin,
Paul Yvarra, Charlene Staples, Kathy Ingersoll, David Weber, Danfel
Kilkermy, Susan Pruessing, Kenneth Monroe, and Nancy Russell. Htzel is

b

neither Leo Stoller nor Michael Stoller owned property in Walworth County, nor
submitted bids for the properties at issue in this ce se. However, because the Court
can expeditiously dispose of all of Plaintiffs’ daims against all Defendants, the
Couwrt doss not addrass this potential standing tssue.

*Although Plaintiffs did not submit their own proposed findmgs of fact,
nor object to the Walworth County Defendants’ Proposed Findings of Fact,
(Docket £77), Plaintiffs did submit a signed complalnt, (Docket #36). Accordingly,
the facts below are taken from Defendants’ Proposed Findings of Fact, (Docket
¥77), to the extent they are supported by admissible evidence, and the operative
sworn complaint, (Docket #36). See Ford v. Wilson, 90 F.3d 246, 24647 (7th Clr,
1996) (The court can construe a swomn complaint as an affidavit at the summary
judgment stage.).
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the Treasurer of Walworth County and she held that position during the
time period relevant to this case. The other individuals were members of
the Walworth County Board of Supervisors (the “Board. of Supervisors”) in
2017. At that time, Nancy Russell, Daniel Kilkenny, Kathy Ingersoll, Paul
Yvarra, and William Norem were also a part of the Walworth County
Finance Cammittee (the “Finance Commiuée”),

As Treasurer, Etzel was respcmsible for managing activities related
to tax appraisals and sales, which she carried out in accordance with the
statutory process outlined in Wisconsin Statutes section 75.69(1). If a county
acquires tax delinquent real estate, section 75.69(1) requires that the county
édve:tise the sale and appraised'vaiue of the applicable real estate in
accordance with Wisconsin Statutes chapter 985, Section 75.69 explicitly
states that *[a]ny county may accept the bidimOSt advantageous tc it but, at
the first _attemp-t to sell the propesty, every bid (ess than the appraised value
of the property shall be rejected.” Subsection 75.69(1) defines “appraised
value” as “the value determined, at the discretion of the county board, by
the county board, a committeé designated by the county board, or a
certified appraiser, as defined in s. 458.01(7).”

In July 2017, Bizel prepared a report, {Docket #65-1), which showed
that Walworth County took ownership of various tax delinguent .
properties. Walworth County has procedures both for establishing the
value of foreclosed property and for the bidding process. The property
appraisals typically are based upon the property’s assessed value, taxes,
and fees owed. After obtaining foreclosed properties, Walworth County
notifies ad.j_acmt landowners in the event those landowners have any

interest in bidding on the adjacent, foreclosed property.
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Eizel presented her report to fhe Walworth County Finance
Committee in  July - 2017 and the Copunittee approved her
- recommendations. Her report encompassed the three parcels at issue in this
case: Tax Key Nos. JLCB 00986 (appraised value of $11,400); JLCB 02054
- {appraised vahse of $11,400); and FDLA 00208 (appraised value of $10,650}.
 (Docket #65-1 at 1). According to Etzel's report, these pazcels were all
appraised at less than fifty percent of the assessed faix market value, 2, |
" In accordance with the County's bidding process, Etzel notified
Christopher Stoller, via letter, that Walworth County had taken title to
parcel Tax Key No. JLCB 00986 and that the land’s appraised value was
$11,400. (Docket #65-4). Parcel Tax Key No. JLCB Q0986 is adjacent to
Christopher Stoller’s property; according to tax records, neither Leo Stoller
nor Michael Stoller owned any property in Walworth County in 2017
Plaintiffs state that this lot “has value only to the Plaintiff because the lot
borders the Plaintiff's property” and “has a hpossible value of $2,500.00, only
to the adjacent property holder, the Plaintffs.” (Docket #36 at 21). They
argue, without providing any evidence, that the appraised value of $11,400
is incorrect and illegitimate. Id. However, Plaintiffs do not provide any
gupport for their valuation other than & statement that “the delinquent veal
estate taxes on the lot. . . were abouf $2,700.00." Id. at 22.

The County’s established bidding instructions made clear that
“{eJarnest money of 20% of .the_ bid [amount} is required u'pon bid
subrmission,” and that “{pjursuant to Wisconsin State Statute 75.69, at tl_xe
fizst attemnpt to sell the property, the county musi reject every bid that is less
than the appraised value of the property.” (Docket #36-1 at 34, #65-2}. On
August 24, 2017, Christopher Stoller submitted bids of $2,500 for each of the
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three aforementioned paréels. {Docket #65-5). However, he failed to include
the required- earnest money for any of the three bids.

At their Septernber 14, 2017 meeting, (Docket #65-6 at 2), the
Walworth County Finance Committee rejected each of Chrjstopher Stoller’s
bids against the backdrop of the “2017 County Owned Property” report,
(Docket#65-7). Christopher Stoller received three letters, dated September
14, 2017, inforpning him that his bids were not accepted because they were
less than the appraised value and failed to include the required earnest
money deposit. (Docket #65-8). Aside from the wntten commumnications
from the Treasurer’s office to Christopher Stoller, neither Etzel, nor the
Board of Supervisors, nor the Finance Committee knew of or had any
discussions with Flaintiffs. Further, none of the Walworth: County
'Defendants knew any of Plaintiffs’ ages or medical conditions.

| Plaintiffs assert eight claims for relief as to the Walworth County
Def&ﬁd@ts. On November 20, 2019, the Walworth County Defendants -
answered &1&: Proposed Second Corrected Amended Complaint. (Docket
#39). On February 25, 2020, the Walworth County Defendants filed a motion
for jﬁdgmgnt on the pleadings and for summary judgment. (Docket #62,
#66, #78). Plaintiffs had until March 17, 2020 to respond to this motiony
however, they did not do so. Instead, Plaintiffs have filed several motions
in an effort to diséua!ify the Walworth County Defendants” counsel. See,
e.g., (Docket #88, #113, #130). |

22, Legal Standard _

The Walworth County Defendands seek both judgment on the
pleadings or, in the altexnative, summary judgment. Because the Court is
obliged to consider materials outside of the pleadings, the Court will
analyze these motions under the rubric of summary judgment, as it must
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pursuant to Rule 12(d).5 Browrm_:mk Films, LLC 0. Cnénedg Partners, 800 F.
Supp. 2d 991, 998 (.. Wis; 2011), (“Ordinarily, courts may not rely upon
materials outside of the pleadings when c&nsi&emmg 2 protion to dismiss . .
without converting the motion to one for surnmary judgment.”) (citing Fed.

R. Civ. P. 12(d)).

Pursuant to Rule 56, the Court “shall grant summary judgment if the
movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and
the movant is entitled io judgoaent as a matter of law.” Ped. R. Civ. P. S6a);
Boss v. Crstro, 816 F.3d 910, 916 (7th Cir. 2016). A fact is “material” if #t

| “raight affect the outcome of the sult” under the applicable substantive law.
Anderson . Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). A dispute of fact is
”gemzine“ if “the evidence ig such that a reasonable jury could‘rei:am a
verdict for the nonmoving party.” Id The Court construes all facts and
reasonable infexen ceé in the light most favorable 1o the non-movant, Bridge
v, New Holland Loganspori, Inc., 815 F.33 356, 360 (7th Cir. 2016}.
2.3,  Analysis ‘
_ ;);.3,1. First Claim for Relief
" Plaintiffs allege that the Walworth County Defendants violated the
Racketeer Inﬂuenced and Corrupt Organizations Act ("R}CO”), speﬂ&caﬂy
1BUSC§ 1962(c). Pex § 1962(c):

filt shall be wnlawful for any person employed by or
asgociated with any enterprise engaged in, or the activities of
which affect, interstate or foreign coramerce, to conduct or
participate, divectly ov indirectly, in the conduct of such

I, on a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) or 12(c), matters outside the pleadings
are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion must be ireated as one
for sumimary judgment under Rule 56.7 Fed, R, Civ, P. 12(d).
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enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity
or collection of unlawful debt.

To establish a cause of action under .RICO, a plaintiff must plead “{1}
an injury in its business or property {2) by reason of (3) the defendants’
violation of section 1962.” DeGuelle v, Comilli, 864 F£3d 192, 198 (7th Cir.

© 2011): To prove a violation of § 1962(c) the plaintiff must prove *(1) conduct
(2) of an enterprise {3) through a pattern of racketeering activity.” United
States v. Shamah, 624 ¥.3d 449, 454 (7th Cir. 2010).
| According  to  Plaintiffs’ complaing, the Walworth County
Defendants engaged in wire and mail fraud, which are two types of
“racketeering activities” as defined by 18 US.C. § 1961(1). Plaintiffs “maust
show a triable issue of fact on the elemends” of mail or wire fraud, which
means that they must show: (1) the defendanis’ participation in a scheme
to defraud; {2) the defendants’ intent to defraud; and (3) the defendants’ use
of the mail or interstate wire in furtherance of the scheme to defraud. Corley
v. Rosewood Care Ctr., Inc. of Peoria, 388 E.3d 990, 1005 (7th Cir. 2004); see also
United States v. Brition, 289 F.3d 976, 981 (7th Cir. 2002) (elements of mail
fraud); \Hﬁéted States v. Turner, 551 F.34 657, 664 (7th Cir. 2008) (elements of
wire fraud), The words “to defraud” mean "wronéing one in his property
rights by dishonest methods or schemes” and "usually signify the
deprivation of something of value by trick, deceit, chicane or
ovarreaching.” Corley, 388 F.3d at 1005 (quotation omitted).

There are 1o genuine disputes of material fact with regard to
whether the Walworth County Defendants engaged in a pattern—let alone
a single act-- of rackateeriﬁg activity. The eviderce before the Court amply

demonstrates that Htzels acts as Treasurer, as well as the Finance

Cormittee’s actions, were not taken as part of any scheme or attempt fo
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defraud, but rather_ were in full accord with Wisconsin Statutes section
75.69.

The Court notes that even if there was a genuine issue of material fact
as to whether the defendanis engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity,
Plaintiffs cannot establish a cause of action under RICO. To do so, Plaintiffs

must plead injury in business or property by reason of the Walworth
County Defendants’ actions. DeGuelle, 664 F.3d at 198 Chzistopher Stoller's
alleged injury is that he did not acquire the three aforementioned parcels.

- Asswring, %-viihout determining, that this constitutes an injury, this injury
was not caused by the Walworth County Defendants. Christopher Stolier
bid approximately one-third of the appraised value on each of the
properties he was interested in and alse failed to submit the earnest money
deposit. If his injury is that ke did niot take title to this property, he only has
himself to blame. Plaintiffs’ 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) claim will be dismissed.

2.3.2. Second Claim for Relief

Although unclear, it appears that Plaintiffs alse allege that the
Walworth County Defendants violated 18 US.C. § 1962(d). Per § 1962, it is
“unlawful for any person to conspire to viclate any of the provisions of
I8 196@{@]3‘ To state a viable § 1962(d) claim, Plaintiffs “must allege (1) that
each defendant agreed to maintain an interest in or control of an enterprise
or to pariicipate in the affairs of an enlerprise through a pattern of
racketeering activity ‘and (2}. that each defendant further agreed that

someone would commit at least two predizate acts to accomplish thc:sg
goals.” Goren v, New Vision Int'l, Inc, 156 F2d 721, 732 (7t Cig, 1998) .
(footnote omitted), ‘

In one part of Plaintiffs" complaint, Plaintiffs Jist afl of the named

defendants as “Members of the Enterprise,” while in another, Flaintiffs
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state that the “RICO enterprise” includes only Walworth County and the
Walworth Cnunt}? Defendants. (Docket £36 at 1012, 24, Regérdless, there
are no genuine issues of material fact. Assurning that any configuration of
defendants made up an enterprise, there is no evidence in the record of any
agreements to participate in a pattern of racketeering activity. There is also
ro evidence that each defendant agreed that someone would engage in
fraudulent, predicate acts. Etzel independandly prepared a report of
appraised, tax delinquent properties. Her dealings with ti‘ae Finance
Committee involved attending two meetings, one in July and another in
September of 2017, Her actions at those meetings comported with the
requirements of Wisconsin Statutes section 75.69. Plaintiffs have not
proffered any evidence to the contrary, Further, Chuistopher Stoller's
failure to bid the appropriate amount and his failure to submit the earnest
money depdsits are the reasons for his alleged injury, Therefore, Plainkiffs’
§ 1962(d) claim will be dismissed.
2.3.3. Third Claim for Relieff

Plaintiffs claim that the Walworth County Defendants violated the
state unfair a:ompeﬁticn law. The Court assumes that this is in reference to
Wisconsin Statutes section 100.20(1), which states that “[u]nfair methods of
competition in business and unfair trade practices in business are hereby
prohibited.” Notably, “no private cause of action exsts under § 100.20,

except for violation of an order issued by the Department [of Agriculture,

‘Plaintiffs’ third through eighth claims for relief allege Wisconsin state law
claims against the Walworth County Defendants. The Walworth County
Defendants argue that these claims are prechuded due to state law immunity and

~ Plaintiffe’ failure to comply with the notice requirements provided in Wisconsin
Statuies section 893.80(1d). Because Plaintiffs’ state law claims fail as 2 matter of
law, the Court does not address questions of inununity or notice.
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Trade and Consumer Protection] under [sectioh 100.201." En:mrgency One,

Inc. v. Waterous Co., Inc., 23 . Supp. 2d 959, 971 (E.D. Wis. 1998) (citing
section 100.20(5)). Therxe is no evidence in the record of an order from the
Department of Agriculture, Trade and Consumer Protection to the
Walworth County Defendants, nor is there evidence of the Walworth
County Defendants violating the same. Therefore, Plaintiffs’ third claim for
relief is wholly without merit and will be dismissed.
2.34. F¥ourth Claim for Relief

Plaintiffs claim that the Walworth County Defendants have been
unjustly enviched. To prevail, Plaintiffs must prove three elements: “(1) 2
benefit conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff, (2) appreciation by
the defendant of the fact of such benefit, (3) acceptance and retention by the
defendant of the benefit, under circumstances such that it would be
inequitable to retain the benefit without payment of the value thereof.”
Seegers v, Sprague, 236 N.W.Zd 227, 230 (Wis. 1975) (citation omitted).
Because there s no evidence that Plaintiffs conferred a benefit—monetary

or otherwise—on the Walworth County Defendants, Plaintiffs’ unjust

_ enrichment claim faile as a matter of law. Plaintiffs’ four&t claim for relief

will be dismissed. _
2.3.5. Fifth Claip for Relief
Plaintiffs claim that the Walworth County Defendants committed

violations against elderly or disabled persons under Wisconsin Statutes

section 100.264. Pursuant to section 100.264(2), “[ilf a fine or forfeiture is
imposed on a person” for vinlating any of the state statutes enumerated

therein, “the person shall be subject to a supplemental forfeiture . . . for that

violation if the conduct by the defendant, for which the violation was

imposed, was perpetrated against an elderly person or disabled
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person ... .7 I, for example, the Walworth County Defendants had
violated Wisconsin Statutes section 100.20, or the Wisconsin Deceptive
.Tra.de Practices Act, Wisconsin Statutes section 100.18, see infra Secmn
2.3.6., the Walworth County Defendants could have been subjected to an
additional fine. However, the Court cannof impose an initial fine on the
Walworth County Defendants because there is no evidence that the they
violated either section 100.18 or section 100.20, Therefore, the Court need
not further address the question of whether it must impose a
“gupplemental” forfeiture or fine under secion 100.264. Plaintiffs’ ffth
claim for velief will be dismissed.
2.3.6. Bixth Claim for Relief
Plaintiffs allege that the Walworth County Defendanis have violated
the state “deceptive trade practices act,”. Wis, Stat, section 100.18. (Docket
#36 at 32-33). To state a claim under the Wisconsin Uiecepiive Trade
Practices Act (“WDTPA"), Plaintiffs must show that (1) the defendant made
a rejaresentation to the public with the intent to induce an obligation; (2} the
representation was unirue, deceplive, or misleading; and (3) the
representation materially induced (caused) a pecuniary loss to the plaintiff
Blitz v. Monsanto Co., 317 ¥. Supp. 3d 1042, 1052 (W.D. Wis, 2018).
Etzel’s representations as to the values of the property did not induce

~ an obligation. Purther, the listed appraisal values in the record were neither

YFor there to be a violation under Wisconstn Statutes section 100.264, the
Court must also find that the Walworth County Defendants “knew or should have
known” that their “conduct was perpetrated against [} elderly or disabled
persons],” and that such conduct caused the Plaindiffs to suffer any of the
statutorily enuenerated harms. See Wis, Stat. section 100.264(2){a), (2)(b). Because
the Walworth County Defendants did not violate any of the statutes lsted in
section 100.262(2), the Court need not engage in further analysis with regard to
subsections 100.264(2)(a} and 100.264{2)(b}.
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unteue, nor deceptive, nor rhisleagiing. In fact, the listed appraisal values
were less than the agsessed fair market values, Plaintiffs provide no support
for their determination as to the value of the parcels at issue, Even if Btzel's
representation was untrue, deceptive, or misleading, Plaintiffs did not
suffer a pecunjary loss as the result of this representation. Christopher
Stoller never paid any money te Walworth County in connection with his
bidding on the three parcels. As such, Plaintiffs do not make out a prima
facia WDTPA claim against the Walworth Cauﬂ{y Defendants. Plaintiffs’
WDTPA claim will be dismissed.
| 2.3.7. .Seventh Clalm for Relief
Plaintiffs assert that the Walworth County Defendants owed them a
fiduciary duty and breached that duty. To state a claim for fiduciary duty,
~ Plaintiffs must establish that ”(1) the defendant owed the plaintiff a
fiduciary duty; (2) the defendant breached that duty; and (3) the breach
caused the plaintiff’ s damage.” Berner Cheese Corp. v, Krug, 752 N.W.2d 800,
809 (Wis. 2008}, Under Wisconsin law, a fiduciary duty atises when “the
relationship is created by contract or a formal legal telationship such as
principél_ and agent, attorney and client, trust and trusiee, guardian anﬁ
ward” or when the relationship is “implied in law due to the factual
situation swrrounding the transactions and relationships of the parties to
each other and to the transactions in question.” Jackson p. McKay»Dmisl
Funeral Home, Inc., 830 F. Supp. 2d 635, 648 (E.D. Wis, 2011).
There is wa evidence on the record to support the creation of a
fiduciary duty between any of the Walworth County Defendants, neither
- collectively nor individually, and any of the Plaintiffs. Even if there was
evidence of a fiduciary duty, Plaintiffs have not been damaged. Plaintiffs’
breach of fidugiary cleirn will be dismissed.
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2.3.8. Eighth Claim for Relief

Lastly, Plaintiffs daim that the Wah%rorth County Defendants and an
unknown cchort of Walworth County employees and agents, “John Does
1«;18,” aided and abetted and conspired together to deffaud Plaintiffs.
Under Wisconsin law, to establish civil conspiracy, Plaintiffs must aﬁege
“(1) [thhe formation and operation of the conspiracy; (2) the wrongful acts
or acts done pursuant thereto; and (3} the damage resulting from such act
or acts.” City of Milwaukee v. NL Indus, Inc, 691 N.W.2d 888, 896 (Wis. Ct,

- App. 2005). As wentioned above, Plaintiffs have not been demaged.
Further, they have not put forth any evidence of the formation of a
conspiracy between Etzel, the Finance Committee, and/or any members of
the Board of Supervigors. Bven if there was evidence of a conspiracy—

" which there is not--there is no evidence of any wrongful acts. Again, Etzel
and the Pinance Commitiee took actions pursuant to Wiscongin Statutes
section 75.69. Complying with state law is not a wrongful act. Therefore,
Plaintiffs’ state law civil conspiracy theory of liability fails.

Plaintiffy’ aidlirig and abetting claim is subject to a similar fate. To be
liable in tort for aiding and abetting, a person must (1) undertakef] conduct
that as a matter of objective fact aids another in the commission of a crime;

| and (2) [that] person corsciously desires or intends that his conduct will
yield such assistance.” Winslow o. Brown, 371 NJW2d 417, 422 (Wis. Ct.
App. 1985). There is no evidence before the Court that any of the Walworth
County Defendants, nor the unidentified John Does, committed any
unlawful acts. Therefore, any alleged assistance from one Walworth
County Defendant to another to carry out lawful actions pursuant o section

75.69 would have been perfectly acceptable. The Court dismdsses this claim
for relief,
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24. Conglusion
Based on the foregoing, the Court grants the Walworth Coﬁnt‘y
Defendants’ amended motion for summary judgment, (Docket #66), and
 denies their initial motion for summary judgment, (Docket #62.;); as moot.
All claims against the Walworth County Defendants will be dismissed.®
3,  THE WISCONSIN STATE DEFENDANTS
3.1 Relevant Facts
Plaintiffs named both Governor Anthony Steven Evers (“Governor
Bvers”) in his offictal capacity and the State of Wisconsin as defendants
(collectively, the “Wisconsin State Defendants”). (Docket #36 at 1).
Plaintiffs” gﬁevam:e against Govemor Hvers an& the State of Wisconsin is
that Wisconsin Statutes section 75.69, “Sale of tax delinquent real estate,” is
unconstitutional. Id, at 45-46.
| 3.2, Motion for Defauli
On March 31, 2020, Plaintiffs filed a motion for entry of default
against Governor Evers. (Docket #102). Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(a),
“lwlhen a party against whom a judgment for affirmative relief is sought
has failed to plead or otherwise defend, and that failure is shown by
affidavit or otherwise, the clerk must enter the party’s default,” The Court
acknowledges that neither Governor Evers nor anyone on behalf of the
State of Wisconsin has appeared in this case; however, that is because
Plaintiffs did not properly serve these defendants.
Federal and Wisconsin law address how one must serve the state and

state officials. A state “must be served” by either “delivering a copy of the

~ ®Because, to date, the Plaintiffs have not identified the John Doe defendants
and for the reasons discussed in Section 2.3.8,, the Court also dismisses this claim
as to the John Doe defendants,
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summons and of the complaint to its chief executive officer{] or serving a
copy of each in the manner prescribed by that state’s law for serving a
summohs or Jike process ot such a defendant.” Fed. R, Civ. P. 4(j)(2). Under
Wisconsin étamtes section 801;1 1(3}, service can be made “[u)pon the state, |
.by delivering a copy of the summons and of the complaint to the aftorney

| general or leaving them at the attorney general's office in the capitol with
an assistant or cla;rkf Se also State Dep't of Transp. v, Peterson, 581 NNW.2d
539, 540 (Wis. Ci. App. 1998) {“[Section 801.11] provides that service on the
State is acﬁomplisheti by service upon the attorney general.”).

Plaintiffs assert that they served a copy of the complaint and
summons on Covernor Fvers on October 24, 2019, (Docket 4102 at 9). As
“proof” of such service, Plaintitfs attach a copy of a “Green Card Rebuun
Card” Postal Service Form 3811; which indicates that the complaint and
summons were sent by certified mail. [d. Plaintiffs also state that they sent
another copy to the Wisconsin Attorney General's office. Id, It is clear that
such service is improper as to Govemor Evers and the State of Wisconsin,

_ Shah o. Wis, Dep’t of Transp,, Civil ﬁc. 09-6441 (AET), 2010 WL 2640210 at *1
_(DN.L Tune 28, 2010) (*[Slervice by e-mall, fax, or mail is niot provided for

- in either Rule 4(j}(2) or the applicable state statute.”); Rabi{'zsoﬂ 1. Iﬂknsa}:,
No. 07C0606, 2007 WL 3025768, at *1 (E.D, Wis. Oct. 15, 2007). Because
service was improper, Governor Bvers had “no obligation to respond to the
complaint.” Rowe v. Davis, 373 E. Supp. 2d 822, 824 (N.D. Ind. 2005). The
ICourt denies Plaintiffs” motion for entry of default (Docket #102).

3.3. Dismissal of Claims Agrinst the Wisconsin State
Defendante

At thia juncture the Court also finds it prudent to disraiss, sua sponte,

Plaintiffs’ claims against the Wisconsin State Defendants.
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3.3.1. Legal Standard

The Seventh Circuit has held that “[slua sponte 12{b}6) dismissals are
permitied, provided that a sufficient basis for the court’s action is evident
from the plaintiff's pleading,” Shield Tech, Corp. v. Pavadigm Positioning, LLC,
908 F. Supp. 2d 914, 917(N.D. Il 2012) {quoting Ledford v. Sullivan, 105 F.3d
354, 356 (7th Cir. 1997)). “The purpose of a Rule 12(b}{6) motion tc; dismiss
is to test the sufﬁcﬁiency of the complaint, not to resolve the case on the
merits. Shield Tech. Corp., 908 B. Supp. 2d. at 917 {citing 58 Charles Alan
Wright & Arthur R, Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1356, a1 354 (3d

‘ed. 2004)).

To staie a cognizable claim under the frderal notice pleading system
the plaintiff is required to provide a “short and plain statement of the claim
showing that '_{h_e} is entitled to relief].]” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8{a)(2). 1t is not

‘necessary for the plaintiff to plead specific facts, and his statement need
only “give the defendant fair notice of what the . . . claim is and the grounds
wpon which it rests.” Bell A, Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S, 544, 555 (2007)
{quoting Conley v. Gibson, 3551).6. 41, 47 (1957)). However, a complaint that
offers “labels and conclusions” or a “formulaic recitation of the elements of
a cause of action will not do.” Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 11.5, 662, 678 (2009)
{quoting Twombly, 550 US. at 555} To state a cdlaim, a complaint must
contain sufficient factual matter that, accepted as true, “is plausible on its
face.” I, {quoting Twombly, 550 U.5, at 570). ”A claim has facial plausibility
when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to dvaw the

_ reasoﬁablé' inference that the defendant is Hable for the misconduct

| aileged."' Id. (citing Twombly, 550 U.5. at 556). The compilaint allegatioﬁs

“must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level.”

Twombly, 550 U5, at 555 (citaﬁoﬁ omitted). In considering whether a
Page 17 of 29

Case Z:17-cv-01345-3PS  Filed 07/02/20 Page 37 of 28 Document 143
Case 2:17-¢cv-01349-JPS  Filed 07/07/20 Page 17 of 32 Document 146-1




Case: 20-2204  Document: 26 Filed: 02/22/2021  Pages: 163

cbmplaint states a claim, courts should follow the principles set forth in
Twombly by, first, “identifying pleadings that, because they are no.more |
than conclugions, are not entitled to the assumption of truth.” febal, 556 U.S.
at 679, Legal conclusions must be supported by factual allegations. Id. i’
there are well-pleaded factual allegations, the court should, second,
“assume their veracity and then determine whether they plausibly give rise
to an entitlement to relief.” Id,
| 332 Analysis
Plaintiffs baldly assert that Wisconsin Statute section 75.60 ia
unconstitutional “on the grounds that it is vague, promotes illegal conduct,
violates the frst, fifth and fourteen [sic] amendments of the US.
.Comtitution,” {Docket #36 at 46). Flaintiffs atiempt {0 expound on seme of
these allegations, but to no avall. For example, with regard to the statute’s
alleged vagueness, Plaintiffs state that “[t]he vagueness pervades the
statute . . . to make the entire stabute invalid. Especially as it relates to the
obligations of the Counties [sic) to obtain valid appraisals.” Id. Similazly,
* Plaintiffs allege:

that the statute violated their equal protection rights on the
basis that, because there was no rational relationship befween
the Statute [sic] and any legitimate government objective, the
only discermible purpose was to give the Counties an
incentive to foreclose on its ciiizens [sic] tax delinquent
property in order to re sell [sic] that property not for the back
taxes, but for inflated market values besed wpon phony
appraisals.

14. Lastly, Plaintiffs “argue that the statute promobes an unauthorized use
of the police power 1o seize citizen's property in viclation of due process,”

H.
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Iheée assertions will not do, as they are both unclear and void of
factual éllegations._}?or example, Plaintiffs assert that the statute in question
viclates the First Amendment. But Plaintifts’ complaint does not specify the
First Amendment right at issue, nor provide any facts to support this
assertion. _

Plaintiffs” Fifth Amendment claim is also hopelessly vague.
Assuming that Plaintiffs explained that this statute was unconstitutional
pursuant to the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment—which théy did
not-—Plaintiffs must have pled that “(1) they have a property interest
protected by the Fifth Amendment, (2) the [statute] effected a taking of that
interest, (3) the taking was for public use, and (4) the state did not provide
just compensation.” Joe Sanfelippe Cabs Inc. 0. City of Milwgiukee, 148 B. Supp.
34 808, 811 (BD. Wis. 2015) (footnote omitted) (viting Ruckelshaus o.
Monsanto Co., 467 U.S. 986, 1000-U1 (1984)). Plaintiffs’ Fourteenth
Amendment claims are just as sparse and, therefore, fare no better. .

' 3.3.3. Conclusion

The Court refuses to scour Plaintiffs’ complaint any futther, Seeing
that they have not met the federal pleading standard in the slightest, the
Court dismdsses Count 9, sua spente, agabnst the Wisconsin State
Defendants.

4  THECOMO PROPERTY OWNERS

41, Relevant Facls

Defendants Tronald J. Crowley and Diana 5. Crowley are the current
owners of parcel Tax Key No. JL.CB 00985. (Docket #36 at 11). The Delevan
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. Lake Assermnbly? is the current owner of parcel Tax Key Mo, FDLA {16203 Id.
Plaintiffs allege that these defendants, along with several current and
‘former members of the Delevan Lake Assembly’s Board of Directors,” are
“Members of the [RICO] Enterprise.” Id. Although allegedly a part of this
enterprise, the complaint does not mention these defendants (hereinafter,
the “Como Property Owners”) again until Count Eleven, “Claim for Relief
Quiet Title.” Id. at 49~50. The Como Property Owners have filed separate
12(b)}(6) motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim, (Docket #56, £80).

42, Legal Standard |

The Court has already discussed the pleading standard required to
survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion. See Section 3.3.1. supra, Although unclear,
because Plaintiffs may. be bringing a RICO complaint against the Comeo
Property | Owners, the Court notes thai, in a civil RICO complaint
“[ajllegations of fraud . .. are subject to the heightened pleading standard
of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b), which requires a plaintiff to plead
‘al} averments of fraud . . . with particalarity.” Goren v. New Vision Int'l, Inc.,
156 £.3d ?‘21, 726 (7th Cir. 1998) (quoting Fed. R, Civ. P. 3(bj). In other
words, the coraplaint must describe the ;‘w]:1e, what, when, where, and

how” of the alleged fraud, Wigod v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A, 673 ¥.3d 547, 569 -
{7th Cir, 2012),

_ YPaintiffs incorrectly refer to the Delevan Lake Maembl.y, and its current
- and past Board members, as the "Douglass Lake Assembly.” (Docket #36 at 1,
Docket 480 at 1). The Court directs thal the docket be corrected accordingly.

"Those members incudé Mithael Comnolly, Steven Schamidt, Henry
Rackdewicz, and Bill Winters.
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4.3, Analysis

The only factual statement regarding the Como Property Owners in
the complaint is that the Como Property Owners currently own the parcels
that Christopher Stoller bid on. {Docket §36 at 49). That is all. Plaintiffs’

: ailegatiohs against the Como Property Ownus do not meet the pleading
standard under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 8(a), much less the
heightened pleading standard of Rule 9(b).

Donald Crowley and Diana Crowley point ont that they are named
as the “Como i’roperty Cwmers” on the first page of the complaint but are
later referred to as the “Como Defendants.” (Docket #36 at 11). Because the
allegations in Count 10 are against the “Como Defendants,” for good
measure, the Crowley's 12(b}(6) moton also addresses Count 10, In Count
10, Plaintiffs allege that the Como Defendants agreed to, but did not, bring
water and sewer services to Christopher Stoller’'s property. Id. at 47-48.
Plaintiffs seek “Specific Performance” from the Como Defendants. Id. at 47.
Plaintiffs do not include any mention of either the Crowleys or the Lake
Delevan: Assemnbly in Count 10 of their complaint. If Flaintiffs meant to
bring Count 10 against the Como Property Owners, they did not dosoina
way that comports with the federal pleading requirements.

44 Conclusion

Because Plaintiffs have failed to sufficlently plead any cause of action
against ﬂxe Como Property Owners, the Court grants the Como Property
Owmers’ respective 12(b)(6) motions to dismiss, (Docket §56, #80).
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5. THESANITARY DISTRICT DEFENDANTS

51, Relevant Facts"

Flaintiffs bring Count 10 of their complaint against the Lake Como
Wisconsin Sanitary District, Gary Duffy, Ron Sojka, Joe Roberts, and Rich
Scholze (collectively, the “Sanitary District Defendants”). Plaintiffs allege
that in 2017 they “made a demand” on the Sanitary District Defendants to
bring sewer and water to Christopher Stoller’s property in Lake Geneva,
Wisconsin for “no additional charge.” (Docket #36 at 47-48). Plaintiffs
further assert that for the past two years, the Sanitary District has refused
to do 50, rendering Christopher Stoller’s home “unlivable.” Id, at 47. In their
complaint, Plaintiffs insert an e-mail, dated Friday, July 14, 2017, between
Ray Sejtz {“Seitz") the former District Manager of the Lake Como Sanitary
District No. 1, and Christopher “Nick”# Stoller. Id, at 48, In his e-mail, Seitz
explained that he iz going to “make up a dr-awing” and asks Christopher
Stoller if he is “still planning on providing a sewer lateral sketch?” 14,

Plaintiffs provided.the Court with only an excerpt of the e-mail
exchange; fortunately, Gary Duffy {("Duffy”), the current President of the
Lake Como Sanitary District No., 1, included the entire e-mail conversation,

"Because Plaintiffs have not filed their proposed findings of fact, and
because the Sanitary Distrlet Defendants filed their proposed tindings of fact
several months after they filed their initial motion for surnmary judgment, (Docket
146, #98), the Court shall treat Plaintiffs’ sworn complaint, {Docket #36), and the
Sanitary District Defendanis’ sworn affidavits in support of their mation for
summary judgment, {Docket §48-#51), as staternents of fact to the extent they are
supported by credible evidence. See Ford 0, Wilson, 90 R.3d 246, 246-47 (7th Clr.
1996) (The couxt can construe & swormn complaint as an affidavii at the SUMmMary
judgment stage.).

At ane point in this e-mail exchange, Christopher Stoller addressed
himself ag “C. Nick Stoller,” and Seitz referred to him as “Nick” ghroughout.
{Docket §51 at 4-5). :
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See (Docket #51 at 4-8). On June 26, 2017, Christopher Stoller sent an e-mail
to several recipients affiliated with the Town of Geneva, Wisconsin. Id. at 8.
- In this e-mail, he requested that the Town of Geneva assist hirn in bringing
‘water and sewer to the property. Jd. Although he indicated that it was a
“financial hardship” to pay for the extension, he did not ask for such
services to be provided free of charge. Id. The Chairman of the Town of
Geneva, Joe Kopecky, forwarded this e-mail to Seitz and Duffy. Id. at 1, 7.
| According to a June 26, 2017 e-mail, Seitz, Christopher Stoller, and
Christopher Stoller's contractor had recently discussed Stofler’s proposed
water main extension project. Id. at 5. In this e-mail, Seitz twice referred to
costs associated with the project. Id. After not hearing from Christopher
Stoller for a couple of weeks, Seitz sent a follow up e~mail on July 13, 2017,
Id. Christopher Stoller replied, thaniing Seitz and asking him for a list of
the items he needed in preparation of a "Cémnﬁasicm” meeting. Id. at 4,
Seitz's reply is the same e-mail that Plaintiffs produced in their complaint.
To reiterate—this e-mail doeg not mention costs or the waiver thereof. Id.
Seitz affirms that he will have a preliminary drawing and asks if
Christopher Stoller will provide a sketch. Jd. In the subsequent e-mail,
Christopher Stofler apologizes for the delay and then asks someone named
Mark, included on the e-mail, to prepare a sketch, Id. Aside from these
comumunications between Seitz and Christopher Stoller, none of the named
Sanitary District Defendants had any communications with Plaintiffs.
{Docket #48 at 2, #49 at 1, #50 at 1, #51 at 2).
Duffy also submitted a copy of two Lake Como Sanitary Distﬁct No.
1 policies; Policy #1-98, “Relating to Future Sewer Main Extensions™ and
' Policy #2-98, “Relating to Puture Water Main Extensions.” (Docket #51 at 9~
18). Both policies make clear that applicants for such extensions are not only
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responsible for the application fees but also must “pay all costs determined

allocable to applicant by the Comumission, including all costs associated

with road opening, construction or recomstruction necessitated by the
| extension.” Id. at %10, 14~15.

Plaintiffs request both specific pesformance and damages. Id, On
Jarsary 30, 2020, the Sanitary District Defendants filed a motion for
judgment on the pleadings and for summary judgment. {Docket #46).2° On

- February 20, 2020, this Court granted Plaintiffs’ motion for extension,
giving Plaintiffs untl March 10, 2020 to respond. (Docket #58). To date,
Plaintiffs have not filed a regponse. The Sa.nita:ry District Defendants later
filed an amended motion for judgment on the pleadings and for aummary
judgment, (Docket £99), and their Proposed Findings of Pact, (Dacket #98).

©t appears to the Court that the Sanitary District Defendants have been
improperly joined in this action. “Persons . . . may be joined in one action as
defendants if any right to relief is asserted against them jointly, severally, or in the
alternative with respect to or arising out of the same Wansaction, occurrence, or
series of transactions or occwrrences]] and any question of law or fact common fo
all defendants will arise in the action.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 2i{a){2}. Although "[tthe
rules are broad,” the Seventh Circuit has made dear that “[unrelated claims
againat different defendants belong in different suits.” UWM Student Ass'n v.
Lovell, 888 F.9d 854, 863 (7th Cir. 2018) (quoting Gevrge v. Smith, 507 ¥.3d 605, 607
(7th Cir. 2007)). Pleintiffs’ allegations against the Sanitary District Defendants
pertain to the property Christopher Stoller already owng, parcel Tax Key No. JLCB
- 00990, not any of the three properties Christopher Stoller bid on, Tax Key Nos.
JLCB 00986, TLCB 20584, and FDLA 00208, Further, there are 1o allegations in
Plaintiffs’ complaint that suggest any relationship between the Sanitary District
Defendants and any of the other defendants, Based on the foregoing, the Cout
determines that the Sanitary District Defendants have not beent propexly joined.
However, because “[t]he proper remedy for [misjoinder] is severance or dismissal
without prejudice, not diemissal with prejudice,” the Court will address the
Senitary District Defendants’ motion, (Docket #4%). Lovell, 888 F.34 at 864.
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5.2. Legal Standard

Because the Court has considered materials outside of the pleadings,
it will treat the Sanitary District Defendants’ motion as a motion for
summary fudgment pursuant to Ruie. 12(d}, The Court previously cutlined
the a'pplic_able legal standard it must use when analyzing a motion for
summary fudgment in Section 2.2, supra, |

3. Amnalysis

Count 10 of Plaintiffs’ complaint appears to allege either.that the
Sanitary District Defendanis pror:nie;ed to .bring sewer and wafer to
Christopher Stoller's property, or that there was a contract between
‘Christopher Stoller and the Sanitary Distect Defendants. The Court
addresses, and dismisses, both daims in hurn, ¢ '

5.3.1. Breach of Contract

“In order that a contract may arise, three things must concur: [flirst,
the offer; second, the acceptance; and, third, the consideration.” Briggs 7.
Miller, 186 NLW. 163, 164 (Wis. 1922). "[Aln offer must be so definite in ifs
terms, or require such definite terms inits acceptancé; that the promises and
performances to be rendered by each party are reasonably certain.”
Farnsworth, McKoane & Co. v. N. Shore Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 504 B. Supp: 673,
676 {E.D. Wis. 1981) (quoting Goebel v, Nat1 Exchangors, Inc., 277 N.W.2d
755, 765 (Wis. 1979). Based on the e-mail exchange with Seitz, Christopher
Stoller requested a sewer and water extension. This request is not an offer.

“Even if it was to be construed as such, there is no evidence of either

WLike the Walworth County Defendants, the Sanitary District Defendants
algo allege these claims are preciuded due to Immunity and Plaintiffs” failure to
comply with the notice requirements provided in Wisconsin Statutes section
893.80(1d). Again, Plaintiffs’ state law claims fail as a matter of law, therefore, the
Court does not address questions of immunity or notice,
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acceptance or consideration. Pusther, none of the communications between
~ Seitz and Christopher Stoller show an offer by the District to provide any
services to Christopher Stoller free of charge. Based on this evidence, there
is no genuine dispute of material fact. Plaintiffs’ claims for breach of
contract will be dismissed.
5.3.2. Promissory Estoppel
“A claim of promissory estoppel involves three elemends: (1)
whether the étemise is one which the promisor should reasonably expect
to induce action or forbearance of a definite and substantial character on
the part of fhe promisee; {2) whether the promise induced such action or
forbearance; and (3) whether injusticel can be avoided only by enforcement
of the promise.” Bicknese v. Sufula, 660 N.W.2d 289, 294 (Wis. 2003).
Plaintiffs have not put forth any evidence indicating that the Sanitary
IDistrict Defendants made them any promises regarding a sewer or water
main extension, much less a promise for an extension at no cost to
Christopher Stoller. The ;ss-mails between Seitz and Christopher Stoller are
- purely preliminary. Rurther, all of the named Sanitary District Defendants
agsert that at no time did they ever, either col‘eétively or individually, have
any condact or commurtications with Plaintiffs. (Docket #48 at 2, #49 at 1,
#50 at 1, #51 at 2). Without communication, there can be no promise; |
without a-promise, there is no daim for promissory estoppel. Plaintiffs’

promissory estoppel claim against the Sanitary Distriet Defendants will be
dismissed.

54. | Conclusion

Seeing that there are no genuine issues of material fact with respect
to either of Plaintiffs’ claims against the Sanitary District Defendants, the
Court will grant the Sanitary Disirict Defendants’ motion for summary
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judgment, (Docket #46). The .Cm;rt will deny the Sanitary District
Defendants’ \m_nended, motion for swmmary judgment, (Docket 459), as
moot.
6. MISCELLANEOUS MOTIONS

Because the Court dismisses all of Plaintiffs’ claims against all
Defendants in this caée, the Court will summarily deny the following
motions by Plaintiﬁs as moot: Dacket #88, £90, #02, £93, §94, 495, #96, ¥104,
¥111, #113, #130, #1321, #136. The Court also grants Diana 5. Crowley and
Doneld J. Crowley's motion o withdraw theix maﬁ’on for sanciions,

(Docket #137), and dendes their initial motion for sanctions as moot, (Do?:ket
#133).

Accordingly,
IT 18 ORDERED that the Lake Como Wisconsin Sanitary ﬁistrict,.
- Gary Duffy, Ron Sojks, Joe Roberts, and Richard Scholze’s motion for
summary judgment, (Docket #46), be and the same is hereby GRANTED;
their amended motion for summary judgment, (Docket #59), be and the
game is hereby DENIED ds mont;

mris FURTHER QRDERED that Donald J. Crowley and Diana 5.
Crowley’s motion to dismiss, (Docket #56);, be and the same is hereby
GRANTED; | |

IT 15 PURTHER ORDERED that the Delevan Lake Assembly,
Michael Connally, Steven Schamidt, Henry Rackiewicz, and Bill Winters’
motion to disiniss, (Docker #80), be and the same is hereby GRANTEL;

IT 15 FURTHER ORDERED that Walworth County, Valerie Ewzel,
Randy Timms, Willlam Norem, Tim Brellenthisi, Paul Ywvarra, Charlene
Staples, ?(athy- Ingersoll, David Weber, Dandel G. Kitkenmy, Susan M.
Pruessing, Kenneth H. Monroe, and Nancy Russell’s aménded motion for
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summary judgment, (Docket #66), be and the same is hereby GRANTED;
their initial motion for summary judgment, (Docket #62), be and the same
is hereby DENIED as mosot;

IT 15 FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffs’ motion for default
against Defendant chémor Arthony Steven BEvers, (Docket #102), be and
thé same is hereby DENIED;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffy claims against
Defendants Governor Anthony Steven Evers and the State of Wisconsin be
and the same are hereby DISMISSED with prejudice;

IT I8 FURTHER ORDERED that Plantiffs’ motion to disqualify
counse] and for crimminal contempt, (Docket §88), be and the same is heraby
ﬁENKED as moot;

~ FT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffs” motions for certification
and to staj{ pending appeal, (Docket #90, ¥95), be and the same are hereby
DENIED as moof;

IT I6 FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffs’ motions to disqualify
counsel, (Docket #92, #93, $94), be and the same are hereby DENIED as
rmoat;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffs” motion for an extension
of time for trial dates and request to file elecizonically, (Docket #96), be and
 the same is hereby DENIED a8 moot;

iT 18 FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffs’ motion for sanctions,
(Dacket #104), be and the same is hereby DENIED as meoot;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffs’ motiam for hearing

- before a different judge, (Docket #111, #113), be and the same are hereby
DENIED as moot;
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IT 18 FURTHER ORDERED Plaintiffs’ motion for judgment against
.the Walworth County Defendants and their counsel, (Docket £130), be and
the same is hereby DENIED as moot; _

IT I8 FORTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffs’ motion for an order to
determine the sufficiency of Defenda_mts‘ responses, {Docket ¥131), be and
the same is hereby DENIED as moot; -

IT I8 FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffs’ motion for judicial
nolice, (Docket ¥136), be and the same is hereby DENIED as moef;

IT 15 FURTHER ORDERED that Diana 5. Crowley and Donald |.
Crowley’s motion to withdeaw motion for sanctions {Docket ¥137) be and
thé same is hereby GRANTED;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Diana 5. Crowley and Donald J.

Crowley’s motion for sanctions (Docket #133) be and the same is hereby
DENIED as moot; and
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED thaﬁ this case be and the same is hereby
DISMISSED with prejudice.
" The Clerk of Court is directed to enter judgment accordingly.

Dated at Milwaukee, Wisconsin, this 2nd day of July, 2020.
| HECOURT:
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

CHRISTOPHER STOLLER, MICHAEL
STOLLER, and LEO STOLLER,

Plaintiffs, Case Na. 17-CV-1349-JPS

¥,

WALWORTH COUNTY, VALERIE
ETZEL, RANDY TIMMS, WILLIAM
NOREM. TIM BRELLENTHIN. PAUL
YVARRA. CHARLENE STAPLES.
KATHY INGERSOLL. DAVID
WERER, DANIEL G. KILKENNY.
SUSAN M. PRUESSING, KENNETH
H. MONROE. NANCY RUSSELL.
LAKE COMO WISCONSIN
SANITARY DISTRICT. GARY DUFFY,
RON SOIKA, JOE ROPERTS. RICH JUDGMENT
SCHOLZE, DOUGLASS GONIGAM.
DONALD J. CROWLEY. DIANA S,
CROWLEY, DELEVAN LAKE
ASSEMBLY, MICHAEL CONNOLLY,
STEVEN SCHAMIDT, HENRY
RACKIEWICZ, BILL WINTERS.
ANTHONY STEVEN EVERS, STATE
OF WISCONSIN, and JOHN DOES.

Defendants.

Decision Following Remand. On March 30, 2018, this Court sereened
Plaintiffs Christopher Stoller and Michael Stoller’s initial complaint,
dismissing their federal taw claims for failure to state a claim, declining to
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exercise supplemental jurisdiction over their state law claims, and
dismissing the action. {Dockét #7). Judgment was entered accordingly that
same day. (Docket #8). Only Christopher Stoller appealed. (Docket #9).

On June 21, 2019, this Court received a mandate from the Seventh Circuit
Court of Appeals in Christapher Stoller v. Walworth County, et ai., No. 18-
1770 (May 30, 2019}, 770 F. App“x 762 (7th Cir. 2019), vacating this Court’s
judgment and remanding with instructions to permit Christopher Stoller
to file an amended complaint. (Docket #17),

in accordance with the mandate from the Court of Appeals and further
proceedings before this Court:

IT IS ORDERED AND ADIUDGED that the parties’ stipulated
motion to dismiss (Docket #44) be and the same is hereby GRANTED.
Plaintiffs’ claims against Douglass Gonigam and Douglass Gonigam’s
counterclaims against Plaintiffs be and the same are hereby DISMISSED
withprejudice and without costs (Docket #57);

IT1S FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Douglass
Gonigam is DISMISSED from this action (Docket #57);

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Lake
Como Wisconsin Sanitary District, Gary Duffy, Ron Sojka, Joe Roberts.
and Richard Scholze’s motion for summary judgment, (Docket #46), be
and the same is hereby GRANTED (Docket #143);

ITI5 FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Donald J.
Crowley and Diana S. Crowley’s motion to dismiss, (Docket #56), be and
the same is hereby GRANTED {Docket #143),;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Delevan
Lake Assembly, Michacl Connolly, Steven Schamidt, Henry Rackiewicz,
and Bill Winters’ motion to dismiss. (Docket #80), be and the same is
hereby GRANTED (Docket #143);

[T IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Walworth
County, Valerie Eizel, Randy Timms, William Norem, Tim Brelienthin,
Paul Yvarra, Charlene Staples, Kathy Ingersoll, David Weber, Daniel G.
Kilkenny, Susan M. Pruessing, Kenneth H. Monroe, and Nancy Russell’s
amended motion for summary judgment, (Docket #66), be and the same is
hereby GRANTED (Docket #143);
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ITIS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUBGED that Plaintiffs’
motion for default against Defendant Governor Anthony Steven Bvers,
(Docket #1021}, be and the same is hereby DENIED (Docker #143);

1T IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Plaintiffs’
claims againsi Detendants Governor Anthony Steven Evers and the State

of Wisconsin be and the same are hereby DISMISSED with prejudice
{Docket #143); and

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that this case be
and the same is hereby DISMISSED with prejudice (Docket #143).

AAPPRY ED:

U. Digtrict ucige
GINA M. COLLETTI
Clerk of Court

July 2, 2020 s/ Jodi L. Malek

[Jate By: Deputy Clerk
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

MICHAEL STOLLER and
CHRISTOPHER STOLLER,

Plaintiffs,

V. Case No. 17-CV-1349-]PS

WALWORTH COUNTY, VALERIE
ETZEL, RANDY TIMMS, WILLIAM
NOREM, TIM BRELLENTHIN, PAUL
YVARRA, CHARLENE STAPLES,
KATHY INGERSCLL, DAVID WEBER,
DANIEL G. KHLKENNY, SUSAN M.
PRUESSING, KENNETH H. MONROE,
NANCY RUSSELL, and JOHN DOCE,

ORDER

Defendants.

L INTRODUCTION

The plaintiffs, Michael and Christopher Stoller, filed a pro se
complaint alleging that the defendants, Walworth County and various
public officials in that county, have engaged in a “devious scheme” to
“unlawfully sell tax delinquent real estate” for a profit. (Docket #1 at 1). This
matter comes before the Court on the plaintiffs’ petition to proceed in forma
pauperis. (Docket #2).

Notwithstanding the payment of any filing fee, the Court must
dismiss an action filed in forma pauperis if the Court determines that the
plaintiff’s allegation of poverty is untrue, sec 28 U.5.C. § 1915(e}(2)(A), or if

the action is “frivolous or malicious,” fails to state a claim upon which relief
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may be granted, or seeks monetary relief from a defendant who is immune
from such relief, see 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(B).

As explained below, the plaintiffs’ complaint fails to state a claim
and will therefore be dismissed pursuant to Section 1915(e)(2)(B).

H. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A claim is legally frivolous when it lacks an arguable basis either in
law or in fact. Denton v. Hernandez, 504 U.5. 25, 31 (1992); Neitzke v. Williams,
490 U S. 319, 325 (1989); Hutchinson ex rel. Baker v. Spink, 126 F.3d 895, 900
(7th Cir. 1997). The court may, therefore, dismiss a claim as frivolous where
it is based on an indisputably meritless legal theory or where the factual
contentions are clearly baseless. Neitzke, 4950 U.S. at 327. “Malicious,”
although sometimes treated as a synonym for “frivolous,” “is more usefully
construed as intended to harass.” Lindell . McCallum, 352 F.3d 1107, 1109-
10 (7th Cir. 2003} (citations cmitted).

To state a cognizable claims under the federal notice pleading system,
the plaintiff is required to provide a “short and plain statement of the claim
showing that [he] is entitled to relief[.}” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a}{2). It is not
necessary for the plaintiff to plead specific facts, and his statement need
only “give the defendant fair notice of what the...claim is and the grounds
upon which it rests.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twonbly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)
(quoting Conley v, Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 47 (1957)). However, a complaint that
offers “labels and conclusions” or a “formulaic recitation of the elements of
a cause of action will not do.” Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555). To state a claim, a complaint must
contain sufficient factual matter that, accepted as true, “is plausible on its
face.” Id. (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570). “ A claim has facial plausibility
when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the
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reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct
alleged.” Id. (citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556). The complaint allegations
“must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level.”
Twombly, 550 U.S, at 555 (citation omitted).

In considering whether a complaint states a claim, courts should
follow the principles set forth in Twombly by, first, “identifying pleadings
that, becanse they are no more than conclusions, are not entitled to the
assumption of truth.” Igbal, 556 U.S. at 679. Legal conclusions must be
supported by factual allegations. Id. If there are well-pleaded factual
allegations, the court must, second, “assume their veracity and then
determine whether they plausibly give rise to an entitlement to relief.” Id.
III. COMPLAINT ALLEGATIONS

Mindful of its responsibility to construe pro se pleadings liberally, see
Marshall v. Knight, 445 F.3d 965, 969 (7th Cir. 2006), the Court will endeavor
to describe the facts alleged in the plaintiffs’ Complaint and identify any
plausible claims based thereon.

The plaintiffs both live in Cook County, lilinois, but own property in
Walworth County, Wisconsin. (Docket #1 at 6, 16). The thrust of the
plaintiffs’ Complaint is that Walworth County and the named county
officials have engaged in a practice whereby they sell tax-delinquent
property based on “sham” appraisals, as opposed to “legitimate” appréisals
that meet the standards of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal
Practice, in order to “recover inflated market values, in direct competition
with private real estate sellers.” Id. at 4.

This became relevant to the plaintiffs in August 2017 when they
received a letter from defendant Valerie Etzel (“Etzel”), the Walworth
County treasurer, informing them that Walworth County took possession
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of a tax-delinquent parcel of land bordering the plaintiffs’ property. Id. at
16. According to the plaintiffs, the parcel is “unbuildable” and therefore
only has value to the plaintiffs as adjacent landowners. 4. The plaintiffs
believe the value of the parcel is $2,500, though they do not say how they
arrived at that figure. Id. The county appraised the parcel at $11,400. Id. The
delinquent real estate taxes on the parcel were about $2,700. Id. The
plaintiffs made a bid on the parcel for $2,500. Id. at 17. Walworth County
rejected the bid on the ground that it was below the appraised value. Id.
According to the plaintiffs, the appraisal for this parcel, as well as every
other property listed on the 2017 Walworth County tax foreclosure list, was
a “sham.” Id. at 17-18.

On these allegations, the plaintiffs seek to bring several claims: (1)
violation of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18
U.S.C. §§ 1961-1968 (“RICO"), {2) conspiracy to violate RICO, (3) unfair
competition, (4) unjust enrichment, (5) committing a violation against
elderly and disabled persons in violation of Wis. Stat. § 100.264, (6) making
fraudulent representations in violation of Wis. Stat. § 100.18, (7) breach of
fiduciary duty, and (8) “conspiracy, aiding and abetting.” Id. at 19-39.

In support of their RICO claims, the plaintiffs allege that the
defendants operated as an enterprise to affect interstate commerce through
a “scheme to fraudulently, systematically and uniformly produce [] phony,
manipulated or inflated ‘appraisals’ of properties, which were performed
with indifference towards the appraisals’ accuracy, current market value,
in connection with the advertising and sale of its delinquent properties].]”
Id. at 20. The pattern of racketeering, they say, involved predicate acts of

fraud conducted by mail and wire. Id. at 19-20.
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The named defendants are Walworth County and members of the
Walworth County Board of Supervisors. Id. at 6-12. The plaintiffs also seek
to sue John Doe defendants who are Walworth County employees, agents,
or attorneys who aided and abetted the defendants. Id. at 12, Apart from
Etzel, the county treasurer, sending a notice of the sale of the parcel adjacent
to the plaintiffs’ property, the plaintiffs do not allege any specific conduct
or acts undertaken by the named defendants.

IV. ANALYSIS

The Court's analysis begins (and, as discussed below, largely ends)
with the plaintiffs’ attempt to allege a civil RICO claim.

Congress enacted RICO “in an effort to combat organized, long-term *
criminal activity.” Jennings v. Auto Meter Prod., Inc., 495 F.3d 466, 472 (7th
Cir. 2007). RICO makes it a crime to invest income derived from a pattern
of racketeering activity in an enterprise “which is engaged in, or the
activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce,” 18 U.5.C.
§ 1962(a); to acquire or maintain an interest in an enterprise through a
pattern of racketeering activity, § 1962(b); to conduct an enterprise’s affairs
through a pattern of racketeering activity, § 1962(c); and to conspire to
violate any of the other three prohibitions, § 1962(d). “Racketeering
activity” is defined to include a host of state and federal offenses, called
“predicate acts,” including mail and wire fraud. See 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1); see
also Sedima, 5.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 481-82 (1985).

RICO also provides a civil cause of action for “[a]ny person injured
in his business or property by reason of a violation” of the prohibitions in
Section 1962. Id. § 1964(c). To proceed on a civil RICO cause of action under
Section 1964(c), a plaintiff must plead “(1) an injury in its business or
property (2) by reason of (3) the defendants’” violation of section 1962.”
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DeGuelle v. Camilli, 664 F3d 192, 198 (Fth Cir. 2011). The civil RICO
provision has a limited reach and was “never intended to allow plaintiffs
to turn garden-variety state law fraud claims into federal RICO actions.”
Jensings, 495 F.3d at 472. The plaintiffs’ attempt to state a civil RICO claim
fails for several reasons.

First, none of the predicate acts the plaintiffs allege—including fraud
conducted by mail, see 18 U.5.C. § 1341, and wire, see 18 U.S.C. § 1343~
resulted in direct injury to the plaintiffs. The plaintiffs do not allege that

their “business or property” was affected by the defendants’ creation of

“sham” appraisals for tax-delinquent property in Walworth County. The |
property the plaintiffs own in Walworth County was not tax-delinquent, ’
and therefore was not subject to the sham-appraisal scheme the plaintiffs
allege, At best, the plaintiffs have alleged harm to their prospect of buying
additional property 11earl’fheirs; but they do not allege that it is their
business to buy and sell property in Walworth County. Indeed, the
plaintiffs do not claim to be in the real estate business whatsoever.

Second, even if the plaintiffs could show some injury to their
business or property, they have not sufficiently alleged predicate acts of
fraud. Corley v. Rosewood Care Ctr., Inc. of Peoria, 388 F.3d 990, 1005 (7th Cir.
2004) (a civil RICO plaintiff must show that he was injured “by reason of”
a violation of section 1962(c)). To state their RICO claim, which they say is

premised on predicate acts of mail and wire fraud, the plaintiffs must allege

the elements of mail or wire fraud: (1) the defendants’ participation in a
scheme to defraud; (2) the defendants’ intent to defraud; and (3) the
defendants’ use of the mail or interstate wire in furtherance of the scheme
to defraud. See United States v. Britton, 289 F.3d 976, 981 (7th Cir. 2002)
(elements of mail fraud); United States v. Turner, 551 F.3d 657, 664 (7th Cir.
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2008) (elements of wire fraud). The words “fo defraud” mean “wronging
one in his property rights by dishonest methods or schemes” and “usually
signify the deprivation of something of value by trick, deceit, chicane or
overreaching.” Corley, 388 F.3d at 1005 (quotation omitted).

The plaintiffs are adamant that Walworth County is wrong to
appraise tax-delinquent properties in a way that does not meet the
standards of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. But
they concede that the sale by a county of tax-delinquent real estate is
governed by Wisconsin Statutes section 75.69, see (Docket #1 at 2, 17), which
does not require that counties follow the standards of the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. Section 75.69 provides that
“no tax delinquent real estate acquired by a county may be sold unless the
sale and appraised value of such real estate has first been advertised by
publication of a class 3 notice” and “[a]ny county may accept the bid most
advantageous to it but, at the first attempt to sell the property, every bid
less than the appraised value of the property shall be rejected.” Wis. Stat. §
75.69(1). “Appraised value” in that section is “the value determined, at the
discretion of the county board, by the county board, a committee
designated by the county board, or a certified appraiser].]” Id.

The plaintiffs have not alleged that the defendants’ appraisals are in
contravention of the law governing such appraisals. Instead, they point to
the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989
("FIRREA™), which provides that federal financial institutions regulatory
agencies “shall prescribe appropriate standards for the performance of real
estate appraisals in connection with federally related transactions under the
jurisdiction of each such agency” and those rules shall require that
“appraisals [] be subject to appropriate review for compliance with the
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Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice.” 12 U.S.C. § 3339.
This is of no help to the plaintiffs, because FIRREA applies to lending
transactions with real property collateral that, among other things, involve
the FDIC, National Credit Union Administration, Federal Reserve System,
Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, Office of Thrift Supervision,
or financial institutions regulated by these agencies. See 12 U.S.C.A. § 3350.
In short, FIRREA's requirements do not apply to Walworth County’s sale
of tax-delinquent property as alleged in the Complaint. The plaintiffs
clearly do not like the way Walworth County obtains its appraisals, but they
have not alleged that Walworth County obtains them fraudulently.

Third, the plaintiffs have not alleged fraud with sufficient
particularity. Allegations of fraud in a civil RICO complaint are subject to
the heightened pleading standard of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b),
which requires a plaintiff to plead all averments of fraud with particularity.
See Goren v. New Vision Int'l, Inc,, 156 F.3d 721, 726 {7th Cir. 1998). In other
words, the complaint must describe the “who, what, when, where, and
how” of the alleged fraud. Wigod v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,, 673 F.3d 547, 569
(7th Cir. 2012). Here, the plaintiffs have made a bald assertion about the
defendants’ manufacture of false appraisals, but they say nothing about
who specifically is involved in the sham appraisal process, how the sham
appraisals are created, or any other particular details. Again, it is clear the
plaintiffs believe Walworth County somehow arrived at an inflated
appraisal for the tax-delinquent property the plaintiffs wanted to buy, but
they allege little more than that. The plaintiffs have not met their burden to
plead the underlying fraud with particularity.

For all of these reasons, the plaintiffs have failed to state a civil RICO
claim. Then, because the plaintiffs failed to allege a violation of section
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1962(c), their RICO conspiracy claim under section 1962(d), based on the
same allegations, must fail as well. Stachon v. United Consumers Club, Inc.,
229 £3d 673, 677 (7th Cir. 2000). Both RICO claims will be dismissed.
Having dismissed both of the plaintiffs’ federal claims, the Court will
decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the plaintiffs’ state law
claims, 28 U.S.C, § 1367(c}(3).

V. MOTION TO PROCEED IN FORMA PAUPERIS

At this stage of the litigation, the Court would ordinarily also

consider whether the plaintiffs are entitled to proceed without prepayment
of the filing fee, or iin forma pauperis, based on a showing that they cannot
afford to pay the fee. 28 U.S.C. §§ 1915(e)}(2) (Dismissal of an action filed in
forma pauperis is appropriate if the Court finds either that “the allegation of
poverty is untrue” or the action is “frivolous or malicious,” fails to state a
claim upon which relief may be granted, or seeks monetary relief from a
defendant who is immune from such relief).

The plaintiffs have not equipped the Court with the necessary
information to determine whether they have the ability to pay the filing fee.
Their motion includes averments about Michael Stofler’s income and assets,
but not about Christopher Stoller’s. (Docket #2). It is signed only by Michael
Stoller. Id. at 2,

Because dismissal is appropriate for failure to state a claim, 28 U.S.C.
§ 1915(e)(2)(B)(ii), the Court need not decide whether the plaintiffs’
allegation of poverty is untrue, The action will be dismissed and the motion
to proceed in forma pauperis will be denied as moot.

VL. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the plaintiffs’ complaint fails to state a

RICO claim upon which relief may be granted, and such federal claims

Page 9 of 11
Case 2:17-cv-01349-JPS  Filed 03/30/18 Page 9 of 11 Document 7



Case: 20-2204  Document; 26 Filed: 02/22/2021  Pages: 163

must, therefore, be dismissed. 28 U.5.C. § 1915(e)(2)(B)(ii). Additionally, the
Court declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the plaintiffs’
state law claims. 28 U.5.C. § 1367(c)(3). Finally, the plaintiffs’ motions to
proceed without prepayment of the filing fee, to file electronically, and to
have counsel appointed for them will be denied as moot,

Accordingly,

IT IS ORDERED that plaintiffs” complaint fails to state a claim for
violation of RICO or conspiracy to violate RICO (Docket #1 at 19-27) and
such federal law claims be and the same are hereby DISMISSED;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Court, pursuant to 28 US.C. §
1367(c)(3), declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the state law
claims raised in plaintiffs’ complaint (Docket #1 at 27-39) and such state law
claims be and the same are hereby DISMISSED without prejudice;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this action be and the same is
hereby DISMISSED;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ motion for leave to
proceed without prepayment of the filing fee (Docket #2) be and the same
is hereby DENIED as moot;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ motion to file
electronically (Docket #3) be and the same is hereby DENIED as moot; and

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ motion for
appointment of counsel (Docket #6) be and the same is hereby DENIED as
moot,

The Clerk of Court is directed to enter judgment accordingly.
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Dated at Milwankee, Wisconsin, this 30th day of March, 2018.
BY THE COURT:

e

J.
U.5MDistrict Judge \
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

MICHAEL STOLLER and
CHRISTOPHER STOLLER,

Plaintiffs,
V. Case No. 17-CV-1349-]PS
7th Cir. Case No. 18-1770
WALWORTH COUNTY, VALERIE
ETZEL, RANDY TIMMS, WILLIAM
NOREM, TIM BRELLENTHIN, PAUL
YVARRA, CHARLENE STAPLES,
KATHY INGERSOLL, DAVID WEBER,
DANIEL G. KILKENNY, SUSAN M.
PRUESSING, KENNETH H. MONROE,
NANCY RUSSELL, and JOHN DOE,

ORDER

Defendants,

The plaintiffs, Michael and Christopher Stoller, filed a pro se
complaint alleging that the defendants, Walworth County and various
public officials in that county, engaged in a “devious scheme” to
“unlawfully sell tax delinquent real estate” for a profit. (Docket #1 at 1).
Specifically, the plaintiffs alleged that Walworth County and the named
county officials engaged in a practice whereby they sold tax-delinquent
property based on “sham” appraisals, as opposed to “legitimate” appraisals
that meet the standards of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal
Practice, in order to “recover inflated market values, in direct competition
with private real estate sellers.” Id. at 4.

The plaintiffs sought to bring several claims: (1} violation of the

Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-

Case 2:17-cv-01348-JPS Filed 05/23/18 Page Lof 5 Document 16
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1968 (“RICO"), (2) conspiracy to viclate RICO, (3) unfair competition, (4)
unjust enrichment, (5) committing a violation against elderly and disabled
persons in violation of Wis. Stat. § 100.264, (6) making fraudulent
representations in violation of Wis. Stat. § 100.18, {7) breach of fiduciary
duty, and (8) “conspiracy, aiding and abetting.” Jd. at 19-39.
On March 30, 2018, the Court screened the plaintiffs’ complaint
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(B) and dismissed the plaintiffs’ federal
law claims with prejudice for failure to state a claim. (Docket #7). The Court
then declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the plaintiffs’
remaining state law claims and dismissed those claims without prejudice. |
Id. On April 9, 2018, one of the plaintiffs, Christopher Stoller ’
(“Christopher”), filed a notice of appeal to the Seventh Circuit. (Docket #9). |
The other plaintiff, Michael Stoller (“Michael”), then filed a motion to
proceed on the appeal in forma pauperis, though it does not appear to this
Court that Michae! is actually a party to the appeal. Michael also mistakenly
filed that motion in the first instance with the court of appeals. See (Docket
#15). The court of appeals directed this Court to consider the in forma
pauperis motion in the first instance, Id. For the purpose of this Order, the

Court will assume that both plaintiffs are parties to the appeal and the in

forma pauperis motion.

A plaintiff may not proceed without prepayment of the filing fee on
appeal if the Court certifies in writing that the appeal is not taken in “good
faith.” 28 U.S.C. § 1915(a)(3). To determine whether the plaintiff takes the
appeal in “good faith,” the court must determine whether “a reasonable
person could suppose that the appeal has some merit.” Walker v. O'Brien,
216 F.3d 626, 632 (7th Cir. 2000); see also Lee v. Clinton, 209 F.3d 1025, 1026
(7th Cir. 2000). An appeal is taken in “good faith” if it seeks review of an

Page2ofb
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issue that is not clearly frivolous. Lee, 209 F.3d at 1026. This is the case when
a reasonable person could suppose the issue to have some legal merit. Id.

In this case, the plaintiffs’ appeal is not taken in good faith, and
therefore the motion to proceed in forma pauperis must be denied, The
plaintiffs indicate that the grounds for appeal are, first, that the Court
committed clear error because the complaint contained sufficient factual
matters to state a claim for relief and, second, that they should have been
given the opportunity to amend. (Docket #10 at 3). As to the first ground,
the plaintiffs merely state a legal conclusion without providing any specific
reason why they believe the Court erred in dismissing their case. No
reasonable person could suppose this first ground for appeal has any merit
without knowing its basis.

The plaintiffs” second ground for appeal is also without merit. Under
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a), a plaintiff may amend his complaint
once “as a matter of course at any time before a responsive pleading is
served”; at any other time “leave [to amend] shall be freely given when
justice so requires.” This right to amend as a matter of course survives a
court’s dismissal on screening for failure to state a claim. See Lueraro v. Wal-
Mart Stores, Inc., 722 F.3d 1014, 1024 (7th Cir. 2013). But a plaintiff’s right to
amend as a matter of course is not absolute. Tinas v. Klaser, 23 F. App'x 574,
578 (7th Cir. 2001) (citing Perkins v. Silverstein, 939 F.2d 463, 471-72 (7th Cir.
1991; Textor v. Bd. of Regents of N. IIl. Univ., 711 F.2d 1387, 1391 n.1 (7th Cir.
1983)). Even where a plaintiff retains the right to amend once as a matter of
course, a district court may refuse to give leave to amend if an amendment
could not cure the deficiencies in the original pleading, or if it could not

survive a motion fo dismiss. Id. (quotation omitted); see also Bogie v.

Page 30f5
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Rosgenberg, 705 F.3d 603, 608 (7th Cir. 2013) (“Leave to amend need not be
granted . . . if it is clear that any amendment would be futile.”).

Allowing the plaintiffs an opportunity to amend the complaint
would have been futile. For the civil RICO claims—the only federal claims

in the complaint—the plaintiffs failed to plead an injury fo their property,

as required for recovery under the RICO statute, and failed to plead fraud
with particularity. See (Docket #7 at 6-9). More importantly, the plaintiffs
also pleaded themselves out of stating a valid RICO claim by conceding that
the defendants’ “sham” appraisals were not obtained in contravention of
the Wisconsin statute that controls such appraisals, Id. at 6-8. Inétead, the
plaintiffs alleged that the defendants’ appraisals ran afoul of the Financial
Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 ("FIRREA"),
which only applies to lending transactions that, among other things,
involve the FDIC, National Credit Unien Administration, Federal Reserve
System, Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, Office of Thrift
Supervision, or financial institutions regulated by these agencies. See 12
U.S.C. § 3350. Ini short, FIRREA's requirements do not apply to Walworth
County's sale of tax-delinquent property as alleged in the plaintiffs’
complaint, and nothing the plaintiffs could add in an amendment to their
complaint would change that.

Because the Court certifies that the appeal is not taken in good faith,
the Court provides the following information to the plaintiffs regarding
proceeding before the Seventh Circuit. The plaintiffs will not be able to
proceed on appeal without paying the filing fee, unless the court of appeals
gives them permission to do so. The plaintiffs have 30 days from the date
of this order to request that the Seventh Circuit review the Court’s denial of
their motion for leave to appeal without prepayment of the filing fee on

Page 4 of 5
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appeal. Fed. R. App. P. 24, If they request review by the Seventh Circuit,
they must include an affidavit and statement of issues they intend to
present on appeal, pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 24(a). They must also
provide a copy of this order, in addition to the notice of appeal previously
filed. If the plaintiffs do not request review of this order, the Seventh Circuit
may choose not to address the Court’s denial of their motion; instead, it
may require the plaintiffs to pay the full filing fee before it considers their
case. Failure to pay a required fee may result in dismissal of the appeal.

Accordingly,

IT IS ORDERED that the plaintiffs’ motion for leave to appeal
without prepayment of the filing fee (Docket #15) be and the same is hereby
DENIED.

Dated at Milwaukee, Wisconsin, this 23rd day of May, 2018,

6. DidtrictTudge
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Vnited States Gourt of Appeals

For the Seventh Circuit
Chicago, Illinois 60604

Submitted May 17, 2019
Decided May 30, 2019

Before

“HiSppestetor il
Saveiitﬁ%?g;;iﬁ;;_,_y:v"

MICHAEL S. KANNE, Circuit fudge
AMY C. BARRETT, Circuit Judge

MICHAEL B. BRENNAN, Circuit Judge

No. 18-1770

CHRISTOPHER STOLLER, Appeal from the United States District
Plaintiff-Appellant, Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin.
2. No. 17-CV-1349-]P5

WALWORTH COUNTY, et al,, J.P. Stadtmueller,
Defendants-Appellees. Judge.

ORDER

Christopher Stoller (along with Michael Stoller, who is not a party to this appeal)

sued Walworth County, Wisconsin, and many of its public officials for allegedly selling
tax-delinquent property at inflated prices based on “sham” appraisals. Stoller contends

* The appellees were not served with the complaint in the district court and so are

not participating in this appeal. We have agreed to decide this case without oral
argument because the brief and the record adequately present the facts and legal
arguments, and oral argument would not significantly aid the court. FED. R. Apr. P.
34(a)(2)(C).
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this practice viclates the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C.
§§ 1961-68, and many state laws. The district court concluded Stoller failed to state a
claim upon which relief could be granted. But Stoller was not granted leave to amend
his complaint, and he pleaded jurisdiction over his state-law claims based upon
diversity of citizenship, so we vacate the judgment and remand the case.

This case was dismissed on the pleadings, so we recount the facts as alleged in
the complaint and the documents described in it, making all reasonable inferences in
Stoller’s favor. Loja v. Main Street Acquisition Corp., 906 F.3d 680, 682 (7th Cir. 2018). We
construe his pro se complaint liberally, Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 93 {2007}, and
accept all factual allegations as true, DeGuelle v, Camilli, 664 ¥.3d 192, 195 (7th Cir. 2011).

Christopher and Michael Stoller own land in Walworth County. The county
treasurer wrote to them in 2017, informing them that a tax-delinquent parcel of land sat
next to their property. Believing the value of the parcel to be $2,500, the Stollers made a
bid for that amount. Walworth County rejected that bid because it was below the
county’s appraised value of $11,400. The Stollers alleged that this appraisal, along with
Walworth County’s other appraisals on its 2017 tax foreclosure list, was a “sham.”

The Stollers filed suit, primarily claiming that Walworth County officials had
violated and conspired to violate RICO through a corrupt scheme to inflate the
appraisal values of real property sold through tax bid sales. They alleged the county
failed to obtain valid independent appraisals by using estimates instead of methods
consistent with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. The district
court sua sponte dismissed the complaint under the statute concerning proceedings in
forma pauperis, 28 U.5.C. § 1915(e)(2)(ii), for failure to state a claim. First, the court
explained that the Wisconsin law governing the sale by counties of tax-delinquent
property does not require counties to adhere to the Uniform Standards. WIS, 5TAT.

§ 75.69(1). The district court also concluded the Stollers did not allege fraud with
particularity, as required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b). Finally, the court
determined that the Stollers could not state a RICO conspiracy claim without plausibly
alleging a substantive RICO violation. The district court dismissed the federal claims,
and it also declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the state-law claims.

28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3). Because of the failure to state a claim, the district court also
denied as moot the Stollers’ application for leave to proceed in forma pauperis. The
district court also entered a final judgment order. See FED R. CIv. P. 58.

Christopher Stoller appeals. We review the district court’s dismissal of this case
under 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2)(B)(ii) under the same standards we apply to Federal Rule of
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Civil Procedure 12(b}(6) dismissals—de novo review. Luevano v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.,
722 F.3d 1014, 1027 {7th Cir. 2013).

Stoller argues the district court erred by dismissing the complaint with prejudice
without granting him leave to amend his complaint.! We agree. We have repeatedly
stated that the “usual standard in civil cases is to allow defective pleadings to be
corrected, especially in early stages, at least where amendment would not be futile.”
Abu-Shawish v. United States, 898 F.3d 726, 738 {7th Cir. 2018) {(collecting cases); Runnion
ex rel. Runmion v. Girl Scouts of Greater Chi. & Nw. Ind., 786 F.3d 510, 520 (7th Cir. 2015).
This proposition has even more force in pro se cases, like this, in which pleading
standards are relaxed. Abu-Shawish, 898 F.3d at 738; Perez v. Fenoglio, 792 F.3d 768, 783
(7th Cir. 2015) (explaining that the “screening requirement does not—either explicitly or
implicitly —justify deviation from the usual procedural practice”). Applicable
authorities provide that plaintiffs enjoy leave to amend once as a matter of course
before service of the complaint, and liberally thereafter “when justice so requires”; this
right survives dismissal. FED. R. Ctv. P. 15(a); Luevano, 722 F.3d at 1024,

The district court did not find that any attempt by Stoller to amend would be
futile because of incurable defects. Nor can we say that any amendment would be
“futile or otherwise unwarranted from the face of the complaint.” Barry Aviation Inc. v.
Land O'Lakes Mun. Airport Connni'n, 377 F.3d 682, 687 (7th Cir. 2004). True, Stoller did
not request leave to amend, see James Cape & Sons Co, v, PCC Const. Co., 453 F.3d 396, 400
(7th Cir. 2006), but we hesitate to strictly require such a motion under the circumstances
in this case for several reasons, especially when a litigant is pro se. First, the district
court entered judgment immediately upon dismissing the original complaint, so Stoller
would have had to convince the district court to reopen the case. Also, simultaneously
dismissing a complaint and entering judgment is improper unless the defect clearly
cannot be corrected, or an amendment has been unduly delayed or would cause undue
prejudice to other parties. Runnion, 786 F.3d at 520. Further, because of the failure to
state a claim, the district court also denied Stoller’s application to proceed in forma
pauperis. Stoller then might not have believed himself eligible to file a new complaint
or a new case without paying a fee. Under these circumstances, the court should not
have denied Stoller the opportunity to amend his complaint after dismissal. See id. at

! The district court did not expressty deem the dismissal of the federal claims as
“with prejudice,” but a district court’s entry of a Rule 58 fjudgment shows that the court
“believes it is done with a case” and renders the decision final and appealable. Lyevane,
722 F.3d at 1020.
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522 (“JA] disftrict court cannot nullify the liberal right to amend under Rule 15{(a)(2) by
entering judgment prematurely at the same time it dismisses the complaint that would
be amended.”).

The pleadings present another jurisdictional issue for remand. The district court
dismissed without prejudice Stoller’s state-law claims by declining to exercise
supplemental jurisdiction over them. 28 U.5.C. § 1367(c)(3). But Stoller appears to have
invoked the court’s jurisdichion based upon diversity of citizenship, see 28 U.S.C.

§ 1332(a)(1), alleging that the amount in controversy exceeded that statute’s
requirement of an amount in excess of $75,000 and that the Stollers reside in Ilinois
while the defendants are citizens of Wisconsin. Of course, “residence” is not
synonymeous with domicile, Heinen v. Northrop Grumman Corp., 671 F.3d 669, 670

(7th Cir. 2012}, but the district court did not base its jurisdictional decision on this
deficiency. The district court could not dismiss the claims under § 1367(c)(3) if federal
subject-matter jurisdiction based on diversity of citizenship existed, and on remand the
court should consider the possibility that diversity jurisdiction existed. See Robinson v.
Alter Barge Line, Inc., 513 F.3d 668, 675 (7th Cir. 2008) (explaining that the disposition of
relinquishing jurisdiction “is barred” when there is diversity jurisdiction).

For these reasons, we VACATE the judgment and REMAND with instructions to
permit Stoller to file an amended complaint.
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE SEVENTH CIRCUIT

Everett McKinley Dirksen United States Concthouse
Room 2722 - 219 5. Dearborn Street
Chicago, lilinols 60604

Oifice of the Clerk
Phome: {312) 435-5850
www caf uscaurts, gov

FINAL JUDGMENT
May 30, 2019
o el
Before: MICHAEL S. KANNE} CI:T["MI! Judge of i miroc Blpsls 40,
AMY C. BARRETT, Circuif Judge um-z\ag-%gpmfﬁﬁk
MICHAEL B. BRENNAN, Circuit judge ~ Sovouth Ciro =27
CHRISTOPHER STOLLER,
Plaintiff - Appellant
No. 18-1770 v.

WALWORTH COUNTY, et al,
Defendanis - Appellees

District Court No: 2:17-cv-01349-]7°5
Eastern District of Wisconsin
District fudge J. P. Stadtmueller

The judgment of the District Court is VACATED and the case is REMANDED with

instructions to permit Stoller to file an amended complaint.

The above is in accordance with the decision of this court entered on this date.

form name: ¢7_Finalfudgment{form ID: 132)
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE SEVENTH CIRCUIT

Everett MeKinjey Ditksen United States Courthouse
Room 2722 - 219 §. Dearborn Street
Chicagu, Mingis 60604

Office of the Clerk
Phorne: (3124 435-5850
swww.ca? uscourts. gov

NOTICE OF ISSUANCE OF MANDATE
June 21, 2019

To: Stephen C, Dries
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
Hastern District of Wisconsin
Milwaukee , W1 53202-0000

CHRISTOIHER STOLLER,
Plaintiff - Appellant

No. 18-1770 v.

WALWORTH COUNTY, WISCONSIN, et al.,
Defendants - Appellees

Ty s

District Court No: 2:17-cv-01349-]PS
Eastern District of Wisconsin
District judge J. P. StadtmueHer

Herewith is the mandate of this court in this appeal, along with the Bill of Costs, if any. A
certified copy of the opinion/erder of the court and judgment, if any, and any direction as to
costs shall constitute the mandate.

RECORD ON APPEAL STATUS; Na record to be returned

NOTE TO COUNSEL:
If any physical and large documentary exhibits have been filed in the above-entitled cause, they are
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to be withdrawn ten (10) days from the date of this notice, Exhibits not withdrawn during this period
will be disposed of.

Please acknowledge receipt of these documents on the enclesed copy of this notice.

Received above mandate and record, if any, from the Clerk, U.S. Court of Appeals for the
Seventh Circuit.

Date: Received by:

06/21/19 sffelena Vekic

form name; ¢7_Mandate(form 10): 135)
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Taxf*-: P&?‘d&uqﬁ’} .:'w“ 28 ’Sdie:s of tan delinguent real estate is arbitrary, capncmns,_
ummmmbim ami hc-te ne rmsmmbic relation to 111(: mibtic hoslth, safety, mcamim or’

wetfire; 2) ﬁw Wisconsin Siatwte  Chapter 75 Land sold for Vaxes Paragraph ?5_.&9

2
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: Saiua@f 'fiéx '{:l.eiiﬁqn.w;nt'.rea.li; cstate’ ig iliatgal; ﬁncht;sti‘tut;iﬁzmi; .mid,. vagu.éf z_i._'n.'d' m
violation of the due process and equal protection clauses of the Wisconsin and
-::E:_}ﬁited_ Stat_es (Z’nmrituﬁom '
Ihe P‘Iacmxff are- [hemﬁdi within the ifxss as 16 'whem the Wxé,com,m
Htatute {Ihﬁpter_ ?S'_l.,afzd so.!d tof- Taxes Pamgra-ph_ "?5,69 is uncons&ituiiona_i, The
- 'Qagqeﬁass parvade the Wisconsin Statute Chapter 75 Land s§-1<i for ‘Taxes Paragraph
"?")ﬁ‘}‘\}aicq éf’.taﬁ.i -deEi1i§iaas1ﬁ. real estate o make the entite ordinance. -ilﬁ"ﬁli‘d‘. |

3. Plaintiffs assert that the Wisconsin Statute. mgmr 75 Land sold for

iaxw l“’amgraph 75.69. baiw af m {kiillquﬂht rmi cstate ordisanee is an

- .un:wﬂzmm*d dak&a{mn (}1 legishative auéimrtt} to the exequtive branch hu,ause ( }
the Wisconsin ‘Siaiu‘tu ( hapil,t 75 Land sold f’t}r lmﬁca Para;:jraph 75.69. f:»alcs of tax

'dekmqnmt reul ostate t,xww 10 Wisconsin County s:fﬁcml*; the anthor;w to determine

-on a case-by-case basis Whgi: t scll definguernt reai gstate without any.swndm}., 2 -

the tifo_u'xﬂitv:{ifﬁcial:‘s are W ebnduci. anregututed :s‘ppf&i;ﬁals of ax dk:‘iiht;ueﬂt real estate -
angd to sell the smd properties tor market valies, sstablished by the County Officials
_ ai‘tf,r '}ﬁ’,h?_mg Th&, Eax ‘i)elmqueni P‘mpm}m from the:r owners for as. tittle as $I{}0 :
' 423 196 N.E. 483 (mpmwnf‘*@ibwzfv sk 1»mcimm»c_{1cﬂ~m!), whmh heid that if a
btdiuie E&av;s it o a ministerial officer to duime the thing to which the siatute Was to
be appiwd dﬁd i the dchmtlan was 1ol ¥267 mmm(mh kmwn, the statute is mvahd
because it umiew an upweranted and void dglegha‘i‘mn of itﬂgnsmt;»e pow»r |

4 ’Ehe ilfegal and undonstitutional Wisconsin Staute Chapter 75 Land sold far_

Tanes Paragraph 75,69 Sales of tay delinguent real estate which ‘incentivize' all Wisconsin

*# copy Iht‘- Wisconsin Statate Chapter 75 Land soli for Taxes I*&ragraph 75.69 Sales of tax de imqasnt :eai
-Lﬁtﬂt&: is attached i the cnmp!amr anvd imof;mrau‘d hereln by reference (Bakibip )
LA f:mmmal statute is um,omumtif;mdﬁ y vage it f&l]:& o give aduguate nnixc,s, 8s 1o whas.

conduet it §3§‘L)ilibl s of if iy teems are so Hi-defined that the itimate decision as to-its meaning
resty on the. opimcm and whinas of the trier ol fact rather than ou any objective criteria,

% Due process iy denled {F people of ‘ordinary intelligence must ne¢essarily guess at an act's -

3 '.me&nm&, ami Lf ﬁmy ri fi;r 45ty its a;mt diiO{i

=b43cau$e thay ara wuhm ihc: claas i tu whem !ha l;mr Whs ai ibg(.’adi} unmmsulutmniti
: 3
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:Coﬁn'fies? including. the Defendant Walworth (:aunty‘,. e énga% in a unwnﬁ-iiﬁxfiéﬁiil'
dsku& sheme, tmdvsr the color of law, i arder o unhawiully ar;qune o delinquent real.
estats® Afrom sts m‘ézz&sh. for ondy the eost of the back taxes, tnorder 10 sell the tax de!mquem
pmpmy for inflated marke vadues . pe external roward system, that was puat in place by the -
Wiscans Staie i\.iégi:ilﬁthé‘ s put in phce 1o encourage Wisconsin Countles, like the
defendant Walworth Couwy, W spize ax dﬁ[inﬁ;uani properties from iﬁ.s citizens, and a

- paitern of urdawful acts as used by Walworl County 1o unlawfidly tuen sround and seit the
tax dg!:nquﬁnt propertios, not for jusi the haek taxes, as every other siale, _!ou{ for inflated

'mdi’i%i values, erd::r to unlaw‘luli) £il1 the said county coffers. -

A The W;:sc:a:m sin %tdlutu {thapter 7§ Land mld for Taxes ﬁi’a:agra_ph 7569
Sales of tax dgiim;ueni real estate statute is {.:l.‘r:a.r‘.}}’: :zﬂc;)ﬁs&iiu;iﬂnal'2m::}_.-i:t also a;:}is:és. .
a _éﬁlﬁly’si for Wiseonsin {l‘wn&im W precipitate turther misconduct by W{J{)
Ené.\,-{ing}y. and \&'iifﬁiEEy c_irﬁ:nﬁ;véﬁtit;g_ their fszgai si‘ﬁaiulef}’ éﬁiigﬁti{ma vider Wisconsin
Simﬁtﬂs 75.69 which stages: “no tax dciinquem: mai:é&tate. geguired by a enﬂ.my may be Soid
B unlew tht, s&ie and apymsexi vahag ei such reat estate has beon adx prtived by p;zt;imamm m“ a
Class 1 "F\uttu: Ch. 985 =, | | |
6. Pursuant 10 Wisconsin Statute ?5;59; }vizich.:s&atés: “no tax "e.iei'inqifént' :ﬁéﬁ['ésia&
_ é:.a_t;ité, @ﬁ{)li};i@}f-. 0 édy‘e;‘tésiﬁg their tax delinquent real e&ig;& fail 1o ‘obtain’ any
\.f&iiﬁl' real 'té.m#‘te- amﬁmisals:in é@éﬁrdaﬁn{:c with the s;itict étiﬁcﬁi and .éompct.exié}i rules
_ :-_of !he 1 mform ‘smndard& nf E’mfu&wnal &ppmmi Pfaa.mc (“£ 8?;&?“)
': 'ummctxms with the wuﬂwnﬁwnfx pyoperty whtch was the suh;ect of & Tax S&ié ﬁid. . '

. saits fr_'{;z}; J a_r;uary 1. 2016 to September (}f_-zi)l 1.

® Statuie 75.69 Sale of i delinguont real catate tends to induce the commission of unfawful acts by the Counties in.
the State of Wisconsin or the scoomplishiment of the purpose is otherwise sgainst public policy. Which s the selaeg
of private wax defmq:&mt veal catate, oot for the coanty to recaver its definguens reat eatate 1xes, but for the county
0 protit at setling the tax delinquant real ustite for inflated market vilues, Therefore, Wisconsin Statute Chapler 75
Land sold for Taxes Poaragraph 75,69 Saled of tan iiﬂmquiw reat ssiate showid he declared waconstitutional. :
*1e the Wisconsin Sttwle Chapter 75 Land mlu for Taxes Pay &gmph 75,69 Sales of EAR,
'd&imqaem vend estte Statule,

? At page 18 upkated 2013-16. W is. nitﬂﬁ ?abhghsé and m,mixnd vader &, iS 18 &tag,usi 24 EE}I? 75,69 S&ia ei fax
delinguent real estate, . o

4
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T o The S.iate' of Wiseonsin .i'uﬁl.a?-:d its appetite for prafi which nuw.
| ';has aiic;wesj the Wmconsm (I’mmtxc:a under lhx: wlo: of Iaw thru Wmonsm ‘«Iiatute-
' Chapﬁ:r ?5 Land sold for Taxes Paszmm;n 15.69 bmlcs of 12y delmqg*m real cstatt,,
| '.::aiinwa \l&’ sswn‘sm {*mumm 0 axciude the mery aiiempt to sa}G tax {Lc. mqumt reai.
-_e,stah, to recover ﬂs lost real G‘:Hﬁﬁ‘ taxes, fie\ft.it‘r mi a achemc kmvm as iht’:
| W?S“ﬁ’ﬁi_‘}fsf?‘_mfﬁ : C-{igptc:r 75 Land sold for 'Ia_xe;;_ Pawagraph 75,69 Saley of tax
_aé.ﬁnqu'en.t:.r;criii :*.é;iaic:.. iiaat v%ouid_ allow Wﬁlv}mh County to Sﬁ:i! their és:i.z'e::i geal
estate ifn b’@gk mxe*«; at highly inflaed ma;kt‘i pi’i&fb, which were  in dm;ct
'wmpa,himn mt}s mdmdmﬂ pm ale property owners, miu af thmr reai estale and
uniaw?miiy reap hugs., pmixts
& ﬁm ‘;c,h::ma, alsy ailnwcd ‘WE}A Dciwdnntx to eliminate ﬁm delay
= :..a‘.mcmad wzth m,quwmg a. valzd real e»tate apprmsai under' {}S?M" smndardq aud
fapid}y s&i!mg iiic Wisconsin &i.am Defondunts’ murzty~&w1xe.d properiies, aii 1o the
-ﬁmﬁéiﬁi detriment of Wiszonsin State emsu,m'iers} who a_rc:.- forced to -pa_v aiiege;i_.
E': mm‘kﬁ,i"‘ pnu:,s for pr{;gmm that were 1ot sctually ever even appmmd zmder thc
'-_mcaﬁstiii_imal -i'hé_%'_ismnﬁiz;-&ft_asi_u;te Chapter 73 i,and sold For Taxes I’amgraph ’?5 69
%ies of 1ax dﬁrtﬂl‘;}iiblﬁ real estate.
S(b} In !ha &rnd the W Iseonsin %i,.tmts: { haptc‘r 75. i,and sold for 'laxea Pamgraph
75, ﬁ9 ‘%ale& of icsx s.iaimqueni res elate anhwmliv pomms; WhiA uzl:&nm pmchce of
s.yazemaumiiy s:ﬁm:pimg ihe agpmml process in connection with csmhhahm;z &rsihuai]y hrbh
cost fﬁr the Watwurtix C ﬁunty mmm;i wucd properties, without amy warranty of © guammw wlih

re.@pnct to :iw f1sé,. mr;{himn ACTUSS T ou,upnnw of ihie propety. alt to the: nnancwj cietrzment of

consumers.

5
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B ), - Obiaining an legitimaie sppraisal is a critical element of the tax - sale of tax .

ldleliﬁq;aen.ii .ﬁmpmies for Qaii;;ilzaxgrs beeause it g}'ayv'idés & buyer ﬁr’h@ﬁim@’ﬂ&; with i ACCUTALE,
objé@tive énd- si:_ppaartabi¢.qﬁih_i_o_n uf 4 property s vzalgci_ and it protects the i:‘i.nz:nci_sﬂ:and __ﬁubiic_
policy- iniﬁi’e:ais infr@a}'.és&fe ,E._Ehe: -'.the' Wisconsin Smmzé Cizapﬁéf 75'Z.i-and-sbld' for Taxes
l?amgrg;_ﬂf ?E.ﬁi? Sa.t.ies- of tax :h-;z-ii'm;ue..gé real estate s tmcqnsﬁizniicnal t}ecaﬁsiﬁ smong other
reasons it does not ;;;-gw ide for Qbﬁai ding legitimate r-ca.%-ész:a_te-appaiéisaﬁs in violation of the ?irét,
Fifth and i“c'_;iizﬁ_mn amendments. |
8(#2}.‘; - At the core of the applicable f’cdcml‘ '&:né.'staie laws, as .ﬁreii as the ethics and
- comperncy rules of U S-P&Eg, is the requireent that grofessional ﬁp_pmiém?s_ be fully iﬂdﬁpfmd&ﬁt | _
and :a}iéjaﬁiiif'é mrmchmg their 'éﬁiﬁi.gihé'{sf_",ffiidér Unlike the vague 'L;ﬁ_;cmétiiut,ii}nél 'reéﬁ.%'zrc_niém -
' of Wisconsin Statute Chapter ?5 Section 75.69 which only requires that “'zzppféiged-'falgg: as
s being 'i{;_@:{;}_i} subwhe county board, o & comumittee ih;_ﬁ. has bcén-dé&igmﬁeﬁi by the az;_;m;g-_' 8
| boaxdg m: lw & cmaﬁed a{}pmﬁser“ i"h;f» appraisal sa:at'nda.rd_s encourages appraised values that our a
not i U'S?A:f‘;s'Zg.tih_ié.ai én:f;i mmpﬁ,t;mv ;réquimmémé:ié Q:(.zﬁn@c.:l_t.i.tm with 'thge saia of’Wal\wr{’h
' _ﬂic}um}f_ Tax .ﬁg}iﬁquégt: Rﬁéi_f-lﬁisiaia' ig violation of the Fi:si;.i?iﬁh_#éd Foumfe_r_iﬁmﬂﬁmems of
the 11,8 _(".fun_stimiion{ | | | |
. Be}. ) i‘he 'S(}hﬁ%i‘i@' that the WCD d.::-ﬁ»:nd'anis __;ara involved in fo sell tix ciefinquent
' _prapeﬁ:if :ta' %r_,ﬁ_m;&!y;ih_ﬁ \&’E;écoﬁéﬁn $‘s’atut¢}ry requirement thﬁi, alt of the (f_c}ﬁnzias in. Wiscé;nsiﬁ;
including -tlﬁ--il)gé’efndaf;zt‘is- Walworth - County, m-anufa_ctm% --faiéé: appraisat yaiae_a.._!_ prior 1o

 advertising their tax - delinguent property for sale ot with the intent to recover fis tax-

% ynifization of Wisconsin State Statute 78,69 for tho sale ladicates thnk all tak delinquent property squiced by a
Cedunty must Hrst be avvertised by o Class J notice in the newspaper, meandng it has to be advertised wigkly for
< thres waeks 1 & rpw, Prior to advertising. euch property must be assigned on appraised vadue often referred fo #s the-

mimiam bid. The supte-deliney appraised value s being a value sit by the eounty beard, of a esmmities that bas
been designated by the counly boeard, or by a certified appealser. The first sime property i advertised i moay only be
sold @t oe above the miblmum bid. if any bids sre reccived below thel amount they must be cejnied, -

6
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_dehmﬁrmt ta'{z.,s, but 1o r;cegf;r .mﬂ.mz.i. marke v.;slh.;éa. in qu L.amfx‘ts:;o:n wﬁﬁ grz%‘.aie. ra;:xi
estal» seliﬁrs Ltmiu the c;:aim of Lw« w the ummsmuumul Wisconsin Smiute C’lmpiu 25'
: S@ciion 75.69.

-9, zasamw{t c;f' Wiacemm Statute Chapter 25, Section 75.69 : Walw{mh. | -Céumy
'Deieudsmm uni&wfu Hy adveriises the sale of ity tx dtimqnem ;mi estate mth mdxtieremm t0
: appmisal s acwmuy :md!ur W - zmi i fact 3 U%PA?’ Ccmpixant apprawal{s}, and mstead'
' ::'_.Emmuimturcd phm;y apprmsa {b} u\f:d o iauhmie the qaie of their % deimﬁgumt ren] fzsme

14, Wahmrth County defendants anbaw i‘uﬁiy empioy a iniform Pracixce {)L mgazgmg

©in \;3 hiematm, prl: mﬁui umdw,t mth t“c*apu.t ) the pr::p;wuium of all appz‘mals fﬁr szﬁe f}f l% tax L

B fix,!lnquent teal esta;e undt:r thﬁ mlm of iaw i Wisconsin ‘mmlu Qhapu,; 28, Seuion ’?5 6‘#

| ii Tl he:as, s“mm apprmsaia {I"\hxhit 2} are g’:uiurmcd w&h mé;fierenc? 1:_} the appramais 3

: a(.wrm,y «md ;mi:eaei are dec;ig,ned 0 em&m that appraml rupurts wnmmed an mi‘idtec% m'-._ :

mampul&ied g}mjmiy “xzaiue wi‘z{ch aiwa;»;{, manadad e s acimquenc / af the p; jor (sme.r..“.

under the color of law W’mamm *Smmm ¢ lmptc,r 25,1 Section 75, 6‘3?
12 Wi‘i(;{)ﬂ‘llkl Statute © hag{m 5. Section. 75.69 a]icsm itu, \kalwarih C‘auniy -

- i)eiﬁnﬁm‘itﬁ I hnowmg,iy‘ ﬁauduimily\ systgmaucaliy azzd umfemaiy creazf: phany so«zailed

if«s‘uvmg *‘appramais“’ on thw tax del mquent rmi t‘&ﬂmw thch were. m}t perﬁmned m_:' i

| ac;mdance'wmx USW&P a,wmidrds andfer Were pai‘mmgd wnh mdttfareme it any vaixﬁ

_-gppmsai siamiard*s in. ﬂi‘fi@? o h}.uhiaic' ’Eht.. unlawiul sale of their tax. ddma;umt rs,ai r:statc,, nof
10 recamr i}'ze Eax dcimqmznm bt m unE*awquv moﬂt f’mm the sale of the tax delmquem; reai'

estaté at inﬂfa;;ecf, _ma;mi‘amgmgi -mﬁkcs; prices,

U Realtor/Auctionesr mLax.m fF@m:mg«Larm_ Bheboygon Cowngy '.?}’mwrarfﬁm! Froperty. Lg\!mg Ai pag&z 23
T 'hﬁpsﬂww wmuniws arg,!uplmzdafpzab.’ocmher-zu 1 W«tmwwwi‘mi gl -

7
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'-'_!3 l‘ndu the mensm Stutute ﬁnpwr 25, Section 75.69 thx, ‘iﬁmkworth C‘omﬂyﬁ"_;-'f L

éefendant& can operam an ﬁie;,a,l f,merpmm under the color. of iawx wimse purpo-ze, i not: to

: (;legzct zhc de}mqucm Real Lg,iau,, Tax on pmper{y anqmmd i}y the wumy, bul tt:x uni;mfiully_

sexzz: pm;n,uy from its hame owners in order o sell 1,he pmpﬁri} at mﬂa‘wd lnanumcmred L S

: appr;sed rate:, and io predit fmm ihe sale of their tay d@mqu&m ual estale, winch o trther state
allows. | o |

4. In :efi"ﬁ:éf ﬂucmg,h W&iv@brtﬁ County  Defendants ﬁnifo%m. fprﬁaé;tic& '--'bf-
Wbtemanmﬁs wrmp‘tms’{ lhe appml‘yai pmtuk W}mh is nided and abcus.ck b\} ﬂie idnga.ulg,e c)i the -

Wisconsin ‘smme Chap&r ?b Py agrdph 73, ﬁ‘é whz»h Lhe «..mmts, dbf es apprmsee:i waiue?; .

vagmly “Ets bmng a value:: set iw the cmmty board, or' 4 wmm;iice ihai i;d:s br:en desxgnamd by" .

the coumy boar::i or by a cesratic:é appmmer ~ Walworth f;{zimt}f i)e.‘i‘endﬁﬁm pmduce Stwaliad
"‘apmzsa mpwte@” W&h mditzﬁmuw 10 %he appmaaais accurmy thch m:c no; lf:gmmate:

4 opmlons sz value

p Imnnf‘fs assert tizal Wiswmm %mtuie Ciiatrrter 25, 'Séc{ién 75,69, should be .heid uncgnstltmmnal ¥ . SR

_ cm.ci assertx claims zmdcr the Rcﬁ,!\&tﬁ:u influenced and Ct}impi Pta(:nui% &LE, w}é Stﬁtﬂ 3tatutory-__: s o

o 'ancl cammcn law. What the I’Eam&zﬁ i ;msmtmg tu the court for resolution amﬂun‘ts’ w atat& o

3pcnsorcd mézk.eteermg_ o

The qumtmn pre%i:tf;d o ﬂlt. court:

'W}wiher i is commummal for 2 Smm (o pasy laws which allow ﬁam meties 0. %ea;e mx e

delinguent proparty fmm their ::itizc:ns' _and (. furn it amund zmc’i_ scil; the bax delmqug;n_{. :

- properties for market vatues established by inaccurate, phony appraisals,

_ } Tﬁsre is a1, mhmm mnfh::i for a party with an interest in a real esiate ﬁrans&emu !m'olving; i a;spm{sai_ m. c
7 inproperly influgee the valug of the appraisal o atﬂam & g.,,mier appmisai valuu o the real cstate ﬁmn whatan
!I‘idi@})tfﬂdﬁl’ii appmmer m;;ght come up w:th . .
. . N
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- The 'P!aintiﬁ% and. all.of the citizens of Wisconsin been damaged by .the Wlaconsm

E f8tatute Lhaptm 7‘? Eami v,nid for Taxes E*ambmp 7569 Sales of m de Imque,ni r&:ai esiate

d»fcndams actwrz:s 11 thm Ry,

Iffﬁ CE’,}URI s R}*QL ESTE DTG Y)E:Ji LARE THE Wi‘w(,{}?\?fiﬁ& STATUTE
CHA?’I BR 75 LAND SOLD FOR TAXES PARAPRAPH TS _
SALES OF TAX ff)Ll INQX E NT REAL P&s] ATEL N(‘(?Pw‘?’I‘I’I’iJTI(}I‘&AI ((Z hnm f})

II }’! IRISHC Ti{';ﬁc AND V}‘f’ﬁlﬁr :
15 this _éz_t'se' a_risgs_ xmdf:_r.' the Constiution of the United States, the issues arg
Justizisble and well within the watablished s;tmject-«rﬁaté:ér junsdiction of this (Q_f{mzi undér- 28

USC. 8§ 1332 ms 1357, 2201 unid 42 U.8.C8 1983, and fust be heard and determined by a

: amms,t court m“ thrt‘e Judges under "*8 i% ‘» (‘ fq “”34 as to th{?: (i"‘dimt-"}- that %éiaté:&)-téfe -Zﬁ'iaiﬁﬁﬁ%f‘-: ;i' ¥ |

Qﬁﬂm o ciei,}am ihe Wzswnsm f:atatuie ("impm 15 Land sold f{sr lams i’aragraph ?S 69 i‘sﬂles-.._ -
Cof tax deltmu{:ﬁi mai &Mﬂi&, t;mz:{}mututmmﬂ | | |
| {h@ msz of‘ thq,, iamm‘s«, ' léimm can be h;,cud bv a smgglc judge, ‘«fmue: i5 ¢ ;ppr@pnate m :
this d;e,mct ;}umumlt o ’?8 {J é; C. 4 1391 {h) iumdmtzcn 1% pmpw in this ()irurt zmder 8 b ;"& {,, §
13 a?{d}("} T h{t mattur m Lommvusy,, ?\«,iusm, of znierest a‘nd msiq mweds the sum of valm

of $5,000, {K}{} I)g.iendaz‘zts gre uhzzm*; of the State of R& isconsin, . N
‘36 _ This Lauﬂ, ﬂibﬁ has gumdmimn over this suatter uude: 73 Uus C l;«§ §331 ’1‘961

: 1‘36 zmd 1%4 T ius {‘uuri haa personal jumzjmtwn KVeE i}cﬁ,ncianm szﬁm 38 U f:s €. 552965 In '

o addmon under ?8 L} $ ( s\, i’%i}’} ﬂm Cowt yoay exemm supplemcmai jurasdmima over ihfe

':idit. Iaw zznd commoit law Liamla hwmmc all of the tiﬁim‘\ are r.icrmgi i}(sm & mmmun nuclem:_ o

of fz;umw f&bi’&z am‘i are such thsit Piaamlff 5 ofdmctral} v.mzm expgcz o try thfzn's in one ,gu,daczal: R

: prm&admg

9

Case 2:17-cv-01349-JPS  Filed 11/12/19 Page 9 of 50 Document36



_ Case: 20-2204 * Document: 26 Filed: 02/22/2021  Pages: 163

17, Venue lis within this judiciat distcot voder 28 U.S.C. § 139100, © ami {d}, and..

. utsider 18 il S0 § 3%3, bma{m each of the E}ei*mdmw tr&mas,md I:uu%;mt,#ss in this Dzstﬁﬁt and.
becanse & substantial part of ihe_ewnts ot omsssmns. gwmg; rise to Plaiptifiy’ elmms in this
Fawsiit oecurrad, among otiet places, in this District.
| .E‘Aiii'i”m&l_ o
(8. Plainiffs ffhrigf_ézgiizef* Smiie:r; 70, an individual, ._.rési'e:iing 0 {tgzeg.tféan';y _IE'lint}.i.s‘ _;
. t;iisabie- pér@ﬁ pmtec&.d };Qt“im‘i as defined by the Americans- i‘ar i}mhziltv Act a.nd a:.._-:

"qunsm i’mpmy holder, Michael éto%lc 26 an a&uit«dn d, rwdmg tn (‘{wk ¢ mmw liimezs,_ |

a dl&abie& mm&m a pmtgcisz{i pusoa as f.icinm‘{i by {1{: Amuriaams far I}ssabﬁaiv An;:t and e

Wiscamsm ?mperfy }mid;,r in ‘P&*’a!\wr‘m ¢ ounm pr Qpeﬂy L(:i} ‘%wiiaz ?3 mazdmg in £ {mk |
| '{ mmty HI mms. 8 i.h smblui pu%on 2 proiwrcd DEISON B3 a,kf' ned by the Ammcana for i)i s;ibzlzty.

m and & ‘éfs%mlam E’wpcrty hai{iw in W{slwmh Ly mmtv pmpem

i?i;i*‘%’?‘éi} &N i‘%
M&mh{fi“i af the anef‘pme

19.., - Gach of the eﬁﬁii&avg mamed below mre rembers ofthc- -R}C{}'ﬁ:ﬁmrﬁfiﬁe

2{}(&) Fhe ‘xmie t::i W}:ﬁ:{}n&zm a muumgﬂ ﬂiaiv mf thes United ‘Stzrm iis legmlaiwﬁ
.pﬁw.u.r is- w:si;ui in thc G&mmi A*zsm}biv ihdt POWEr 15 denv@d imm 11’;« gsenpie zmd st be
Q*ﬂu‘m@d ﬁﬁlci} L’er the g(:iué of zm Whﬂiu | |
o : '-'Z{}{b} f&ntheny *a%m,ﬂ fvu‘»; irmmmr of thé, State m‘ Wismmm

- ”’ﬁ{ a} La&e f“mm Sanmm I)zxtmi 3420 Dell PL },,akc: (mmzm Wmc:onqm 53 3,46

: EG(;;i_) Gm‘y.’i}u?fy‘,'imi.iv.idtia]}}’. ana' R Pwsiﬁeni i}f the [,aker-. Como Samtm‘y I.)istric-i ._
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' _' "?(}{e} Rm ‘%ig}i\a mdwuiu&iiy and 35 Sacrgtar}‘ nf the L:ﬁ:e C‘q}ma ‘mmi.;r}f Dlgmf;t
L _.2{){t’) jne Rabms, mdmﬁua ii* itk Emsmwr of the T ﬁ,kt.. C‘amo i‘zamiary i)mimt
- 206y Rich Seholze ii‘idmﬁml ty and as Counsel [or of the Lake Como Samiary §313€m£

. {€ RU Dcfenﬂams)

2D(h} Dmagl;ssx (xomgam, 2651 W, Armitage Av ¢ C‘ hzms‘ou Ilhmm 5 é{}f}ﬂ
Owner of Wisconsin Property:
Li’ ITS 9350 THRU 9534 bik 172 LAKE COMO BBAC T OURTH MAP -
WALWORTH COUNTY WISCONSIN PARCELID ILC BOs4
‘w: atiacimi hxh;iﬁ:i A lenui‘f”s Nuizw of Lu }*emiuzs

- EG(B !"‘kmah:i I (Z‘mw &y, Diasa § (mw&w M?’M LAKE ‘31 l{}RI REJ
:  KEWAUNMER, W1 54216
Owner of Wisconsin Pmmm '
CLOTS 4942 THRU 4946 BLK 87 LAKEC ()M{} R}LA(J‘%I
' WAE W(}R!’H COUNTY WISCONSIN FARCELID JLCB 00986
“éee attached E\hxhtt B l’igzmia {f's N;}tzee Qf L:f Pwdms

. Ei}{}} I)s}ugias Lake: ’ustmbh {DZ AY,a Waawmm E‘omp&ny incateﬁ al i(}i}?
- Pougwatomi D, Delevan Wi 53115 Owner of Property: '

“Lot U Bik W, DELAVAN LAKE ASSEMBLY GROUNDS TAX I’AR{‘FI D NE;MHER.-; R

II}LR GOZ08 006 TOWN OF DELAVAN
‘-Ee::' atmhcd Minhii i’“ P‘wnisﬁ % Modics oi Liz Pcmim-s

' ‘P{}(k} Mi{:ixﬁe! £ ‘(}nm}ii}r m&maiuakly fmd as pm zdvsni 01 E){A R
- 2000) Steven Schinidt, Hidividually and as Vies Prosident of DLA
- A(m) Herry Rackiowicz, individually and as Vice }*remﬂmi
- 2(}(:3) Bii Wmtcrs mdmduali} =md 23 ‘secretm‘v .

R : :’?0{@} i ,ake: Cam{] Wmomm ‘%anﬂar}r i}mtmt i gwcmm;im entrixf (I L&a}
N340 Dell Bt
£ .i%(i., Geneva, Xi*’s 521&?

o --._f"‘{}(p) G;;ry Duﬁy mdm&iuaﬂ) ami aS. 1’rm=c§m¥, Qf L{‘b
o :-:'-'Eli(q}, ch bh)j ka, mdl vm!miiy and as Secretary oi {,Cb

) 2{}{ r} Em Iw!*mrta mdmdz.zaii}e and 25 lrefasurcr ;}i L L‘a

’"‘(}(&} I{;Lh ‘&bhi}lf& indz&zaﬁmlh and a5 Crunsel iur i(.&
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:{Cﬁii_i’e}._f}g}fenisiants{z SR

"-25\'}'{{'}; '_._Walwwth: Cuum-}?,_.a duly iiawrumania} organization’ ™ iz}“W&_'lwcﬁrtEx County: .

ermsm, HX}W Walweri%‘i Fflkhi}mg Wi 5312

"31,' aimw i"l’f(.'l W&iwmh (Gt&ﬂl‘g IF{Z‘EEU}'@R f maidmt of. Wmunmn 13 sﬁt.,é:.-
| mdmdualiy aﬁé.in hgr o_f{’icia! cap:—:cit;; gpnn lgrzfomaam_n. and b@i:ei‘ w’;is -I‘_reasm*er of Walworm '

_ Coumy, '_Wise_énsiﬂ -_mixd_'in t;iaarge': géi'f: the officers, agents, Servants an{i_ cmplofeés under her

mniﬁ:ﬂ  Yalerie -P’z'.'lzeil u‘as iil'sw;fokved 5-cmx$§)ire:ai zxsxdi.'e:él}.uﬂedl”witﬁ Wal woﬁh -C?.Gilm? mthe

wum and smmpzz of her unpioynmm and had kmmle,dgﬁ ﬁf the:: :eiwant iae‘if; of tha, Plamtjfﬂ
:t:zmtwvcray ‘valme Et&ei is Hable ;mr«;{ma}}) ‘o halml:ty un:m ihe Dm‘h'me ef R"spcns;imti-"iﬁ.:f_: S
.': '5 hnpirwr,, umier lhe Pmkuiﬂn Thma; ot i 1&%;115;:} (ap;)!zcd i eivil ;mﬁﬁr} and the fmquiwbic :5.i -
) -. mnduct ai” ii}e: agﬁm Vaiem E-Lzﬁ ;:famcipdwd in cmd r,ﬂCC}UfEIESGﬁ szmgtmncd umsienﬁsi ;md 3

mti{ 'ed the *mi:mi‘u -r::n'n'»:i_uct- @»g;- her :asfsm:zzﬁatg the Walworth County D&:&:ﬁdants_ _an_d Qo

| mﬁspzr&tﬁm th:LI(i of %upervmra ﬁ d}
bk‘i?a‘: Nﬂ ANTS, CO-C 3N &i’i R&TOR%
Board of %upew:sers

"::7__'22, I{emdy Izmms EZ}mle 1 Wa!wnﬁix ionnty ‘mperrmg;r 8 res;dcnt oi‘ Wz&mmm

18 sued mdwtdu&liy m:ui in hm eff cmi wmuty u;mn iziiormaimn md bal I’Lf wa‘; Sa!pfrxzisaor nf _
Waiwenh Cmmiy Wiswnam ami i ahfug;az of the mimra ag,mus, stﬁwams. ;md t:m})i()}’ﬁﬁ‘& umisr o
'."hxs cammi R.and& Timms was m*sr;:siwi mxaspurd and mlludeﬁ thh Waiwoﬂﬁ (Zmzmy in. ﬂm o

cousse and sc_ap_a of his z‘:mpi{;}mcni and bad i_m;xw_igdge of the _afeievam;facts of the ?im_atzfi’s s

”'Bﬁt,ause mgammnass aci ahm&tgh mu:iividu{zls (1) aets by e ﬁr,%;anmmn % eﬂic ials under actust or pu}’p{zm{i :
:w{hmty to act for the Qrgazuutsmt (2} aets h} agents, of the ergamzatmn within Heir authnnt; 0 act, o {3} aczs-_'

rau fiid by the or mas?ﬁhan shauid be mmidei od 25 adtivities af the or ammmn
L i

j.“&gmn 5. xaa,qmwbh, ks msy be smpuim m e ﬁnump!c: “haiimr of not ihe& ;’mnmp&, km}w af ﬁu: agem G

-mmmnduct _
oz
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- ;§mnir¢;vg:_rsy; Raﬂﬁ}f ’Ifizgixift_;';s'ﬁ.is:_ _I_fmﬁi_c pérﬁuﬁgﬁk}* éhd.iiabiiity..tinziér ihé:; Dﬁcir’.in_.@ of Il;eép&ndéiii S
Superior, under the Fiixkerim Theary of Liability (applied in civil matter) and thé inequitable
- wndm{ of ihu ngmt Randy ?‘imms paﬂiciyamd in and encournged, sanctioned, ccs‘zﬁfmedaﬁd

| mtihed ihu unawm Lonﬁmt of E’m asmmmu: ‘sh&: \’sf worth County Z}t‘!mdamb mzxi S0~

CONSPIratons, bi}aré of %pemsors et al

3

,_5,3., Wtiiiﬁm Numm District 2. Waiwuﬂh iimm%v ‘%upe&wmon A ré:suia,ni af Wi%onsm o

is sued mc%mduaiiy and m hls. ﬂﬁmm mpzuny upun miormailan and hehef was &ﬁpsw;sor gf L

Wa ivmi th te;untv Wz seonsil and in charge of the UU%&IS agents, 56 servanls and. meiaymm anderi

his wntm! Wrihmn Nﬂwm was mmlvud wn&pxmd and eolluded wzﬁh Wa{wnrth \ {)umy n the _ g

coursa zmd ecap& 9f hjs @mph}} zmm am he.ui kn{m gzigu of‘ ﬁm mlevam f;aajh of ihg Piamnfﬁ‘s N

COMIOVErSY, ‘s‘«‘;iilam Nurem i5. i;a%}im puwmﬁiy and zah;ht} uﬂd;,r the Roemm ot Reqpm]dcm.;

Superior, ynder me i*_mké'_mﬁfz. I‘hwry Gi.I_,mb;Ist:}’ (_ssppi;_ed in civil thatter) '_ami ;he 'z__zlgas;;{u;tﬂbis:i DT,

conduct of the agemt™, Wittt Norern participated in and sngouraged, sanctioned, condoned
an:i raﬁif‘ied thc uniawﬁzi mnduet'QE‘“-his_aﬁsociat@S, the Watworth County 'Dﬁf7¢-ﬂ§iini3 and wx
§ !CGI‘&S}}I mlors hs}mﬁ ef Superwg(}rs ai aL

24, 'E‘lm Eimklem?ml, Distrart

is 'suc:,*ci imiixfzdrraliy and i in "his offimai capaclty, upaix -mﬁ:nrmau('m and b‘eh{:t was bupiem‘sap 't}i’_ S

' _‘Wdimmh Caumy, W;%mm;z and in L,Ir::ugaa, of the officers, agmisg sewanil& and mlpimvws under._ ST

his mmml Tim Bmliemhm wax izzmlved wmmrui ami cuiluded with W’aiwenh L;mnty m the_‘.._ EEEE

SOUTSE amd ai,{rpe QF his mtpieymﬁm I:Ii'ld im(é Lnuwieeigt, of the: feievam i"m.‘ta {}i the T‘i;amiiﬁs

comrovefsy izm i%rc,il hm 15 ha 'aia.,‘ p&zwmli& and imb:hty under t}:a I}e;:irmc, {_‘!f Respondeni :

_ ”Ag;&nt’s tmqniiabte acts may be ;mpatc.d e tlar: principle whethct or awt ﬂli‘: prmmpla kmw of tha agem 5
-"mmcmﬂuut "

_ %sunt 3 zm,q;uiab!e #oks WAy b@ zmpaé:ﬂi 0 ehL pnticsaie wtzahe: o mt thn prmc:;&le Imem of the agemn
: mmamimk : :
13 -
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o ;-mactrme oi’ Ruspami&nt buper:m, ﬁnder {he Pinkerton - Hhmry of. lmb;i;&y (a,pplzed n Civll -

Ny wndm;f a:}f the zié‘ﬂ‘!]i . T;m ﬁmi!;mhm pm;up‘md in. dmi anuamgcd epanctlanod mnd(med -

and. ratifi ed the t.mlawm? {:t)miuut 9 lus gssociates, Ehe Waiwm“!’h Cmn&y Defend&ms amti m- ._::' |
' ;:mmpxratﬂrs, board of Supem 505 et al .
a5 Pazsi szm lhsirmt«@ Walwoﬁh Counly ‘éupemmr arf,s;dem ef‘ Wi‘i{:ﬁsibm 19'_ o

sued mdmﬁtmiiy a;zd in hz‘z mi’?caa wpmw upon mimmaiwn ui - hciwt \aaa ‘~upm;sm of a

his contral, E’cmi ‘n’mrm Wi mvs}i&ui wmmmd and {?aiiudui wzt‘i W‘giwarth Laursty m Zhe:. -
courw ..md se.‘upe at hﬁs empioymcm &nd h;;ci knffwfgégu ei‘ (h{“’ mls,‘nmt facts Df the Piamtaffs |
b 'LQI)tf()VuIE? P‘cnzi Y’mma is habic mr‘mm&!y and Habil ;ty Lmds::r thc, {}mmne af liesgxmdem -
_ -‘:,upermr under- ﬁze Pmlwrmn "Z‘heaw ;af Lmbglli} {apphed in: cxva‘i mattsr‘i and ﬁzs maquuablﬁ -

"_cunduct of thﬂ agmt _ ‘E’aui ‘:"i:arm ;mrm zpatrd n ami mmura;c,uj. mnctmmzd Lominm:d :md'_;- '

" Case:20-2204 - Document: 26 - Filed: 02/22/2021  Pages: 163 . »i:"

v 'ihﬂ ?mic&zm‘xn Thmry of Liabiht} (mpimd in civil matts.,f) and the inf,qmtdblc-_:f R

. fWaiwarth Cmniy Wmcvnsm and in s,hm g_.,e af the ﬂl‘f’:.t:rs, agents. a,mfsms and empioyees tu}def' L

miificd zh‘, unlawiul uondmt of his. aswuma,a ih@ 'Walwm‘n C‘uuniy Daiendants zmzd w~. o

o eampiralor», h(}dﬁi of "supcﬂ isors et ai

"32{:' {.,‘mriam, %ﬁaptca i)rssmi 5, Walworth - Cﬂunzy %npuvzsor a msxdm{ u% - E

'i&zsuonsm is sucd x;zdxwdua[ly azn::i in her s;ffmal capuc;t‘y, upun mfammtmn and be.iaei was g

_mf;pk_ayees _unéﬁr. h_er'x_:ommi; {,.ha_rifme;: Staples wag -.zrggois.{ed:‘ C(?n&mmd,_:gmd_ :co_li_ude;i -:'xy_;_zh- .
o Waiwﬂrfh -'{:oumy {n thHe ébﬁiré& and scope of her em;}la}fmt“:ht and had .km'wletigw {&f'ﬁ'ia' relevani

facs 01 :he; Pi‘mz;m c;ommv;,my © i‘t&ht&j}.& Staples. ze habiu persamiig s imh;lﬁy umie thc-

m :smud bet

. Agmﬁs maqwxabk: zxm ma} b tm;}med ko ihe prinekte wwihc‘f oF oot the ssxitzmp&a kz:e:w aE‘ t!m agrm!
i ;mlwmtduct : :
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matter} ?ﬂhd'ih;a}fi;rﬁquﬁabie . a:qnducf of the agent”’, '_i}haxlﬁni_:'&iéplﬁs part_i_g:lipalcﬁ. in :;ud o
envoriraged, sanciioned, condonad ﬁmi rabified the uﬁ%awﬁz! cunduet of hgf_ asé%x‘:i_ailgsj,. zﬁe
- Walworth :{inunty ._D&fﬁnﬁéiétﬁ audl co-conspirators, E‘mmd_q‘}f Sopervisors et al, |

- 27, Kathy ingﬁrsaiim Dhistrict f}, W akwortls (Zfiuui;#;y"i‘re-sxsumr, i rﬁéid&&ﬁf of Wi'scéﬁzéi.ﬁ: ..: )
is sued mdn ldtméiy and in her ciﬁuai capaany ugmn mimmatmn xmd be iiei was "Irea,surer of
WﬁiWﬂfﬂ} g oumsf W i %am‘:m and in eharw of gim o ﬁxwm, gsenm sereanis ‘md empley{:&& undel' -
cimm'an;i sm‘pﬁ_ﬁf-hé—t emp‘ieymzzfét zmci ha{i knowledge of Lh_c mievm;z ifgzgztsg_qf the ?ia;niiffs"-_ | :_-
COULOVersy. 'Kéﬁi}? !nigex'svli is i%abié'pﬁrrsunaif%}hﬁd }iatﬁsi!iiy _unﬂer the i‘)o.ctfine.cf‘ Re:épéh&éni _:' :
Superiar, undm the P'miu:rim ﬂl&.ﬁﬁ‘ of imbzinv {app ligd in emi zmitu\ :md the meqmtab{e,

conduet r;f' tht: ﬂg{:m F;ath} huﬁumli partfmpale& in zmd mcmxr&g&d s.amimmd mndaned _

;azid mtifseé ﬁ}e: unlaw 1ui mmiuct crf het aaam,mm. the Walwmth C‘mm@y De?‘enddm mci o~ |

cansp;mwrs.; haa’rd Qi‘ _&supmzmrs- et al.

28, !}avui Weber, District 7, i&’am@ﬂh C mml\» %upewmar 2 rmtclf:ni uf Wasmnsm 1&. L

o '_-s;sad md;vtdua}E} dﬁﬁ m h;b f}f fmiai wpa{zlw upcr: mﬁomaimn aﬁd b&liﬁf WS “supem:aar c:sf |

Walwmh Cﬂumy, Wtawn:qm zmd iy z:h&rgg ni the officers, agmts scrv&n!,:s am;i Etmp}{}}fﬁeﬁ &nder o

her wmmi i}awd \v‘v’bhﬁi Was mmfmdg mnspzmii am‘} eotluded mth Wahmrt{z Cazmty in the S

":"'ﬁf“:';"_._.gmursc anci m}pe of hrs empk"symem xnd had knowiecig,:: of ﬁze reievani f‘!£i‘i c;f 1%1&: Plamtifﬁs o

wntmvcrky David Weber is izabi:, mr«mmily aaxd ini‘s;is{} undm tht: Dm?;irme of Reapamdﬂm

_ Superizar___kju_rxdf_zr-ihg}:Pipkermn: ‘I“he);fa:y.a'f Liab‘i_l_i;y (applied in civil tatier) and the _ingqm;&b!(: o

“’Agénl H m::e;utia&sle acta may b:: ;mpntﬂd 0. the prmu;ztr: wheuwr oF it mr‘ pﬂﬁuplﬁ Ln;.w of the agcni g
L f'mascﬁnchwz ' o

2 Vagew's mz:quﬁab!é: &cts may hf: zmpuim i il*ic. p: rmiple w!mﬂmr or not z!w prmugﬂﬁ %cmw c}f iiae ag&nts' g
o i--mi:,ccndtxci _ . _ :

.'_15 :.
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G ggpdug,i nf t%w :&gcm“& }3&V!t} Wz,,bm pawupmd in mgﬁ mmumg&d, s;mciwned wmi::)m:{i and:'_
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'mu hcd the, unlawml wnduci 0%’ hz;s awtu,mtm 1hf: ‘E«Jaiwozﬂa oumy Bs}fml;iams and cawﬁ EEE

eanspirators, board s::t ‘:'npuwbnm et a!
2% Daniel G. Kilkenny, _2‘,%15;trtct 8, Walwoth Luum}; Supervisor, 4 regideit’ at "
Wuzconsm 18 sum:i mdmduaily aud i hiy official mpausy upari information and bchet was

‘iu‘{:iemsor of Waiwaﬂh i,mmty ‘Wisconsin in durge of ifm ﬂfimﬁrsg agu}ta se:rwnts ami

; empiny%s mer her. ccar:lml Daniel G Kiil».umy was mm ve;i mnspml amd colluﬂizd w:th;_

Walw&rth (,aum} in the caus:‘sr: aﬂd scope of hiy unpiayimm amsi hasi kmwiwdge (;f ilw reie:vani_ g

'%;xcu of the Piamtﬁi"h mr*tmmmf Daniel G, k)&keﬁm is imhic p&ranm}ll} and hgbahiv umiﬁr;; |
'.:_the E?unmae oi‘ {tmpmdmt %u;ier}m umhar I%zc, Pinkérlon 1 wor} cri Luinlziy (apphed m Li\fli. e
_-lmatluj ami fkc imqnltkahie mzzf:imt e:}E“ the aﬁﬁem i}mm:i G, kzikszm} partmgpatcd m aml_ : B
crzwurag&d xanctmm,d ;m&anﬁd md mﬁhezi itie unlawﬁnl mmﬁm: uf' hm asmmaias, g;he'l':.'i :-".-::-'r
_Waiwm}} {‘t}t;mw Dﬁfmdmla and uQ»«mnsgz:rﬂiQﬁ. board of Sulwmmrx el asi |
1 ‘?,usan -M Pmﬁv smgm District ‘f? Wdlwnrth szniy Supﬁmsor, 8 x‘s.mdenr of
Wiwmgm zs mt,d mdmém%b anci m imt ﬂﬁmai Lé}pﬁblt}’ upan mfcsrmatwn and iwizeﬁ’ wug - e

o %upt,msﬁr m Wa!wmh (fmmtyq Wmumm in &hdrgu of 1%153 oi'ﬁmvrﬁ, agmta, :wrvan&s amcl :

employees uncicr hu uoniml ‘Em,zm M l"ru;,s:smg was- mvoived,. wmmmd and eol mied mxh

_ _ Walﬂerih Coumy ;n ihe courss am,i scope of tu,r cmpiaymcni and haﬁ knewledge s}f mg rz}kmint - |

: --'2”34,13 cef thf—: Plamnffs mntmwmy %man M. Prues szng is itablc ptm)miiy and I;ainhiy under;:':;;_ i

Ehe, Dty ine of Ka:sg):mdmt %up»rwr wder the Pinkerion Iiwm'}r of Lmhnat;; (app}mﬁ m cml- -

P gent’s. mequiiablu aa,is mﬁy hg ssnpuzvd 16 ﬁm prmuple: wimiher oF. nal the or mmpm knew nf the agent’
o _mx'mm{m o L
C Papent's mequ;tﬁbia Aty may B imlu:tui m Iht, principle hhcﬂher or not tbes prmmpie R[ww at thr, agant‘ EE

' mzswmiud ' o

18
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'.'.nﬁaiter) and | the i:a:_t.;;q_l.l-imb.i_'e genduct ot the agent™ . Susan M. I—‘meésiug partieipaicd in and
encouraged, wnciimged,;_céndmn&d and ratified the unlawful conduct of her associaies, the
Walworth County Defendants and co-conspirators, _bmars;i of Supervisos el al.

3. Keanath H. Metroe, Ihsivict 10, ?si'zz!wn-r{h (_T-s;:st.z‘.nw Supervisor, a reéid_ent of
Wisconsin is \us:d mdmduai!:, and in his official gdpd@ﬁ:}, upon information 3nd belief was
Superviser of Walworth (‘mtr;w Wmcomn in charge of the omceﬂ. agﬁwts servants and
umpiuysces.umdcr hey wmml Keneth H. Mamms waa mvc}ivmi Lenspimi and eotluded with
Waiworih County in the course Ja’:ui au;:pa a;f his meiovmcm andd had knowledge of the relovant
facis of the P%amm’ﬁ, mntmvcray Kenneth My Monros - is habic, pemnni y and habuiaty xmder':.j
the: Dac.tmw of Re&pandum Superior, under the Pigker i(ni Theory of Liahility { appiwd in eivil B
_ nmtter} and the zm.qmtabk, comiu(;t of thc apent’’, h;enn_ath H. Monroe parﬁmpat&d :;n and -
mwumgad s&miumd wmimm? «m:ﬁ ratified the un ‘iwiiii condugt uf his assouams, tht,

Waiwar‘th C{mnty E,}s,{emmms ami m«mmp;mi{)m bcmrd ot %upwwwas &t al,
32, Naney Russell. Dhstriet 11, W&iw{'mh County Supervisor, a resident of Wisconsin s sued
| imiividuai iy.' and in iiéiﬁ aff‘:cial capacity, upon inf“mmtiﬁﬁ sn';i _b@liéf was Sg;ﬁe_rﬁéﬁs of
ﬂwm 111 (“(mmy? Wzscumm and in ﬁ.ﬁm‘g,tf of the af‘tmm apents, wm—mt% and employees undey
her aomreal Maney Rua::.e}il wag involved, wmpamd fmd callnded wnh Walw&:fh {.‘mmty inthe
' courw and «,ca)pa of her ex :Em meent amxd had knowledge: nt t['zc rulev&m fucts of the Piamtif‘fs
By wmmwrb}* Nancy Russell is habia, persenaily and Hability under ihe Doctring af Rcbpﬁndent

' §>upa,rmi unde:r the I’mkeriun ’!?u,m y of I l:!h}l!i}‘ (applicd in civsl matier) and the qummhie -

“agent’s mqmmﬁ[e acty maty be mpmed m thx, prmcnpie whetlwr o ot fhe ;;rmupie anw of th;a ags:m s
miswnducz

 Apent's }l‘lt.(llilllibl;, avls may ‘bo: zmpms,d o the plmmpi; wimahu ar not the prioviple knew: 0f thc agam s
_mmomlun;t '
17
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conduct of the ageni™, MNaney Russell participated in and ¢ncz>zt_f_aged,.sa_nar‘tigm;i.;,f;;p'xxdqnéd and -
3 r&tii’iggi the _anieiwﬁai conduct of her associaios, the Walwarth County Defendants and co-

conspirators, board of Supervisors et af,

32‘3 {)Ciﬁﬂdeﬁﬂb J nim Ez:;e; E»k e .\% éimanh County ﬂmpiﬂ s g:mag ai:mmays wim aidtd and. -
. aheﬁui defmd&ntee ather Waiwmiz Couny cisﬁ:tﬁd eﬂ" uilh sz:creiﬁa*m umpl{)yﬂms B
rcspeﬁszhia for the sham apy mmaiq These individoals are currg nily unkmsm bt Plamm‘t
: E.}\[)Cblb thsu; ihmr u‘h.m;{m mii ba: i tmwr;& in ihé ;o&r% (zf du,c,o VELY, f}himciama I ohn T}na _

1X. are suett in t_heir i_miivi;iual_ ca.pamy,

FACTUAL ;;_;s(:.ﬁf;:;éégim_ =

_i&mi fistate Appraisal Sz.#ﬁgérﬁs .
13, f‘m appraésal is an mtc gml ;3&{% of 4 i{,al ggi‘nu !csdaa 1;&;1%3;1:9:} It prm;d%
pumhascré of Walwm& (.” oumy Ta*( i}eltm went F’ropom w;th ti‘m mrsam e obtam an upmwn of |
valuc from a iéeensed ami quzziitwd '-_s_;pwziil-ﬁt; 1t also -_pmw&i@s .przatss:;tmn for i-;nang:zal and- puh_lz_c

o p{\iicy mtcm:bts mica% estate tmnkmﬁzms with ﬁvdf‘mlh ingared f’ namzal mstztulwns e

S 34, | Appmsah are Wpu.aiiv g{)vemcd by a uumi:mr of ummm‘s mndards, regz;tamnb SR

and laws 44.1n | ’:13@ (‘ﬁmgrcﬁ% ac%&;mxl Title X1 of thﬁ %1nancml Insi;t’utxons Ret{xm, Rcsmvcrv
and Enfor wmmt m:t {%i’ 1*1}89 (*‘FIRRFA"} Sw 1248 % 333! o seq. (h&trcaﬂcr “Tﬁke Xi“}

Thie X1 m:gwrm ieci‘,m!ivwmsumi financiul instittitions to {abtam & witten zxpprahal ihat sn“ictly

- conforms to. i’SF‘&? Sian{iard% in mnmczmn msh any rea’i priape Tty imumi by the i*e{icml-_

. f.mesa‘mg Acimmrau'mmn ("‘?]iﬁs”} See 12 ii 5 L § I?Og(f}

:"Zﬁxgﬂ!}{ 5 mqtﬁiahie fmts may !)i. rmpumi o 1!1& 1 mupit. wiaether er mﬁ tha: pmm,{pis knﬁw nf thrf agem‘ _
tmsmndm:t

18
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35 Federal law also roquires thatsuch appraisals “be performed in accordance with

uniform standards, by individuals who have demonstrated competence and whose professional =

- c:'oud_uc! is. subject 1o effective supervigion.” Id at § 17080(1). &é&itiar’xaﬂy, such EJSP:AF -

_ ﬁppr 415 als ;hgh.akl be f;t»rinmn.d in accordance with generally as:cwwd appraisal standardm an.d -

each ﬂppmiaa is. m bra wmtm *;fzzt,mmn ikmt is “inde;;a..ndmily ;m{d} ;mpdrtmiiv prcpare;i by a -
hcmsézd or cemﬁcd dﬁﬁra;ser %:etung !’ar‘éh an upmwu of defined valmr 01 an udequabdly
éﬁscrxi}'eci pmpk‘fifiy_ a% Qf 4 sg;m;x_iﬁa éawﬁ_:ﬁuppﬁricd by presentai:m} and '-a_nalysgs 0‘? miexr_an_t_:_-'_”
miarket iﬁf&_}.{'ﬁxaﬁt_}n,”.lﬁ {',%,S:,{_L.‘-.'{é-I?iﬁéﬂ{?)‘i?‘a}sfg)?- | | TR
T ' The USPAP tﬁ?_{.g&z.i:ﬁ:;ﬁi_..&éprﬂi&f&t&:ﬁﬂ conduct t’hei_r. dppraisals .iirfu'iepm%dénﬁy:and -
cnin'petemiy:. “An _ dppi’am%r 'Zrl'tli§l '_ga%:rtbm{ assignmenis 'ivi'thf- _i’ri;pariisiity; nbjmivuy, _and .
'.'nzciepeznﬁenm, gmd m(hﬁm &Lcwmmmidtmn of mrmmi !lli’fL’TCS‘E% in appmmai pramz:t?. &n

upprﬁ;wr mmi mi pcrfm e as an &dmmte f‘car any pm}f or I‘ﬂim’ U‘Si’&iﬁ Lthuzs Rulf: U‘SP&P :

mleb also. prct-wds, that “{a]n ap;}ramct m;m 1ot aw:rpr im ass;gnmem 1hat mciudes {h@ 're:pomng = . o

':.'Of pm{iuex‘mmml Opisuom and wmiuswns " !éf
| : j«i ' Thg: EIS’ PA}? aiw zeqm ms thad an appmm,r Qc}mm&maam tiw sesult oi' an apprmsai B
_in'a manner that is not mzs&c aldmg '}"hﬁ purposu (}t this e is to mmm Ihsgi “the lem ar;zd emy:'
'.intt,nded ﬁsm‘s wh{}se é.xpected rehfiiat:e on @ apprmsai iy 1% &ﬁ%aiaé i‘}}f the‘: s:%teni af thc:
apyzmsar $ knvw;gaimn are pwpml'e mfon‘nmi and are rzm mawd as o fhf.: awpc ﬁf woris: e Id :
. ln_.ihi.s _i.'etrm‘d, the appt_”aiser“_s “seope of work”™ st inchude the rese_saz‘eh'aﬁd 'anz_;lygas nﬁmﬁﬁat’y
:ﬁﬁ iit*\(lffl(}j} grﬂdzi% &S&sigﬁmerzt 'fes;.u:?:té; To that end, -éﬁ a;igﬁi&iﬁeir .ﬂlﬁsi ﬁvt. “.‘emlu{ié-_ any
mfurlmiu}n OF pmcedum ihai x&ouki dppbm to bt, rdwzmt 510 thc dimi, an mtmndﬁ:d us&r‘ or. Ehe

: :a.pf}xmwr 5 pcerb w ﬁzg same or & aimzidt r;fmh. 1. ;\ddzmmli} an appfamer “must mt ailew S

o _a,saignmem wmilt;m% or oftier ém,wis to izmiz the extent of m&enmh or ami} g1 to %ussh 3 dugce R

18
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that ths msuit;% (}pmmm and mm:iu%mm ém*eiopﬂi in an am:ggﬁmmt are ﬁOf &fﬁd&blu in ﬁm _

. umtam e::fthﬁ: zntcndu:i Bb&l‘ e:si‘ zha apprami “ 1d

38 Ths: iﬁé;}?{k? further pmvum zhm fe is imethic ai h:rr an apprazs;.,r 1(3 ﬁccept an

_w,;mm, oF m havs: a cmnpensmmn an mg,ument §’Qr s, aush g,nmcni ihat is cummgem m any
of the fal Iuw;% | ' . '
O () thé mpamm; :}f‘ a pre(lctummcci mulz (j" s (:pmmn of valwz)
: (i“*} a-dtrecneﬂm assig-;nmen_t ey ui{s that Iavors ih& &aus;z ci‘ !h;. cli u:m
- | {r,_:_} ' tix» a‘mmzm of ] ‘;alﬁg, “plm(m, - '

Ay ‘tilc auammeui a)f a ﬁfsmz!&i{‘& mmit oF

& th;f: fmf:urrenw 0{' a ‘mlm:;;tseni t:s;em é:r«:ctly m!aicd 10 tht. apprazscr g
: a;};m«;r\s and "pﬁiﬁil!i_‘ to the aaalg,nmmt § pm‘;&oas,

39, Iﬁ adctztmﬁ, e:ach l}‘%PAE’ appiatsai teport must wnmm & cemﬁcatmn s:gm.é by.-'_.{"_;.'_

the ap‘pmmr ‘s?ﬂliﬁ&, t}}m h;s oF hc,r mmg)enszauon ior cam;}iwng the m&;;g;mem is pot R

-mnlmgm& upan thu dwelﬂpmcm or r&pﬂmﬁb sofa prt.dmmumd vzaim. of damctmsx m v&luu thatf
favors the &ause of iha (,iielll fd‘ o _' o : ) - _
4& Tht: USPAR ahmciardb are mcorpﬁmicd mke f’edera! iaw* 12:¢ I* R, §3r§ 44 iauch- |

| iaw pmmiz.a ihat an m«hmzsss o Bta-{i appm:«m at & hﬁnk must be mdq)e,ndt,m of thc {endmg,.

m\!e%umm :m;l {:ulimfmn mnc:tmm and fiot ll‘iV{‘}i‘%d ema.pi ﬁ an appra;,ser, in th&- fedwaiiy,_ :

iaieci iransactmm and have. 7o dmet o mdzm’;i interest, . financial - or oﬂlermse, m the_ SR

:"___"'-pmpeﬂy . !2 OF R § 34 45 Ami fnf dpprmwrx wlm L mdepmdcm wntram)rs or “fﬂe 5:'.;.{'-';-1 -

'apprmaem, iu& mg.,.uidmm mm‘rari} wqujr s thog Vihe dpp; aiser shall be Lnbaged si;m:ziv b}s’ mc'_- S

"re,gu]atad msmutmn 01 zts agfmi dt:d ham 11t ;iz;“ext or mn:ll reoy mtgm& fim}mzat o :ﬁhewn s, m-f;'_'

L the pmp;_s:_xty..;i;*an;;_acmr;;f’_'.E.;;;i_?;,P B § 34:-434.
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pmvi_dazs“ frs pertinent. parl, that: “no person with an Enter:est'in & real estate i'mnszwtion iiivé!vi.ng
o a mhmtum %hali 1mpwpmiy mﬂnmc:: or xztze}mpt i0 ;mpmgwh mfiuﬂnca. the deveiapment
néﬁé&ng, result or review oi that mtuatmn thmugh mcmon eﬁm’ﬁon bt:besg, mtzmxdatmn.

I mmp&nsatmn, or. tmtrucuon

A2 The éefe‘-ndants do fot wse the iISPAP apprmsai stanéanis 10 d;icmzme thﬁ value;j' '

of iz;x_deiiﬂquen_‘i real estate that Walworth i,,ou'ﬁ{y seils,

m{:‘rs

_@3 ihs: Pimnﬂffﬂ are pwners of pwp{’rty HE Wa&wuriﬁ {;{mrﬂy, Wiewmlm smce:
l?ﬁﬁ. i:)n Augusi 4 281? ti’m Plabntiffe" mu,w».,d A icitu from ”xfaiem mm t‘ha, Watwmh : _
N ounty Freasurer, mi&zrmmg; i‘hem {hai Waix‘mﬂh { uum}{ im%s: pusﬁes\son {’,si' a p&rt.el Qf gfroparty:_ B

that “bﬁﬁiera mur pro;‘teriy anai mav v be of mizm,st 0 901;“ 4 Fxhib!i i.&, a true smti L{lmct cnpy :

ofthe August 4, 20 1 ’? !ctter)
4_% T}zu gaid pr mey ‘i%\zai a?mts the Plaietiff has 11{) mad acees. I‘hc road dcad ends

a 1{)(1 foet bcfme thc pmpert}; { f ax l&ev Numbgr hi (,3’1) 1}0986 ) %‘urﬂwr t}w caszzmmﬁ far the road

Was ci&,dcd back iothe ad; acent pmps,m ownerﬁ f he said aahcacmt fﬂi ig thus an. unbmldabﬁe iot_

- that hgs _valqg_ﬁ,zliy'.'§u_ the Plainitf beeause the ot borders the Plaiolif ’f‘s.pr{)peny‘ -Ti'ae ﬁatci -

vac:ant Iot hus o péésiiﬁ!é'viﬂue'éf $ L3000, g;}iy o iha, add _Icli.i;:m pmpu%y holder, the l’tamt:ﬁﬁ

.Ihc *;auf pmpu*w 1(3&1‘1&?’%&11 2% Tax }\ev Number JL{”i} DOVR6, is not @ bmid"lble Jot, thtz-

: .Waiwm‘th {‘{)Gnty foﬂihfants fmudulmtiw apprised ihe value z;t $i1 400 00, w1thcmi 8. USPAP

apprmsai oF any w;ahd appmmi ’Hn, vidue at. Sll 46‘6} {}0 was naf a imgltirnme Gpam{m {}f 1!1;~

vacant, 1_%.31:5 :;_.ct:u_al xk_alue, f_Lam:i focked without Ingress or asgz"eﬁs émm g puunty mad). _
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- _he {khnqut,m real estatc taxes on the 101 zd@mii}e{% as ?Li’ 7} {){}98& We:ra abaut o

_5§2 70000, The ¥Jt‘:tmdam$ mmmm on the Tot identified s J1C D 00986 & see (Fxhxmt z) !‘he : |

| Defmdams listed the lotidemified mj D {I{F}E%h with 8 imuauie,nt appraised value of %‘11 4()(}}: S

- for bldcimg“, al ‘:helr m Sziii’: a}i dt.hnquem I{m’! E siale in %aptcmlm ﬂ‘i 2017 {Fﬂhii’m 3.
I‘he tmudulent appmmd valu:, of $Ii 43{3 f{’}f an numc:sashi;: Im WaS "98 ?{)f} £}{3 mzsre_;_;;

. 1han thc $‘7?{}0 in bac;ic, taxes mw & 10 o ot ‘fl i‘*i} ﬁu%& tu Wﬁimmh ¢ ouniy I‘he W;xiwarih _
: County sia,imdants mtended m make a pmm of §8, ’?{}U 00 on the fomciucsed pmpcﬁy kmwn as_.

JLEOD (0986, wbmh was in exenss of il:c &2 ;{}(} a0, g&;apzw; }ewm in m«;k mai csmc i’meﬁ

_ 46 A& ﬂ}e., m\éﬂmzﬂn of ‘Lw: %igtiwi’,xrﬁx {Jmmty Trcaxmm Xz’aﬁmﬁ £ izei {F xhﬁm i) th&

Plamzsz n;.aciﬁt & Emi" {i*"mha!m 4) on'a vacant mx iﬁ(}xii}ﬁ) fwi thm has Ho .mw%, m:: zngress or

s,‘grg $8 by a (imgnmd ruad t&x aﬁs,hm;uem pm;:cny knmm as i %‘;’i B {38986 oi $3, ﬁﬂ(} |
: '_ } “i he Wahmrth metx i}-::fcmianbs mjmwd the Piamtrif’ ’md uf %2, 59{3 far-' .
propetty kumwa a,s IL&D {}{}%6 @n the irxw}i{mg gmuncis Iml ii was hgim’v ihz:xr :E!egxtirnatc.”_:'f'.:.3 |

_appmmé wlue, ol §1 i 4(}(} {hghahiﬁ 8y,

2}8 Plamnfin are mfame& zmci h;hwa tkmt i’}eimdazﬁs fn@,ag.ed i umfarm mam{é
of sy m,mauc;aiig mrrupi;mg, Ehg app; ;mai prm,etgs in wzzmcxmn w1t}z {aiw, mdccamiﬁ: icg&!ly
- 'manda‘te:d appmgaiq aastgm&d tor pmpmm whmh W;ﬁiwmh ﬁafemigmfs mmmpi 1) xeli ai thelr;_.:'
Treasurer's i}fhc;, ln R:f:m iax 1"m e;immes {i‘xhnhu i} wh:;h are ﬁn i (:‘Mls-Sh of 'thc pmpeﬂy

tax t)W@d on the fczfcc.ﬁosed pmp«eﬁw&

o ® Uil{iﬁ%" ;;uy swndnrd of faw this is c;zm:zmi $ar & Wisconsin County, _\!f’alwonh & aumy (o e aliowed undm‘ the .
L ;--w[or of faw 10 explols B7s vight to collect iate taxes on it redl pstste, fo allow the said wanrity, to knowingly and
avilifully foreclpsire on fax delinguent propery owners, for hiek real estate tmxis with the intent to rétail that seired
- property for milated markol values, with pliody, shant appraisels, idivest nompetition with private property awriers
" who.are selling thelr real estare, This eyt should, sue sponte, strike down the \E Isconsin Statue: Llsapwr 75 i and_"-j '
Sold for Taxes Chapher 475,69 that peoniin this a8 uncovstitutional. B
- The Phdnsil slse bid on twe other Wabivodls Connty properties igmwn as JL{’B {}"I}"ié AND fifia o 0'?{)3 B
S PlahHE -bids’ were sisp f{s_wcied: E;sy W.iimméx Ctmmy Defendimts on th£ gmaﬁda that ;}lamtsff‘& bids were. 133& R
: '_tﬁan &he apgmmd WEUM . :

2
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Théz";%*aiwmfh'Gﬂiiuizty*f)eé’éndants appmiséis are géﬁczmted i&ithat:t 're'géifsi forihe o

&pp!‘&l‘sdi S BCCUTALY émd mete,m% pzmnm:d hsgh vzziucs which art,f dcs;gmd 10 *mssi‘y ﬁwar lust fer; S

o prx}ﬁg aﬁer fs}tex,lmmg on, ihur tax de mquuu propeity OwWners. I}uff% his time tmme bﬂ{wwn ..

: Marz:h of ’}(}iﬁ ;md Auguﬁt of ’?{}U in furthuan{‘e ni Dufcnd&ms u:ﬁawiui apprzmai :,cha,mc,
?iamtzﬁ:n LT mfxzrmeti and &Eluc th@i the W aiw(mh i)gfendax;te nmu;ﬁh ﬁ,s agemg iaﬁie:,d m
_ prep&m andz OF OF cauaa:d w.be p;epand -a%mm al_“{‘i}"lhd‘]*‘i fur ihﬁ‘ all of the pn:rpmzm im'ted on tht:_ :

R ”{)i ? Ireasum In Rem '1 ax }*m‘cdomm hs{ (Mhihxt 1} whzc:h shd nct mﬂform £ the Umf{}rm-

‘%tandarzls of P‘mﬂ*sswmi ip mrx.zi ?mf:ucv and the Code t;f E‘roi’as&xf}naé Ftiucs of- tha___,: o

| Appmmai imnmtc | B |
5{} ' &II ef thn.f said Ag:;zrmsmi vahm hstcfi On thc‘ Wa umrth Lnunt; "{}1? ’?nx.;
fnr@asum im a.m **falae mxk fmuduimt: md were not prepared af pmpami ;m aii ac:c:mimg iﬁ.--:-- |
_'iESi*Ai’ standﬁr&s, reg,,matmns :md L;w% p,ovammg} apprmaa amﬁ timm wers. xii%mma{a ‘md ;
' vmlmd E‘ule XI %-HE.RLA Hm requmm&nﬁ:s and qmtc iaw amang athers Snstead the
- Walworth 11 oy de fmd,m&b unm aziefi th&:zr fraudalent amﬁﬂmi sahum fmm 1!1@ ;m‘bim. :
. 51:'-__' mfendaam umﬁ)xm prw.,nw of symmamuliv mrrupkmg, the :appxmsa} pm:mé iy

C smnmmn w;ﬂ; the z«,ala nf {ax de»lmquam n,,a.é al&!@ wis nwm mm}mmd tlmt ﬁlﬁ. Walworth-: f

_ (‘aunty E}f.itnddtﬂﬁ Vym mdﬁfhrem m ihe appmum}’a au,uraw zmd msfead ths: puxpnse was w o

. mee pre~£&~xm&§ apgamaai’a iR urd:.x & strenntline f)ﬁiui’tﬁaﬁi‘? sale {af ia’i daimquaﬂt pmpus‘ty .

business ami list-tax delinguent ;m_;-pmis:s_ faster rather than to provide an honest appraisal__ valve © .

of tha ia\; deimqumt pmpmv vaiw:m .

5% leiﬁ‘f& am mfmmﬁd ::md tssdim o5 that 5} s:ﬁrmes;tmﬁ wuh the \st;slworih {;‘ounty.._ c

Deﬁwdwm appmmai sen,heme £ir ;a,ciﬁ-d the thme hzda that zhc Plainuff madu tm iax in thal tht, L

3
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a ":'piamnff fhd not hsd t}m aﬁegui appz aised value wtabiaa&md bv ihe Walworth C‘nuﬁtg. ii)efemimtn 5_ :j S

{ﬁaxhihl{ é)

53, Piammi gave wnstrughw notice ihmﬁ' it wi:mid '5;&& the Waleﬂh .'C'ouhty-

o "_f-}"}efcnda:rﬁs i i S sa:d bid& wers e ﬂcm{i for any umanszzmtmmﬁ reasnn {Eﬁ‘llhii 4) i"iamnif"s__'

b!dswem'rﬁ;ects‘zd (i}l:;mhzt. 3. “Thisg faw suit fqliﬂws,-

?ER&%‘? {' i;&i‘ﬁ E‘Q}R REE&F?
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r’ﬁﬁ’) Piazntxﬁs Rici mtmt is pxedlumd or thzs com{ f‘ n(img ihat the Wl%uns;n ‘s?zztzztc' S

_ Qhapix.,r 3 l;m{i \oid im Taxes i’arag‘mph 15.69 %alu of tax dcimqm:nt r‘«ai c&taie 15_::'_-:.
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“ T;ﬂai&lfmtedﬁtate&(“ad& ’seéiiari i‘?ﬁ_l(;‘%} (e ""Waiw@rth {:amy _I%ﬁtef.ptiSéf’}. Thﬁmffam oi S

the: Wdiweﬁh a‘:’num}, B intesprise aﬁcc&d interstate coramerce mmug&h a pattern of rackemeng_'

L actj v;i:y Bv rmmemtm ma;ilngs u%mg the {1 Pmtzst Serv;ea nmi by wire and cmail
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. agreementa, i:mmmai i;m éiﬂd wmdm.mm uf ﬁmmtm be.,twetm ’Wal%eﬂh {"‘aun{y a.nd tha_'

i --p“r%ons md.fur uﬁazz;s proc urmg; 'md pr«.parm g fhe frzmduicm a;&psats&h

: -::_.__;fa Gg}ﬁ:mung thz, Vea?wmth C‘Qumy {,nwrprm em urdzz}%, n p{}Fme&. ami ptmedzxrezb?;fi_' R

“’dw&luped ;md embiisised ‘by ﬁs I}lrmims i*:upurv isors, cwmuvm Wﬁiwarih C‘aumy contm}led_ R

and dsrmicd thee: aﬂam ﬁ}f‘ th:, Walwm’gh Connty ?nwfprm imd uac,:i th@ ather membsrs {‘Pf the._._.: | _ 5__5

Waiwarﬁh tomby Ei‘lt&f’pﬁ‘istf aq matmmﬁmaimcs P mvry oui :he imuduieni schem w

with it safe of l;ax dglznqueut rampeme%

' fmudu{ently* systcmmmily iiﬂd um fﬁmiy prud uee, fﬂ[ﬁ&: “ app; mqals" tai ?ii);)ﬁ:ﬂ!i’s m cannemxon_'- -
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_:_-:who dmmgmdeﬁ the apprazsal “mda,pmmumc rnqum,manth and 11mmpukai:.d t‘he marke{ values_' o
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pmciuctmn of . mﬂ&tmﬁ appmmh 1mci,for ust simply. mmauiag,tumrg appmmals wuheut afxy o
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E he E‘rs,t%aaatq, Mf%

- 62 ' Tilc Waiworlh {“‘mmt}f Enterpnsa g &ghcme i imndulmti} Wsta,matxwil} em{fe.. o
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. %iaw:a {.,mie se:(,mns 1341 and 3343
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o & ;a" pmmu, act ";s}@;deg éia_a'z “whoever, baving devised or -ir;s;;;-zﬁdi_;ag 6 dov e any fs'ci;.efm of
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mtm“me(k ami beizew that it m‘n;}ac{mn with the w!zeme fmm its c::i‘fii‘&ﬁs m Wdlw«}ﬂh Csmmy,_: S
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3)&1:&{13&1’1& Pmpa’-ruess‘. N
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: asecl in &zrﬁzmﬂy an }{icnucal way a,euy dzz}

: 68. ”{he Walwx}r& {,u»um; E* mcrpmc: has ismwmgly, zmammmfiv of rmkiewiy
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intentionally mp&eman{mg the :}z,,hm}u t0 m;srcpm«m{ and wnc:t.ai Ehesr statements abaut iima :
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' Bt tmnsamnmg.& té}a, g}hm}y umpmy apgramin
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'pmpmics at Is%ar: h;w
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72 The Walworth County Enterprise organized and implemented the seheme, and @

 enswed i continued uninterripted Dy convealing thelr use and otherwise manipulsed

“appraisals” from consumersy; including Plainti Ffs,
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77, Under the- pmwmm& ol Bection 1964(c) of RIC 0, memhers of ﬁw Waiw&rm '.j':_:_::: o s
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.82. . m a dirwt &mﬁ ;‘;ln‘ﬁii’!‘lﬁtﬁ‘ result. i’lmn{ﬂ?&. Ixav@ bs:’eu m;;.uui n ihur bummss or

o __'pmperty by the pmdmam sels which- maéu, up. ti‘w: Walwnrﬁ; C{mmy i‘mupnse s pancm {}f. Co
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_ ;mm?m&rs csf Waim}fth . uurty ‘%‘ ax Dﬁiwquem pr{s;wm of the alleged mnéuﬁt Lh’%i‘gﬁd hemn, o o
gon : '&wardmx, Piamm“ﬁ compmmmﬁ: danmgm in an szmmm acmi‘dmg o prm:rf al -
tialy |
D .' ﬁ.wardmg mmmimn aszzi diag-.ngzimem Gf I‘sefendm'stsrmetmexmdforpmﬁmto |
y :'?lﬁi.ritifi‘s;:'_-f - | R
B :.mvard;ng ?lamt:f'fs truhl;, dexmﬂg&s tran am@um acemdmg m pmt}f at mai .
f o szmimg da}uiaramzy and mgmmw re:h;;:i‘ as pm’mtiﬁd by iaw or eqmzy;.- .
"'.Ezmiudmg ug.nmms; Dc&femiants i’mm mn{muuw the unim f’ul pracﬂum a% ae:i f"@rth h&rem, am;i__ o

-dn‘emma E}%fbiidaﬁiﬁ © nimniy with C burt aapumsgm, vmimw Qf s mndux,i anci pay thﬁm_ D

_ __rea.tiwiwn zmd dz«,ggm%ﬁment m; ?i‘ momcx mqumd By Dei‘wdama by means of an} m.t -:lr' S

G. ' Aw&rdsng iﬁiﬁ‘fltbt on th: monics. wr:1115fu§i» obtmned Emm iﬁe daia-: csf colie{,tmnt. o
S _'-chmugfz the: daw of ﬁm?} ()f ;udgment m z}ns m:,tmn

R '_ | BT mmn {‘LM&’Z FOR m EJE;E‘ :
i ' ' Vii}iﬁ FE{}N OF UN¥ ALR COMPET l'f‘i{m L&W '
CBE i@ Waiw arth County ﬁ&fmd&z}ts

| 33 ?iamuffs mcarpmme by relamnee ms this g}asm fos miwi‘ smci’z and every
) _._afk:gatmn of th@ pmedmg paragmpha, with the same force ar:d eifeci s thaugh ﬁdl}* set forth'
_'hﬁm;n, |

$4.  Plaintiffs bring this cause of action on behutf of therselves.
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| 85 iﬁ'ismﬁéiizz faw “&ﬂilbii"a any unlawful, unfair o -'!%éﬁénéém .buéiaess. air%:_i" ot |
EW@*“*‘? F 0“ lgh-?f_?‘.’fﬁmn;s.:dﬁggfibggd :_z;bm{;e, Defendants have engaged in unlawful, unfair, or
fmuduient.husimég a;:i.é @f.g%gﬁ%ﬁii@,ﬁ in vislation of '%%’i#s:anain State law. |
8{:. - ’i‘hmugiz EE‘ae sc%mmm i}eluuiams have {E} dar::q,iiy zzmi md;m,uy émpiuycd &
%hxmﬁ, devu.e and amhw to dgimud and m;*—;i&.&i pumha&cr& of Walwarih Cc:mmy Tax
' l)cimqueni pmpm'hee, fmd dpffaud any persot; (2} d;recﬁy and. mmmmv engaged in an unfalr
| emd def:epmﬂ. act towzmis a pumn (3) dm,pti}r and md;rcciiy thdlm.d propertv bj.’ fraud and
m;smpm%mtanan, ané (4) knewmglv rmdu pub?;shed z;nd cllssmxmazmd f”ii‘ik deccpmu and

: m:simdmg mic)s“maﬁor;

 : 5_-"‘_3’? (}n m‘iomwtmn zmd bu&!e! the actions. And Lmdeﬂymg &ciamns af Dﬁfenéams,l" |

*1£}'¢-gezi h{*mﬁ ermanated imm am}. ncewmj within the State of Wisconsin, -Wzswmm iﬁwapphes' R

.. m th&: eEazms (:? Huendgmts pidszm,d md ;mp}mzem@é thelr mcmgjui schmm m Wmomm and
_.the wmngtui &cts amcmategi fmm Waiwarﬁ 3 {,ogmt} uitms As sm,h :t ig appmprmm o apply-_
anm&zz; i;«m‘ o

33., ]“}a i‘cndams mn&ucL c;I(,'-.Lr}twd herein L{)ilstiilliﬁ?;% an mﬁawiul hummsa pms,uc«; '
:mthm t‘m: meamng, m‘ Wisce:mm dec:z,pttw trada, ;:iiautu:e acs 1n ﬂﬂt i}xe carxduct wolates among: '
o;iie:f laws_, ihe R;mkeieezmg -E_i:xi:lug'::_m_:cd ;s_nd {Zarmp; Pﬁa:l‘zw.:Agt_ ¢RICO™, __a-zid'the COMmMon
o ié;ﬁé g;ff.‘r%zn;} aﬁduﬂj@i en:rici.‘tfées:_ﬁ%;S‘g}é&iﬁ(_ﬁaiiy?.zsss ai.ligéeii_;?acgﬁiﬁ,‘_'ﬁéunm}é\,widc-:h'asz '

{gy Vm atcd 18 N ‘v L3 1962:3: i by condugting iﬁe: aﬁi%;irs of eeriain zméé«.&:‘iaiim-—it:»

-fat,t nmwpri‘ch §§£&Bilf:¢d ha,mm i}m affairs of whmh aﬂ"u,zed mterestcd' -

L COMMETee. hrﬁuﬁm;}d&em af mckt:m,mh% agtivity, and *‘“’&“‘Ew fia ¢dnsp xranyf |
: m vmlatmn G‘f
. _ :181 S §%7ftl§
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(1"3). "‘«fiaiawd Tiﬂé XE of m’é Figancial Institutions “R'eférm,' Rwevﬁfﬁ’a lian‘_'i'
' _Eni‘pi“g‘:@;n?m_ﬁct of 1989 (‘*%"‘{.REQ%N’} by Tnfhwencing, cocreing and m:anipni&iing '
the appmisal' PROCEsS; | |
(&) Violated the common law gm*szrr;ing u_njﬂst' etﬁriélﬁn&ﬁt-b?.récci-vihgﬁ " bcnéﬁt
I-from 1h(. pvmhaaca xai tax delinguent }}rt‘:pertlc*: in the *&}rm of pa}mmts, w‘hich :
_ _'zutn:reg;z&tonakﬁsﬂe not for the sclual v cih.lt:ti of the lax cielmqueni pmpequs ;md made .

in vml«;tmp af fk.—dﬁl al and comnmon faw,

_89_,-_ Deiendmm s,omim 48 dcs\m&zegi herem vm!am :zo‘i anls the “‘“unlf.zwinl pr(mg m" P

the UI\FAiR LQM?P FITION mw (UCE), but also songtitutes a violation of the UCL's :
unilur pumg, I}a,iwdania mudugi anc,ndq pub ic pnl:cy and is _:_r_nmorai une‘a{ncai ﬁ{}prﬁa‘al&'@?-.g

” mm:rupuiaua ama! subsmuua}he nqumm o wmumers Any Justaincatmn for i}ciendants _.

: .praumc‘s zs outwexghed by zhe* cﬂnsequum& ami harm to i’lmmaf‘fs Ih&m were redsonabic
.aitemmwes avazlable W0 I)ctcmﬁam w0 funhcj f?dmdamz«, igwsmam business .mtermts c:zmer.
=.1han the umdum dﬁﬁ&&lbﬁ*(ﬁ hemm | - : .

| '90; I’iamtli’ts have. witemd tngu; y-infuct and lmw, East m{snev o8 gampm‘ty psa resait

o uf Il)tfmdﬂniés unlawfuig unfan andfor dex s,ptm., i;msmms praetzws I“ach of. {}cfendant% SR

o Umls,‘slom was mﬂtcual m i’iamnﬁs in uea;tmg Els: irauduienL mémpulalud an(i mﬂaied ;

appramd% vaiucs at :ssmc D::,ﬁmd&ni:» pmimd fmm ihe;r imuduigam tax icsreclmsm husmeas e

' 3.553‘3%2111 Qi tize: tax delmqnmt pmpeny vaiue%

_-QE,. - }.,umsffa seck resnmmm ami dmwrg,cm&m of pmfrézx reﬁh:mi ia} I‘kfencian{s as a -
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92, "-})éféniiantq‘-ééﬁduﬁt was siso “fraudulent, misic:ézx}inﬁ- f Eik&ls.r a.o._ﬂmiva ’iha -

"publw mthm ih{: meamnﬁ of Wi%mmm Ema;}mg Fz‘adc {’mﬂzm Act, by tngagm in an: ST

B __;:-ongomq t*nt@rprxse 0 urcaze, sham appmzsal\ Defendanis. distorted it tax ds.»lmquent property--"- e

| jwtlues Lhmugghémt t;‘ua, C oumv of mzwmm sinee the &aEu«ﬁmm Lmnu,i by Iﬁ@icmiams
appmzqais were dugrm;md b} Da.,fendama algwnhd hnmmﬂs pmmm s rather than undeziymg _ |
“ a:z:cpnomﬁ, i{}rce%; ai"fczrmu:, the rcal estate market, | |
| : % . P‘!amﬁi}s Imx'e bem mgumd in f‘act. and %uf‘fued & Eoés t}f’ 'nrmc,y ér pmperty asa
_rmuit of ikieudam&* ‘mmiuimi m:lawi’ul and unéan E}usmﬂ* 5 mauumg
04, i}timdamm hamﬁms mmg,eci W msmfui uufau‘ ami h’audu!cm husmc:;s acts
-snmhng P¥amn£‘f‘q m ]udgmem *md aqm‘tabic mlmf agumqt Dofendanm as set ferth i th@ Pm}*er o

'.mr s{eln.,f

| E}S Addmumiiy E’iamuﬁ‘a aet,k an ordu r»qumnb De,il,ndzxms £<) 1mmec}iatgiy C-ﬁ‘dﬁ(:“:-._: o

meh acts of ;miawful immazq and- 2mnduiﬁm humne% ﬁmcliw's dﬁd ixqumug ﬂefmdams io_ 2

g mmﬁ ti‘xexr 'wimns

‘:36 Tf’m i"lamttif& ha\'c. safim u.é damag,e& E’imnnf’i‘s %Lk reshiutzlm iwm Deiend&ﬁts -

_F’mxumte catse (:t m‘mry m Ehi? ?Eamm izs was }oruseeabk. aad me i’iamum have auf‘fer@d ami3 o

' far&: stxii mﬁrmg cjsrmag?eﬁ iesuiss% from the uﬂiawmi hatt‘»ﬂdﬂm bs.lmvmr ﬁf 1ha, l)sfendzmts
WHFREFQ&‘E Piamtifi%, Otl be.,hali‘ Gf iimscivcsx rcquﬁst the {Zam"t h} mh,,r judgmmt-_

: agmus? Defmdmﬂs as f‘of!ems

A Appomzmg ggum,& for ?1ami1if ‘viich&ul ‘siollez 2{1 an &duiimh}id a élaahied-

AgA -

': 5:; _ 1:3 {)nic,nng th&t Defmdams arg imanuaiiy mspensible i’@r n{}ufwng ali Raai Lst;ﬁa . e

pumhglwﬁ nf Wélwmfh £ :,wmy ’}‘zzx i‘k,lmqm.m prooesty of [ht. &Iiﬁ;.,ﬁd z,m*:iuat Ch&"gf:&l h&mm, R
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L C - Awarding 1’13?&2@&’5'_i’:éhipérmmry damages in an amount sedording 10 _pm_ﬁif:'ai._:'

wial;
D j;%wérding' msiituii&zﬁ- cmd '&E;;gnr;geni&ni_ ﬁf 'iﬁéf%n:dﬁﬁté" xg?cntﬁ'&uéf@? pmﬁis to -
| ;P.Ea'infif’f“;é;;: L I | |
| E o '_mm;ﬂnzg I*lmnfzﬁ‘s mbiv dama%# in m mmuni”ﬁc.cm.dm;,, 7 b pmoi it tm]
R fi_gﬁw&rd:rkg cimi&razwrv and m;unawe rci;ef ay’ pt,rmmcd by law or ﬁquitg, )
-iﬁct&diég-‘-“f*-m.émmg !L}ei‘@ndam*a from continuing the'zmiawi'ui:;}mc{wes as set farth beretm and:_ S
. dmzctmga lksmndmm sue ispc)?zfe 1o %dyﬂii?? mm Court. sugmrv;smm Vii‘{IM‘\ of iis cum‘iuct and -
o pay them resmtumn ami ciiagarggemem of aii oS i qmmd by ﬁefcnﬁgnt by reans {}i amf acE

- ."0; pracuﬂ deciami %33! this Cmirt mb«fs wmngfui .,md S

i}'_,- Awardxrtg mt&rmt on the monjes wrong{uily ebt&zmd Er«:m‘i 111(; i.iﬂf&, 9% t.ullemam
through ﬁw date: oi’ t*niry ui Jwigment m L‘ius aeta{m Awarcimg, aiwfmy f::g:a and wsts

- mi RTH c LAIM Fﬁﬂ, RFLXE
| - UNMJUST ENRICHMENT
g A 0 Walwnrth{ {mm} ﬁﬁ:fm&aﬁt&

- ‘5'? gﬁimnnf‘f‘ﬂs zm:&rpuml& h}! .rofumm m ”tim &,ldim fm‘ r&:zai eas,h. énd méry
| ailcgamm Qf th@ pmcedmg paxamphs? wzth ihc same fom. zmd eﬁus as ﬁwugh tuliy s,as; foﬁh '
:hﬁ:‘em( | | ” . .
- 93 o E’iamm‘ig }:.b_r'ingi?}iié cause -a»f‘ action on Behalf of themselves.
9‘}* By their lx&r{:ﬁizgfﬁf_l_':a{;_;s,_'[jeféngtaﬁ;sF{{fex'tt:: :uz}jim!y'cﬁrighﬁd a{ ihﬁ.gi‘{};’!«:ﬂﬁm:{:}f :
b B

' i.{'ﬁzé I)cfesnéams imcsmner{}* %‘muduimz ¥, ws&mameﬂi}, and umfarmly pmmmi ;ami

prepared m;mzpuimed andfor mﬂatexi appx msais o 1he fmmu luam; cm g,,maied by (,aumrywzda,
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101, ihﬁ lﬁ?ﬁ‘fcndanhhas anjustly rewadnad a benelit ta the pi‘aintiff’s detriment and ﬁlﬁ_

d-t:‘i%ndani‘g ‘ref;e:_ttti{m of the benefit vielates the fundamental principles of justice, eguity, and

o 'gﬁood mmuenca

ié}_’E. | f ilws ?‘Z;mx;th were mum&!} deprived of .puuhaamg ihe buh oct pm;}eﬂ} for the
iah [}bimquenay, baf.,k due iaxas andfm fmr mafke,i v ﬁiue
- 103 It wm;ki bc m@qxsxtal ie md mlwxmus}mbié fnr I}dandmis 10 reiain the pmfit
| .:-.bemtn.a.n& {)ﬁlt.t compcnsauon they uhmmf:d imm thclr fmuduiem dewpiwc, and misie,admg
: mnduct aile;_acé hﬁzﬁm |
i(}‘i ’E’h& E‘lmniiffh have hl.iﬂtﬂ‘d dunispes. P?éinﬂffq s%k wsuw:wn from Dcf‘endant& :
_'_and aeek an ardezr of 1hza {“,Z:)m aihg{}rg;m&, ait pmf im benefits, and other compensatiog abtained

h}f Defendants frﬁm ihc;r wmngmi wnﬂﬁct

WﬂERE&FC}R}? Pigunt;ﬁa, on. buh&lf ol ihemsehfes zmci .sii others &hmﬁasiv sxnmtﬁd
fuquéq{ Lhe C‘nut-t 10v) e,mer jndgmem ag,amzﬂ Dei mdants, as iaiiaws
| ZA,' : Appamung wazmi tor l‘ldmué‘i Mxi: qu ‘aisii r ’?{S» an aduh»;,htié a dmabled
| ;m‘scn ’&t’idﬁr 1!1@ x\nwrwana iaor i}mbxhty ﬁci {%BA} # “pmi@cleti“ ;:;emn | |
. ) 53 (}rdérmgp th&i Defendmh oo lumxa»xai iy mwﬁn&;ble f(‘?f m‘iii}rmg &H Real ’f*staie

i ::':: ._pa.mhaset% {x‘t W afwmth (‘Guné’v ’Iah licimquem propcrty ni the aiieged cmduct c;hargeii Iru,rem

C; A"‘"ﬁ?dmg} Plaintiffs “"mimmﬂt}t} damzi.{,w in an amount acmrdmg o f}raof‘ at
friai; | | . . S S . .
I} "5:'éi?aﬁi?ﬁg_-fes:£itni¥§?xEz?nd'disgargﬂmmﬁ of Defendants’ ;éevmms_ana;or profits to
TR ST

B Awarding Plaingiffs ireble damages in an amount according (o proof at trial;
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Iy i?. 'As,s}*arding declarniory am'% injunctive wlicl as permitted 'by .'mw-{ai t:qxﬁ'ty R

muuciuzé, cn;mmng f_)efendamq from wnﬂnum;, the nnlawiil ;’;m(,ncz.s as set farth hemm and

dm,clmg I);,f‘endams am ?poﬁw 10 idmui‘} with Coun bupem*nun; vzdm’ks of its a.imduirt and o

.' .pa} 1hem maiitxmon md dis sgor:ggmem of all memm ac,qumd by l}efe:arjams b}f means of any. aul .

Loy pmctrw decifnﬁd ‘by Eim Cnun tobe wnmgui apd

e (} Awardmg ml;ereat i}ﬂ the - maum wrt&ngfu i§ {}bmms_,d fmm e éate nt mﬂwtmn
thmugh i‘hc dau: oi *r;try Gf i udg,mem in this acnon

FZBTH{ LMM zs'ma iwmm‘ S

: : _::a Wa!werih Coy ey {iefmﬁa iy |
[85 FPlaintiffs HMWUMR? Eﬁv mitwmc B i}m L}alm for rﬁliuf cach:and mery'
s _aiie,g,auﬁn. Qf ﬂlc pmc&dmg? g}_aragzaphs, mth zhc sanie iam, gnnd z:ﬁ”ﬁ:m:i a8 th{mgl fuily set iorih |
E;emn, S B o
3 lﬁﬁ E’iamtsf’ia hrmg thzs e&mulof ar:iw?z of b:..haii c)l ih{#.;&g{,w;b. ' ]
197 By zhmr wrmﬁ.gfzx} aa,taq I)cfmdanm L;}mmltmd ﬂmr menp %'ums: gldugy am’i_:
R s:ixsabled E”ﬂrsum, thf: piamitffs o I SN '

}"’imnﬂif Chmiﬂphcr %icaiier, al«iz?l) gmrsc;rx“ 68 wh@ il;.},b major life acumy '

: hmnatmrts, mailung ;}ermrmmg matmai ia«xks and hemg abif* to be g &amfuiiy ﬁ‘mpk)} ed.

it}‘i’o ‘\fiv;,haei Sioiierh Zfs an aciu}t Lhiid, on %ciai %umi&y %Z};sab;iity? des;gna‘écd a

) '5'--':;;:j;:-mamai£y dtb&hlﬁd pmon imm bfrzh the zwam mcmal xmpaurmwz auhslant:al]y -ﬁﬂ“ec,ﬂng has _i':

m&,}er ilfe activities. chhaai 3‘{0ilu is unable to be hamﬂ:kly emplm gd
' "";__1 16: {‘hf: daicndmts kmw e shoum have iuwwn that Lhe duﬁ:nf;iams aileged eonduct

- ".hercm was pprpemm& agamsf an alderiy gﬁersem and & d mhluu p&i‘%{ﬂ}
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{11 Deferdants” conduct caused physical and emotiosal damage dnd geonomic Toss o

2. The said ?iaimiffs pre maore likely to S-uf‘?ér the Ioss than other persons due 1o ﬁlclr "

o ;:_age:, p{mr izn,,ziih 1mpa1rcd undcrhmndmg} or restricted mobility.

: --1 13 ?nmmme ::ause s;:d N’Ijm’} o thr, I’iamni‘i}y Was iarmeablu and the E’lamttﬂ“s hcm.'_}.j L

aui‘fered and am snli Eufﬁ’*ﬂﬂ@ damﬁg% rbsuimlg irmn the unl.miu! horrendous: b«.havwr of ﬁw B o

i}efendam:n .

WHEREE“Q&I& I’imszim on behalf’ of themseivm am% ;zl a,}tbeas s;m;lﬁriy sﬁuated R -

kS :mquear i.hc: (,,cur{ fo enter judbme::ni dgaam,t {kismdasm as foih}wa
= Au : f“sppcmimg wumscl fer Pfamtzi“f Mmhaei %tu?ler, 26 an aduit»dnki A d:sah%ed '. S

- person, tmdgr ih;z Amemam f{br L)mhtlxlv .f%u, {Al)r‘&) ) ‘pmmiud” pu 00,

8 | | i_ Oz‘dc!‘mg that D&f eﬁdams m imamzaliv ;%;mnmble for mtif"ym;, ali Reaé hst&t«: - ":

: purc}mss,rz: of W‘aiwori}z (;foumy T;gx I}eimqum]i property Qf‘ ihe allcged c:mducl Lharged herein, - |

RGN Awarcimg Piamt:f?s compf:n.;alur) (idm&z,&a in an mm‘;unf au*oriimg tO mﬂi‘f at'f N
'D Awardmg re%x:atutmﬂ and dxsg{ngemem of l)eiandants re\zemag amifar preﬁ£$ to- -

: "_’Piamtlfﬁs, | :

F" Awardmg Piamﬁffs ﬁ‘@blu damages inan ,mmunt aecor;img to pm(}f ai imj

:_ Ko Awwm% sit:ciarm{}r} and m]um:fwe relief  us pmmﬁied by law or eqmty,

N f-_\p;fag,t.zge _dec_lare;:l" _b_y thiis Court _2(; be wropgftul; and
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G, Awarding interest on the mwoniss wrongiully oblained from the dats g}f collection .

: _;_-_thmugh the date of eniry of iifigmi‘iﬁt 'iri'this action. Attorney fees and costs,

mx TH CLAIM %?i}R RELIEE :
Was‘ 3%‘;8{1) s genemily pm Y ‘é_es thai R mm;sz w -entm:-int@nﬁmg o sell, ﬂismham

48 t@ Wszhverth i mmi% iﬁefmdani&

;'1:_1_4,': Piamtiﬁ«: mwrpwai&s by reiermw i #im} LEaiﬁi fur rehej eaah :md everyf

ilﬁmmn Qf ti‘m pﬁmdmg pm agﬁmphx w:ih zhe samf,, i{me smd asﬂg.i,t aa th{}ugh ﬁ.}u}’ sei fortiz 3: o -

' _.:.?1‘31.&51\1’1&
o §§5 éiﬁﬁmifﬁ hrm;g_, ﬂm caaréé of &Ltum 1 :wiﬁa?i of ihem%eiwa
: 1}6 By f}aiendanis wmngfui 018, Pimnt;ffa hw;: hecn t%amamd
“i._i__’?._? Defen&amq matie dm,eptm: miaﬁeadmg ad\uiasemmts, -aﬁr@xﬁié&xﬁeﬁiﬁ_: |
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128, By Defondants w‘m:xgﬁal acts, Plainlilts have been damaged.

_125‘& - The couﬁ i aska,d to dwlara, iht: W;ssenmn ‘Etatnte Chapter ’?5 Lami soid for ﬁ
_ -"iax% i’aragmnh ?5 H9 Sates ﬁf mx delmquem seai estafe zmwnsmut:omi ot zhe gmunds ﬂwé it P

- --_-'_:1% vague pmm@t&s :Iiug,ai mmiud vm!au,s ‘Ehe fir si ﬁff?z and i‘t}urtm,n amemdments ai ths U S K

| Ct}nsn t.t_ztnm. _

}3(3 'E”he; vngum o5 pcwadm the atfztuia, (kmahxt EB) o makf:: ihe untire st&tute mvahﬁ : j

Ii' 'fpemaﬁv as ii miam 10 the obhgauons of the {“f:auniws to szbtam vaisd appmml.@h

131 Pi&mh ﬁa &rg.,ue thai the.. at&tuk vzaﬂated timir cqual o ott,;,i:mn rtghts ol Ehe basm that S >

o ;brscause th&ms wag no mnonai relatmmh;p bﬁween 1}16: b.tamt&: und any l&gmmate gevcmmem:_'-':
_ ijemw, thct oni}f éiacamlbie pm‘po'sf was t{} gﬂwu rhc L{)umm zm mwnme. t;} {‘m'ecictae on xis_ o

B unfc:n% ‘um deimquml pmperty in mdﬁ:x 16 fe s;i that pmpm‘ty ot fax the back taxes, hut f‘or -

* :--;?%.nﬂ.ﬂtefi mﬁﬂ?‘?*:.?’@l?“*;b%@d n@ﬂf& i’h@ﬂ? : ?Wﬁ-x

2%2 lem;ﬁ% argus ihat ihu statute pr{amuth an. mau&hmzed u,.e t3i t}m pahce pewx,r R

e 19_.'$@.iz¢_-.¢iiimn.$ pgqpe_r_ty _i_zi_ violaiion c}_'i’_du_c RIOCEss, |

1,}3 'lhe Wwwnmn ‘:stam&e Chapte*x 75 Land scid fﬁr Taxaa E’ai zzg,mph '}’5 {i‘} Saieb cf 1."}{: _;.
_ .:'.deliuqueiz{ z‘eai esta'efsz t}mugh havmg ihe form smd lh;: mzma, of EA‘W is in rr.,ality :10 Iﬁw hm: .xa; [
_ : w:hollx wid and iimfi@&:‘tﬁ» im auy putpmc singe aumn@hmnmm xfy dalm tmm Ihe time of ﬂs' -
uiﬁulmmi and not mc:ra,iy tmm zhc aiatc. of the ia,wamh sn bmndmg i i:§1e Wsscongm ‘%ﬁanzta_;.'

_":f-ﬂthapte:r ?5 Lami soid fc&r Taxea P&mgmph ’?5 6*} *;a jes. oi tax dqumm mat t’:btﬂtﬂ is an

-uxxeonst:mtm i i‘m n iq,a% wmumpidiwn iz as mopwmvc a8 Li i haai nﬂ*t.,r heen ;}aswed
46

| Case 2:17-cv-01349-3PS Filed 11/12/19 Page 46 of 50 Document36




' Case:20:2204 ~Document: 26 Filed: 02/22/2021  Pages: 163

e :ff.‘_i‘iﬁ__.ﬂ‘lﬁ.-:w.i_g(_iél’iﬁi:ijl:E.’S’stf.!_mié.: Chapter 75 Land sold. for “Taxes Parngraph 75.69 Sales of tax

delinguent real estate an unconstiutional Jaw i void. (16 Am. Jur, 24, Sec, 178)
o 'W hc“;rﬁzibre: thé:‘:- p’i:&intiffﬁ _rz:spactﬂ.aiﬁ}f 13{:;}* that:

' fx i]‘m}ﬂ fudg,t, dismc{ cmm En, mmemd 1o hiewr assd deerming the E?imnuﬂk claim that

| the lhe Wxscmmn bw.tm:f. £ hdpmﬁf‘ ?:3 lzmd sold for iaxm i?amgmph ?5 69 Sal@s ef tax .

{i@imqumt reai e:siate gs 1 ncx}nbmutm‘;ﬂi

The Court grant Eﬂaiméztfs.ihﬁif roisonable z:asi&_aﬁﬁi a%t_ﬂi’myg"_:{’eag ;ai;fsuanzt 10 42 {J&L S

§ 1988 ; and the court grant piainiiffs. wch aﬂhcf. zmd fu'riher relief as may be just and equitable,

ECLAIM m‘m RELIEF
SPECIFIC PR RF()RM&?#{“E o

ﬁms to mﬂy she C{}ma ﬂefemiams L

: 1‘36. Piamt;fﬁ‘d mmrpordtﬁ by u:imem:: in thm Limm ?‘m rs,he.,f cr.zcix r.fﬁ{; cvery-_j_

o &wgamm s:sf the pzm a}dmg psmib,r aph&} with the samne imu, .md effect as. tmugh iuii} sei ‘fﬁmh_

| f-hars,m T

1‘? f Pisimiiﬂh ) zz hcme m (kmm Bcar;,h\, I ake Lmneva addresa kmun as wwa& Wsacﬁiamﬁ

- . Br F,aku “{mnc:w "s?v"’i The '»;;nai pmpmy was zE(.({i!,Zi ed Y- iha Stolters m ]956 I‘he Sioilexs hzz'm

| pmf} the r&ﬁ cvsmt«, taxes on tiae: smd pmpa,ri} ior fyi m,;m ami scwu mu:ﬁ water assments
) B I"‘S in ’?01 7 t}m Sto iw% hdsi a hmn? bw - on a‘hc w;cz gsm;mfy Pamgi k1K BGE‘!QQ(}
' i%% Ray "a&xt:r S dzﬁtrm managez Z‘;}r ( Qmu 5&&1&(1 an ba,haif ('zf I aka, Cﬂmn Wmousm hanai,ary

Disirict (h(? 5 'thz;z I 25 xmuid imrzg ihx, sewar mn:i wa&esr up ie the pwpm Ly hzze' (}f th;,

o .-}’iﬁmﬁﬁ”&ﬁ houw W?s?gﬁ Wmdland P, b akr; {‘ie.,m:va* Wi. E*::r "y mifiimnal charge,

230 &ec: 8 tue and cotrect leym{i Laz,tmn nf an ematl seit from Ray ‘mtz e bwdmg, amnecung

&7

. Case2117-cv-01349-JPS Filed 11/12/19 ‘Page 47 of 50 Document36 -~




+ - the water and sewer 1o the plaintifi’s said property:.

L sam* fm gez‘m sﬁtwgr;ﬁmg {isa ;:;rwiaf‘zzgaamm §“ms_ 55

istrict o1

131, Piamu{f 5 haw fnadu 4 dcmand an tha, Laka ( 0o, \H;swmm %mnmfy l)xsm&t i‘é
br.mé the sa.rai SEWEE and waxtur ﬁ} ihf: l’izxmnﬁ» gzmpm}f Ime czmi ﬂm Lake {,,f:;ma Wnsmnsm
_ ‘mnlmry i};siracﬁ has ref‘uaed | - c
132 Ihc: Lakfe {”.‘umo Eazmziax} reiumi to brmg tbc wzxtz.,z‘ and bi,\-&ﬂi‘ fo the i’iamtit"{b‘ limm-.
iQE‘ the i'iS%’ twa yeafs has. c.ause,d an mjary i{} iiw lentxtfs Rmdezmg ﬁae 13lazni:f‘fq %ld ham:: :

imlwahis:* for e }fwm
Wheref{}rc the phur&tzﬂ“ prag% that the ¢ ourt order 2}1@ inke f orme ‘Eanﬂary Disirm: oo
_ hmxg,, thc sr:wer zm(i wm.r hm,s up iothe pmmﬁ} of thu Pl&mtx ff’s’ Wg‘?%fﬁ Wmdiand Br I ai{e

B A {:meva Wl }*Eamnﬁ"s re::qux.st thﬁt zh{: com gvward damdgm to the Pia}ntif‘f in the mmmt Qf

'$25{} 000 ﬂ() ?Im maﬂ‘ rv::qun 5r !cam, cf’ courz m aseess ihe Luke f‘ﬂmu Summry sttrm punmve |

. dama,g,t‘:*s f)f sm adtiz&maé $5f}i} Of}(} :m

| w L
- Case 2:17-cv-01349-JPS Filed 11/12/19 Page 48 of 50 Document36

' Case:r20-2204 Document: 26 - Filed: 02/22/2021 = Pages: 163 . i




2204

L -'_'f‘he (“’(mri g;am; piamtlf‘fs fhﬁﬂ* msnscmablx wa*é!:a ard aiu)mcys fees pumuant io 4” ‘;} “i o

§ 1983 mxd the mun gmnt pignmz fts ';uch other ;mti i’uﬁhor uhzf Hs ma;a he 31151 arxd e.{.;m:ah}e

'ii CLMM M)R RiﬁL!FF
QUIET TTT LFZ’*

(Wi% STAT §§ 840 (}3{‘1} and 841 913
134 Piamttff‘s mmrpnr&lc: by reft m{me in if’!ls cia:m tar veliel eaeh and every "
- "a.ikt’:l,ﬁimn uf th@ pm,c:dmg par;tg,mg‘.lhﬁ Wﬂh ﬂ}b same fqrw ::ms:i LiTact HE thmu.h fully set f{}rth. .

Ewre*m
g '315 P-iainﬁﬁf-r_aqﬁcgts thet the deed 10 the properties ;.

. 136 i}nugiﬁ&a {joiugdm
' - Dwmer of Wisconsin E’mp&ﬁy S '
1OTE G350 THRU 9534 blk 172 LAKE (‘(}M{} Bi ACH B {}UR} H’ MA?
CWALWORTH COUNTY WISCONSIN - PARCEL I JLCB 02054
'@ee ;sitaahed Iaxi’zi%zi? A Plaintifl"s Notice a::f L i ?em%ﬁm -

o 13? Benaﬁd} CT(M oy, E"}mna S ¢ mwkg
: -~ Owirier of Wisconsin ?mfmﬂv : IR
1 OTS 4942 THRL! 4946 BLK 87 LAKE Li)*vi(} BE iE{,}i
Wi&l W{)Ri‘ﬁ COUNTY WISCONSIN PARCEL 1D JLOB (0986
U %e aiiachc*d !&xhxhxi B i’iam::ﬂ“ § wae ofi Az Pendens

o -13? Iﬁau@&si ‘1&1&: mﬁumhl} (DI, !&} (}mmf Gt 1‘m{3€rty N ' .
BRSPS Lot BIR W, DELAVAN LAKE ASSEMBLY. {;R(}UNE}‘&, I‘!&K P;ER{IPA i NUMBFR
o CFINLA QD208 006 TOWN OF DELAVAN
Bee aﬁta;..hui Fs&ﬁm‘ (o8 P?mmxﬁ% Notice Qf i ¥ ?umfem

'iizcsc ﬁmz p.mpii’tkt& wi‘z;cﬁ ihc Pimmzﬂ hati bid 011 see L"{flli“lrli ¥, and thw. bzciu were

' pagnuson v. Clithero, 101 Wis. 551, 554, 77 NOW. 882 (3899).

Case 2 17~cv»01349~JPS Flied 11/12{19 Page 48 of 50 Document 36

Document: 26 - Filed: 02/22/2021°  Pages; 163 . - -




Casé: 20-2204"  Document: 26 -+ Filed: 02122/2021.  Pages:163. .

fn’i 1o i%is umensﬁ,&tm@nal ﬁ'}e Wt%umm ‘*}zamie - Cimptt,r ?; Land

old for Tases

o j‘?ﬂ:ﬂg{‘ﬂpﬁ?& f’;’;-} ‘53%9% 02 m‘c t,ie:iqugmt r@ai tsifﬂ{f

WIILR}:E ORL ?iamﬁ ﬂ is n.qumtmh 1lmt Lha_ murl arc%cr the ét’:ed*z for ikw abtm-: it&m, B
. - propetties sxpunged, held for not and order Wahwrlh (‘m,w;}, tt} quiat ’md m qmd{ ciatm ﬁi&n‘. PR
L .’*mterest to the: ‘E’Eamt;ﬁ”s for thc pmpmzes known 48 - L :

H)IS ‘}B‘ifl’Zfi’I{U ‘}’iiiblk 172 LAKE { OMO Bkﬁﬁi {OEERTH MAP
WAL W{)t{lﬁ L()bi\i 1 "‘f’ WIQ(‘UNHIN E’AR(,F‘ L 1D ILCEE 02&54 o

2 LOTS 4942 “I"IWIRU 494& BLE 87 LAKE € "OM(} BP ﬁ.LH g
' WALWORTH ("&)UN Y WISCONSIN PARCE L li} i) LB {H}‘JRQ

3, : LOTS 4942 THRU 4946 BLK 87 LAKE COMO BEACH -
wsamﬂfe:‘rz-i COUNTY WISC awm mn{:EL ID JLCB. fmgxﬁ

The (murf ;,rant plamhffx thezr rn,asmmbic mm ami a‘zmm&“ ft“f.!’s pur*zuan{ m 42 U S { :

§ 1988 and thc egm;t gmnt plm nis f}:*; szzc,h mmr and. ﬁmiier ;ahﬁ,i 5 mav 3:;5,: _}bsi xmd eqmiabie

ey

.fMaiCb%i "ii{}ﬁcr’ - o R B | '{.hn;mpherét&ilm

' -:.:.5bnxa1'-'£dms4{§@g pail mm L 418 Wesley #1
' " S s gk Park, L'eéﬁjiﬁﬁ
.l; T (T 1463163

: E,.m ‘xwl!m‘ '
PO, Baxé{}ﬁéﬁ :
. Chicage, IHinois 5&}553{) -
U (312) 5454554 S
hmaui Ldm*;fi{f}hmmaﬂ com

. Email cos40 gmm{ mmz (.

50

‘Case 2:17-cv-01349-0PS Filed 11/12/19 Page 50 0f 50 Document 36




